

COPYRIGHT AND USE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis must be used in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Reproduction of material protected by copyright may be an infringement of copyright and copyright owners may be entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright.

Section 51 (2) of the Copyright Act permits an authorized officer of a university library or archives to provide a copy (by communication or otherwise) of an unpublished thesis kept in the library or archives, to a person who satisfies the authorized officer that he or she requires the reproduction for the purposes of research or study.

The Copyright Act grants the creator of a work a number of moral rights, specifically the right of attribution, the right against false attribution and the right of integrity.

You may infringe the author's moral rights if you:

- fail to acknowledge the author of this thesis if you quote sections from the work
- attribute this thesis to another author
- subject this thesis to derogatory treatment which may prejudice the author's reputation

For further information contact the University's Copyright Service.

sydney.edu.au/copyright

THE EFFECTS OF ANGIOTENSIN I-CONVERTING ENZYME (ACE) I/D AND ALPHA-ACTININ-3 (ACTN3) R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS ON HUMAN PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE AND HEALTH WITHIN MALAYSIAN POPULATION

by

HAZWANI BINTI AHMAD YUSOF @ HANAFI

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Faculty of Health Science University of Sydney

2016

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am eternally grateful to ALLAH SWT for the health, well-being, and the strength showered upon me that had been indispensable to complete this thesis. I would like to thank the following individuals for their invaluable support, guidance, and encouragement throughout the course of this thesis.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my main supervisor, Dr Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed. His constant insight, patience, guidance, and encouragement have been and will always be appreciated.

Special thanks to my co-supervisors, Associate Professor Dr Zafarina Zainuddin, Dr Kieron Rooney, and Dr Patricia Ruell, for sharing your expertise, as well as the support and the guidance extended to me. I would also like to extend my sincerest thanks and appreciation to Mr Tom Gwinn, who has been contributing his idea in designing training study.

On top of that, I am also greatly indebted to those who had volunteered to participate in the series of experiment included in this thesis. Without them, this thesis would never have been materialized.

Special acknowledgment goes to the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia for giving me the opportunity to undertake my doctoral study via the Cotutelle program between Universiti Sains Malaysia and the University of Sydney, Australia. I gratefully acknowledge the funding received towards my doctoral research from the Sport Grant of Higher Education, Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia and Student Research Fund of Advanced Medical and Dental Institute (AMDI), Universiti Sains Malaysia.

I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to my supportive husband, Afzan Rizal, as well as my cheerful ones, Amal Humayraa and Muhammad Amin Hassan. You had always been my biggest motivation to overcome any obstacle that I had encountered throughout this venture. Thanks to my parents and all my family members for the endless love and support.

Last but not least, I convey my sincere gratitude for those, directly or indirectly, had lent their hand in this venture.

May ALLAH SWT bless you all!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Acki	nowledgements	11
	e of Contents	111
List	of Figures	VIII
List	of Abbreviations	A viii
List	of Symbols	xvi
List	of Operational Definitions	xviii
Abst	rak	xix
Abst	ract	xxi
CHA	APTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Background and Scope of the Research	1
1.2	Statement of the Problems	5
1.3	Aims of the Research	7
1.4	Significance of the Research	8
1.5	Thesis Structure	8
CHA	APTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1	The Human Genetics	10
2.2	Influence of Genetics in Sports Performance	11
2.3	The Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme (ACE) Gene and Human	13
	Performance	
	2.3.1 The ACE Gene	13
	2.3.2 The ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism	17
	2.3.3 The Distribution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism across Ethnicity	19
	2.3.4 <i>I</i> allele and Endurance Performance	26
	2.3.5 <i>D</i> allele and Strength or Power Performance	36
2.4	The Alpha-Actinin-3 (ACTN3) Gene and Human Performance	42
	2.4.1 The ACTN3 Gene	42
	2.4.2 The ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism	45
	2.4.3 The Distribution of ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism across Ethnicity	47
	2.4.4 <i>R</i> allele and Strength or Power Performance	51
	2.4.5 <i>X</i> allele and Endurance Performance	58
2.5	Exercise and Blood Pressure	62
	2.5.1 Endurance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure	62
	2.5.2 Resistance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure	63
	2.5.3 Isometric Resistance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure	65
	2.5.4 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism, Isometric Exercise Training, and	68
26	Blood Pressure Research Gaps in the Field	70
2.0	Research Sups in the Field	70
CH A	APTER 3 RESEARCH OVERVIEW	72
3.1	Introduction Descerab Objectives and Hypotheses	13 77
3.2	A CTN2 Distributions of ACE I/D and ACTN2 D/V Care	ו ו רר
	5.2.1 Study 1: Distributions of ACE I/D and ACTIVS R/X Gene	//

Polymorphisms in Malaysian and Australian Populations, and Their Association with Ethnicity

- 3.2.2 Study 2: The Effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* Gene 77 Polymorphisms on Human Physical Performance in the Multi-Ethnic Malaysian Population
- 3.2.3 Study 3: The Influence of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism on 78 Cardiovascular and Muscular Adaptations to 8 Weeks of Isometric Handgrip Training in a Normotensive Population in Malaysia

CHAPTER 4 DISTRIBUTIONS OF ACE I/D AND ACTN3 R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS IN MALAYSIAN AND AUSTRALIAN POPULATIONS, AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH ETHNICITY

4.1	Introd	uction	79
4.2	Aims		83
4.3	Metho	ds and Participants	83
	4.3.1	Study Design	83
	4.3.2	Participants	84
		4.3.2.1 Malaysian Population	84
		4.3.2.2 Australian Population	85
	4.3.3	Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) Sample Collection	85
	4.3.4	Genotype Determination	86
		4.3.4.1 DNA Extraction	86
		4.3.4.2 Molecular Analysis for <i>ACE I/D</i> Gene Polymorphism	87
		4.3.4.3 Molecular Analysis for ACTN3 R/X Gene	88
		Polymorphism	
4.4	Statist	ical Analysis	89
4.5	Result	S	90
	4.5.1	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium Test	90
	4.5.2	The Distribution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism	90
		4.5.2.1 Multi-Ethnic Groups in Malaysia	90
		4.5.2.2 Malaysian and Australian Populations	93
	4.5.3	The Distribution of ACTN R/X Gene Polymorphism	95
		4.5.3.1 Multi-Ethnic Groups in Malaysia	95
		4.5.3.2 Malaysian and Australian Populations	97
4.6	Discu	ssion	99
4.7	Concl	usion	105
CH	APTER	5 THE EFFECTS OF ACE I/D AND ACTN3 R/X GENE	
		POLYMORPHISMS ON HUMAN PHYSICAL	
		PERFORMANCE IN THE MULTI-ETHNIC	

5.1	Introd	uction		106
5.2	Aims			110
5.3	Metho	ods and Pa	articipants	111
	5.3.1	Study Do	esign	111
	5.3.2	Participa	ants	111
		5.3.2.1	Malaysian Population	112
		5.3.2.2	Australian Population	113

MALAYSIAN POPULATION

	5.3.3	Anthropo	metric Measurements	113
	5.3.4	Deoxyrib	onucleic Acid (DNA) Sample Collection	114
	5.3.5	Genotype	Determination	114
		5.3.5.1	DNA Extraction	114
		5.3.5.2	Molecular Analysis for ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism	115
		5.3.5.3	Molecular Analysis for $ACTN3 R/X$ Gene Polymorphism	116
	5.3.6	Physical 7	Tests	117
		5.3.6.1	Yo-Yo intermittent Recovery Level 2 Test	118
		5.3.6.2	Handgrip Strength Test	119
		5.3.6.3	Leg Strength Test	119
5.4	Statisti	ical Analys	Sis	120
5.5	Result	s		122
	5.5.1	Physical (Characteristics of Participants	122
		5.5.1.1	The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the	122
			Malaysian Population	
		5.5.1.2	Endurance, Strength/Power, and Intermittent Athletes	123
			in the Malaysian Population	
	5.5.2	The Distr	ibution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism	125
		5.5.2.1	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium	125
		5.5.2.2	The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the	125
			Malaysian Population	
		5.5.2.3	Multi-Ethnic Groups of Athletes and Controls in the	127
			Malaysian Population	
		5.5.2.4	Endurance Athletes, Strength/power Athletes,	129
			Intermittent Athletes, and Controls in the Malaysian	
			Population	
		5.5.2.5	Malay and Caucasian Intermittent Athletes	132
	5.5.3	Interactio	n between Ethnicity and ACE I/D Gene	132
		Polymorp	hism on Endurance and Strength/Power Performances	
	5.5.4	Effects o	f ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism on Endurance and	134
		Strength/I	Power performances in the Malaysian Population	
		5.5.4.1	ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Endurance	134
			Performance in the Malaysian Population	
		5.5.4.2	ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power	134
			Performance (Handgrip Strength) in the Malaysian	
			Population	
		5.5.4.3	ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism with Strength/Power	135
			Performance (Leg Strength) in the Malaysian	
			Population	
	5.5.5	The Distr	ibution of ACTN R/X Gene Polymorphism	137
		5.5.5.1	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium	137
		5.5.5.2	The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the	137
			Malaysian Population	1.00
		5.5.5.3	Multi-Ethnic Groups of Athletes and Controls in the	139
			Malaysian Population	1.1.1
		5.5.5.4	Endurance Athletes, Strength/Power Athletes,	141
			Intermittent Athletes, and Controls in the Malaysian	
			Population	1 4 2
		5.5.5.5	Malay and Caucasian Intermittent Athletes	143

5.5.6	Interaction	between	Ethnicity	and	ACTN3	R/X	Gene	143
	Polymorphi	sm on Strei	ngth/Power	and Er	ndurance F	Perforn	nances	
5.5.7	Effects of A	CTN3 R/X	Gene Poly	norph	ism on St	rength/	Power	145
	and Endurance Performances in the Malaysian Population					ı		

5.5.7.1	ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power			
	Performance (Handgrip Strength) in the Malaysian			
	Population			
		4 4 7		

- 5.5.7.2 *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power 147 Performance (Leg Strength) in the Malaysian Population
- 5.5.7.3 *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism and Endurance 147 Performance in the Malaysian Population

1 50

5.6 Discussion1495.7 Conclusion158

CHAPTER 6 THE **INFLUENCE** OF ACE I/D GENE POLYMORPHISM ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND MUSCULAR ADAPTATIONS TO 8 WEEKS OF **ISOMETRIC** HANDGRIP **TRAINING** IN Α NORMOTENSIVE POPULATION IN MALAYSIA . .

6.1	Introd	luction	159
6.2	Aim		163
6.3	Metho	ods and Participants	163
	6.3.1	Study Design	163
	6.3.2	Participants	164
	6.3.3	Familiarization Session	167
	6.3.4	Preliminary Assessments	167
	6.3.5	ACE I/D Genotyping Determination	168
	6.3.6	Cardiovascular and Muscular Assessments	169
	6.3.7	Isometric Handgrip Training	170
6.4	Statist	tical analysis	171
6.5	Result	ts	172
	6.5.1	Characteristics of Participants	172
	6.5.2	Cardiovascular and Muscular Responses	172
	6.5.3	ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Cardiovascular Response	174
		6.5.3.1 Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP)	174
		6.5.3.2 Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP)	177
		6.5.3.3 Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP)	180
		6.5.3.4 Pulse Pressure (PP)	183
		6.5.3.5 Heart Rate (HR)	185
	6.5.4	ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Muscular Response	187
		6.5.4.1 Handgrip Strength (HGS)	187
6.6	Discu	ssion	189
6.7	Concl	usion	194
CHA	APTER	R 7 GENERAL CONCLUSION AND FUTURE	
		DIRECTIONS	

	DIRECTIONS	
7.1	General Conclusion	195
7.2	Strengths and Limitations	198
7.3	Future Directions	200

REFERENCES

APPENDIX A APPENDIX A APPENDIX B APPENDIX C APPENDIX D APPENDIX E

LIST OF THESIS RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS AND CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 2.1	Distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism in different ethnic groups	22
Table 2.2	Studies that investigated the effect of I allele on endurance performance	29
Table 2.3	Studies that investigated the effect of <i>D</i> allele on strength/power performance	38
Table 2.4	Distribution of ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism in different ethnic groups	49
Table 2.5	Studies that investigated the effect of <i>R</i> allele on strength/power performance	53
Table 2.6	Studies that investigated the effect of <i>X</i> allele on endurance performance	60
Table 5.1	Physical characteristics of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population	122
Table 5.2	Physical characteristics of endurance, strength/power and intermittent athletes in the Malaysian population	123
Table 5.3	Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance and leg strength value in athletes from different sporting disciplines in the Malaysian population	124
Table 5.4	Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance and handgrip strength value in athletes with different <i>ACE I/D</i> genotypes	134
Table 6.1	Physical characteristics of participants according to ACE I/D genotype	172
Table 6.2	Cardiovascular and muscular responses to 8 weeks of IHG training	173
Table 6.3	Cardiovascular and muscular responses to a session of IHG exercise	173
Table 6.4	Systolic blood pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among <i>ACE I/D</i> genotype groups	174

Page

Table 6.5	Diastolic blood pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among <i>ACE I/D</i> genotype groups	177
Table 6.6	Mean arterial pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups	180
Table 6.7	Pulse pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups	183
Table 6.8	Heart rate at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups	185
Table 6.9	Handgrip strength at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups	187

LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 2.1 The genomic organization of the *ACE* gene on the long arm (q) 15 of chromosome 17 on band 23.3. The *ACE* gene consists of 26 exons and 25 introns. *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).
- Figure 2.2 The role of ACE in the circulating renin-angiotensin system 16 (RAS). *Picture adapted from Athilingam et al. (2012).
- Figure 2.3 A. The ACE I/D gene polymorphism is characterized by an 18 insertion or deletion of a 287-bp alu sequence at intron 16. B. A visual detection of ACE I/D genotypes. Lane 1: Homozygous II genotype (490 bp), Lane 2: Heterozygous ID genotype (490 bp and 190 bp), and Lane 3: Homozygous DD genotype (190 bp).
 *Pictures adapted from Mayne (2006).
- Figure 2.4 The genomic organization of the *ACTN3* gene on the long arm 43 (q) of chromosome 11 on band 13.1. The *ACTN3* gene consists of 21 exons and 20 introns. *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).
- Figure 2.5 Skeletal muscle is composed of long cylindrical cells called 44 muscle fibres. Each muscle fibre is composed of long tubes called myofibrils, which in turn, consist of filaments (actin and myosin). During muscle contraction, when these filaments are sliding past each other, the actin filament is anchored by the Z line, which is encompassed mainly by ACTN2 and ACTN3 proteins, for stabilization. *Picture adapted from and McMillan (2015).
- Figure 2.6 A. DNA sequence and restriction endonuclease analysis of *ACTN3* gene exon 16 demonstrating the three possible *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes at position 577. Double peaks mean heterozygote.
 *Picture adapted from North et al. (1999). B. A visual detection of *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes. Lane 1: 50 bp DNA marker, lane 2: Homozygous *RR* (205 bp, and 86 bp), lane 3: heterozygous *RX* (205 bp, 108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp), and lane 4: homozygous *XX* (108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp). *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).

Figure 3.1	The general research process	76
Figure 4.1	ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in the multi-ethnic groups in Malaysia	92

Figure 4.2 Frequencies of *ACE I/D* genotype in Malaysian and Australian 94 populations

Page

Figure 4.3	ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies in the multi-ethnic groups in Malaysia	96
Figure 4.4	ACTN3 R/X genotype frequencies in Malaysian and Australian populations	98
Figure 5.1	ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population	126
Figure 5.2	ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population	128
Figure 5.3	ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies among endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population	131
Figure 5.4	ACE I/D genotype frequency in Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes	133
Figure 5.5	The mean value of leg strength in athletes with different ACE I/D genotypes in the Malaysian population	136
Figure 5.6	ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population	138
Figure 5.7	ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies in multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population	140
Figure 5.8	ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies among endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population	142
Figure 5.9	ACTN3 R/X genotype frequencies in Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes	144
Figure 5.10	The mean value of handgrip strength in athletes with different $ACTN3 R/X$ genotypes in the Malaysian population	146
Figure 5.11	The mean value of leg strength in athletes with different <i>ACTN3</i> R/X genotypes in the Malaysian population	148
Figure 6.1	Flow chart of the study design	165
Figure 6.2	Changes in systolic blood pressure value to IHG training in ACE <i>I/D</i> genotype groups	176
Figure 6.3	Changes in diastolic blood pressure value to IHG training in ACE <i>I/D</i> genotype groups	179

Page

Figure 6.4	Changes in mean arterial pressure value to IHG training in ACE I/D genotype groups	182
Figure 6.5	Changes in pulse pressure value to IHG training in ACE I/D genotype groups	184
Figure 6.6	Changes in heart rate value to IHG training in ACE I/D genotype groups	186
Figure 6.7	Changes in handgrip strength value to IHG training in ACE I/D genotype groups	188

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

HERITAGE	HEalth, RIsk factors, exercise Training And GEnetics
ACE	angiotensin I-converting enzyme (italicized for gene)
ACTN3	alpha-actinin-3 (italicized for gene)
Ι	insertion
D	deletion
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
e.g.	for the sake of example
kb	kilo bases
RAS	renin-angiotensin system
ANG II	angiotensin II
ANG I	angiotensin I
ADH	antidiuretic hormone
bp	base pair
et al.	and others
VO ₂ max	maximal oxygen consumption
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
R	arginine codon
X	premature stop codon
SMD	short middle distance
LD	long distance
SDH	succinate dehydrogenase
<i>bHA</i> D	beta hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase
MCAD	medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase

VT	ventilation threshold
MVC	maximal voluntary contraction
рН	power of hydrogen
NO	nitric oxide
рр	peak power
ST	strength training
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
rpm	revolutions per minute
Tris-HCl	tris hydrochloride
KCl	potassium chloride
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
DTT	dithiothreitol
PMSF	phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride
dNTP	deoxynucleotide
dATP	deoxyadenosine triphosphate
dCTP	deoxycytidine triphosphate
dGTP	deoxyguanosine triphosphate
dTTP	deoxythymidine triphosphate
SD	standard deviation
IHG	isometric handgrip
ANOVA	one-way analysis of variance
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
SBP	systolic blood pressure
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
MAP	mean arterial pressure

PP	pulse pressure
HR	heart rate
HGS	handgrip strength
ANG	angiotensin
BP	blood pressure
df	degrees of freedom
U	unit
NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
CS	citrate synthase
USA	United States of America
min	minutes
sec	second
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium

LIST OF SYMBOLS

%	percent
q	long arm
km	kilometre
m	metre
ml·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹	milliliter per kilogram per minute
g/m ²	grams per square meter
1-RM	one-repetition maximum
°/s	degrees / second
mmHg	millimeter of mercury
ml	milliliter
°C	celsius
μl	microliter
mg/ml	milligram/milliliter
g	grams
>	greater than
<	less than
1X	one times
mm	millimeter
Mg^{2+}	Magnesium ion
μm	micrometre
10X	ten times
=	equal to
\leq	less than or equal to
2	greater than or equal to

±	plus minus
X^2	chi-square
kg/m ²	kilogram per square meter
cm	centimeter
kg	kilogram
bpm	beats per minute
Δ	change
p < 0.001	all p values smaller than 0.001 (e.g., $p = 0.000$)

LIST OF OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONS

Other Bumiputra	The indigenous people of East Malaysia (Sabah and Sarawak).
Endurance athletes	Athletes who participate in an event that utilise predominant aerobic energy production (duration of exertion over 30 minutes, intensity of exertion moderate).
Strength/power athletes	Athletes who participate in an event that utilise mixed energy production (competitive exercise performance time (1–5 minutes); for combat sports, the duration of a single bout of competition was considered), but the intensity of exertion was higher and the balance between anaerobic/aerobic energy productions were shifted towards the anaerobic system.
Intermittent athletes	Athletes who participate in an event that utilise mixed anaerobic/aerobic energy production, with a duration of exertion ranging from 5 to 30 minutes and a moderate to high intensity of exertion.
Isometric exercise	Type of strength training that does not require any movement of the affected joint and the muscle length will remain unchanged during contraction.

KESAN POLIMORFISME GEN ANGIOTENSIN I-CONVERTING ENZYME (ACE) I/D DAN ALPHA-ACTININ-3 (ACTN3) R/X KE ATAS PRESTASI FIZIKAL DAN KESIHATAN MANUSIA DALAM POPULASI MALAYSIA

ABSTRAK

Perbezaan data set populasi dalam sorotan kajian semasa dengan laporan terhad di kalangan sampel Asia, di tambah pula dengan penemuan yang tidak konsisten di kalangan kumpulan etnik yang berbeza, serta kekurangan maklumat bagi penglibatan polimorfisme gen ACE I/D dan ACTN3 R/X dalam adaptasi latihan telah menghadkan keupayaan penyelidik untuk membuat kesimpulan yang bermakna yang berkaitan dengan kesan-kesan polimorfisme ini ke atas prestasi fizikal dan kesihatan manusia. Oleh itu, penyelidikan kedoktoran ini melaksanakan tiga siri kajian untuk mengkaji kesan polimorfisme gen ACE I/D dan ACTN3 R/X ke atas prestasi fizikal dan kesihatan manusia dalam populasi Malaysia. Dalam kajian pertama, sampel DNA telah diambil melalui sel bukal daripada 180 orang Asia dari Malaysia (70 lelaki, 110 perempuan) berumur 20.4 ± 1.6 tahun, dan 180 orang Kaukasia dari Australia (62 lelaki, 118 perempuan) berumur 23.3 ± 3.6 tahun. Dalam kajian kedua, sampel DNA telah diambil daripada 180 atlet terlatih Malaysia (148 lelaki, 32 perempuan) berumur 20.5 \pm 1.9 tahun, 180 kawalan sedentari Malaysia, dan 33 atlet berkala Australia (semua lelaki) berumur 20.7 ± 4.0 tahun. Prestasi daya tahan dan muskular atlet Malaysia masing-masing telah dinilai dengan ujian 20 meter Yo-Yo berkala pemulihan tahap 2 dan ujian penguncupan sukarela maksimum. Dalam kajian yang ketiga, tiga puluh lelaki tidak terlatih normotensive, (ACE genotip: II = 10, ID= 10, dan DD = 10), menjalani latihan genggaman isometrik (IHG) (empat set 2)

minit pengecutan isometrik pada 30% daripada penguncupan sukarela maksimum, dengan selang 1 minit rehat) 3 hari setiap minggu selama 8 minggu. Hasil kajian pertama menunjukkan bahawa pengagihan polimorfisme gen ACE I/D berubah di kalangan kumpulan etnik yang berbeza, tetapi tidak kepada polimorfisme gen ACTN3 R/X. Hasil yang diperolehi kajian kedua menunjukkan bahawa: a) Kesan polimorfisme ini pada prestasi daya tahan dan kekuatan/kuasa tidak berbeza mengikut kesukubangsaan. b) Alel ACE D dan alel ACTN3 R memberikan kelebihan dalam aktiviti-aktiviti yang memerlukan kekuatan/kuasa, dan c) Alel ACE I dan alel ACTN3 R tidak mempengaruhi prestasi daya tahan. Hasil daripada kajian terakhir menunjukkan bahawa polimorfisme gen ACE I/D mempunyai pengaruh positif dalam penyesuaian kardiovaskular dan otot berikut latihan genggaman isometrik di kalangan lelaki normotensive. Secara keseluruhan, kajian ini mengesahkan lagi tanggapan bahawa prestasi kekuatan/kuasa dipengaruhi oleh alel ACE D dan alel ACTN3 R. Sebagai tambahan, kajian ini menyimpulkan bahawa polimorfisme gen ACE I/D memodulatkan tindak balas kepada latihan genggaman isometrik dalam lelaki normotensive.

THE EFFECTS OF ANGIOTENSIN I-CONVERTING ENZYME (ACE) I/D AND ALPHA-ACTININ-3 (ACTN3) R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS ON HUMAN PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE AND HEALTH WITHIN MALAYSIAN POPULATION

ABSTRACT

A disparity population data set in the current literature with limited reports among Asian samples, coupled with the inconsistent findings among different ethnic groups, and lack of information for the involvement of angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) I/D and alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) R/X gene polymorphisms in training adaptation have limited the ability of researchers to draw meaningful conclusions pertaining to the effects of these polymorphisms on human physical performance and health. Therefore, this doctoral research implemented three series of studies to examine the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and health within the Malaysian population. In the first study, DNA samples were retrieved via buccal cell from 180 Asians from Malaysia (70 males, 110 females) aged 20.4 ± 1.6 years, and 180 Caucasians from Australia (62 males, 118 females) aged 23.3 ± 3.6 years. In the second study, DNA samples were retrieved from 180 well-trained Malaysian athletes (148 males, 32 females) aged 20.5 ± 1.9 years, 180 Malaysian sedentary controls, and 33 intermittent Australian athletes (all males) aged 20.7 ± 4.0 years. Endurance and muscular performances of Malaysian athletes were evaluated with 20 meters Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 and maximal voluntary contraction tests, respectively. In the third study, thirty normotensive, untrained males (ACE genotype: II = 10, ID = 10, and DD = 10),

undergone isometric handgrip training (four sets of 2 minutes isometric contractions at 30% of maximal voluntary contraction, with 1 minute resting interval) 3 days per week for 8 weeks. The result from the first study indicated that the distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism varied among different ethnic groups, but not to ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism. The findings obtained from the second study demonstrated that: a) The effects of these polymorphisms on endurance and strength/power performances did not vary by ethnicity, b) The ACE D allele and ACTN3 R allele conferred an advantage in activities that require strength/power, and c) The ACE I allele and ACTN3 X allele did not influence endurance performance. Finding from the final study demonstrated that ACE I/D gene polymorphism had a positive influence in cardiovascular and muscular adaptations following isometric handgrip training among normotensive men. Overall, this research reaffirms the notion that strength/power performance is influenced by the ACE D allele and ACTN3 R allele. In addition, this research concludes that the ACE I/D gene polymorphism modulates response to isometric handgrip training in normotensive men.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and Scope of the Research

Genetics play a key role in almost every aspect of human physical performance and health. The influence of the genetic factor on human physical performance and health has been extensively studied over the past several decades (Bouchard et al., 1997, MacArthur and North, 2005, Bouchard and Hoffman, 2011). The first strong evidence for genetic involvement in human physical performance came from a family study known as the *HE*alth, *RI*sk factors, exercise *Training And Genetics* (HERITAGE) Family Study (Bouchard et al., 1995). Since then, efforts have been made to identify candidate genes to human physical performance. Through the first annual version of human gene map for performance and health-related fitness, several genes or markers related to physical performance and health-related phenotypes have been identified (Rankinen et al., 2001, Rankinen et al., 2002, Rankinen et al., 2004, Wolfarth et al., 2005, Rankinen et al., 2006, Bray et al., 2009). The most updated version of this yearly publication revealed that there are 239 genes associated with human physical performance (Bray et al., 2009).

Two of the most extensively investigated genes associated with human physical performance are angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) and alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) genes (Ma et al., 2013). It has been suggested that possession of the *I* allele of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism may influence endurance performance as the

presence of *I* allele of the ACE *I/D* gene polymorphism has been reported to be more pronounced among endurance athletes, such as elite distance runners (Myerson et al., 1999, Alvarez et al., 2000, Hruskovicova et al., 2006, Min et al., 2009), rowers (Gayagay et al., 1998, Ahmetov et al., 2008b), triathletes (Collins et al., 2004, Shenoy et al., 2010), and long-distance swimmers (Tsianos et al., 2004b). Also, individuals with I allele have also been reported to have a higher capacity of maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max) (Hagberg et al., 1998, Goh et al., 2009), higher percentage of slow twitch muscle fibres (Zhang et al., 2003), greater cardiac output (Hagberg et al., 2002), and higher heat tolerance (Heled, 2004). Meanwhile, possession of the R allele of the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism may offer additive effects on strength/power performance as the RR genotype (two copies of R allele) was observed more frequently in strength/power-oriented athletes, such as Russian power athletes (Druzhevskaya et al., 2008), elite-level bodybuilders and power lifters (Roth et al., 2008), gymnasts (Massidda et al., 2009), Indian power athletes (Kothari et al., 2011), and Polish power athletes (Cieszczyk et al., 2011), when compared with endurance athletes and controls. Individuals with R allele have also been reported to have greater strength/power capacity (Clarkson et al., 2005a, Moran et al., 2006b, Vincent et al., 2007, Norman et al., 2009, Shang et al., 2012, Erskine et al., 2014).

Hence, there is a growing body of evidence amplifying the significance of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in human physical performance (Yang et al., 2003, Cam et al., 2007, Voroshin and Astratenkova, 2008, Druzhevskaya et al., 2008, Goh et al., 2009, Kothari et al., 2011, Ma et al., 2013). On the contrary, some studies have failed to demonstrate the influences of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance (Sonna et al., 2001, Lucia et al., 2006,

Moran et al., 2006a, Amir et al., 2007, Ahmetov et al., 2008a, Döring et al., 2010). Therefore, it has remained uncertain if human physical performance is indeed influenced by *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms. Moreover, it has been speculated that the inconsistencies observed in the present findings may be due to small sample size and ethnicity differences (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012).

The distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms have been reported to vary across ethnic groups in general populations worldwide (Batzer et al., 1994, Batzer et al., 1996, Mills et al., 2001, Clarkson et al., 2005a, Jayapalan et al., 2008). As for *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, the frequency of *I* allele in the Caucasian population ranged from 0.78 to 0.23. However, in the Asian population, this frequency ranged from about 0.76 to 0.42. The distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism among the three ethnic groups in Malaysia; Malay (*I* allele: 0.71, *D* allele: 0.29), Chinese (*I* allele: 0.63, *D* allele: 0.37), and Indian (*I* allele: 0.58, *D* allele: 0.42), were reported to be different to each other with *I* and *D* alleles found to be more prevalent among the Malays (0.71) and Indians (0.42), respectively (Jayapalan et al., 2008). On the other hand, as for *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism, the frequency of *R* allele in the Caucasian population ranged from 0.61 to 0.50, while in the Asian population, the frequency of *R* allele varied from 0.53 to 0.39.

The different pattern in the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms across different ethnicities were apparently consistent with the research findings on the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in the susceptibility to certain diseases (Ishigami et al., 1995, Barley et al., 1996, Staessen et al., 1997, Kunz et al., 1998, Fujisawa et al., 1998, Sagnella et al., 1999, Ng et al., 2005). For instance,

a study by Ng et al. (2005) showed that the association between ACE I/D gene polymorphism and diabetic nephropathy was more common in the Asian population than those from the Caucasian population. Based on the findings in the distributions of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms in general populations worldwide and the research findings on the effect of ACE I/D gene polymorphism in disease susceptibility, there is a possibility that the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance may vary depending on the ethnic origin, which indicates that such findings previously reported for Caucasian population may not be relevant and could be different in Asian population. Nevertheless, whether the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance vary between different ethnic groups has remained unclear at present due to insufficient comparative analyses across ethnicities in the current literature (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012, Ma et al., 2013). A recent meta-analysis showed that the effects of the ACE I/D and the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance have been mostly reported among Caucasian population and less reported in the Asian population (Ma et al., 2013).

Therefore, more research in the Asian population is needed to understand ethnic differences of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, especially where the preliminary data suggest individual variation in response to exercise training could be influenced by this variant (Hagberg et al., 1999, Folland et al., 2000, Williams et al., 2000, Zhang et al., 2002, Giaccaglia et al., 2008). For instance, the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism has been reported to influence adaptation to light weight lifting and walking training (Giaccaglia et al., 2008), isometric and dynamic leg training (Folland et al., 2000), as well as aerobic training (Hagberg et al., 1999, Williams et al., 2000,

Zhang et al., 2002). The results of these studies demonstrate that individuals with the same genotype of ACE I/D gene polymorphism exhibited similar adaptations to the training. While the deficient of the ACTN3 protein due to ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism had been reported does not have any harmful health effects (North et al., 1999), the ACE I/D gene polymorphism had been reported to be associated with several disease such as hypertension (Barley et al., 1996, Sagnella et al., 1999). Moreover, several studies showed that blood pressure response to exercise training for health management also vary among individuals with different genotypes of ACE I/D gene polymorphism (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 2002, Kim, 2009). For instance, a study by Hagberg et al. (1999) found that after 9 months of endurance exercise training at 75 to 85 % of VO₂max, I allele carriers had reduced systolic and diastolic blood pressure more than D allele carriers. Despite these findings, it has remained unknown if the ACE I/D gene polymorphism can also influence cardiovascular and muscular responses to isometric handgrip training that had been found to be superior to the dynamic resistance exercise training in controlling and preventing high blood pressure in a normotensive population.

1.2 Statement of the Problems

The current literature pertaining to the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance has appeared to be inconsistent, which is speculated to be due to ethnicity factor. Furthermore, compelling evidence indicates that the influences of the *ACE I/D* and the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance may vary across ethnicity. However, whether the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical

performance vary across ethnicity have remained unclear due to the disparity discovered in the data set for population-based studies in the current literature. Moreover, despite available evidence supporting the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on adaptation to certain training programs, there is no evidence at present that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism may influence adaptation to isometric handgrip training in controlling and preventing high blood pressure in normotensive individuals.

Therefore, more comprehensive studies on ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms across different ethnicities, particularly among the Asian population, are needed to determine if the effects of these variants vary across ethnicity. To the author's knowledge, there are limited studies examining the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within multi-ethnic Malaysian population. Based on the report by Jayapalan et al. (2008) on the distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism among multi-ethnic Malaysian populations, there is a possibility that the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance may vary between ethnic groups in Malaysia. Hence, such genetic information could be useful to identify potential elite athletes in Malaysia and to assist coaches in optimizing their athlete's training program. Besides that, a training study that implements the isometric handgrip exercise is also warranted to examine the training responses among normotensive individuals with different genotypes of ACE I/D gene polymorphism that may identify individuals who will lower resting blood pressure the most with this training program for health management.

1.3 Aims of the Research

The main objective of this research had been to examine the influences of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance, as well as health, within the Malaysian population. The specific objectives of this research are as the following:

- (i) To investigate ethnic variation on ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms by comparing the distribution of the data between Malaysian and Australian populations, as well as between four ethnic groups (Malay, Chinese, Indian, and Other Bumiputra) in Malaysia.
- (ii) To examine the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on athletic status and human physical performance in the Malaysian population and to determine if the effects of these polymorphisms on human physical performance differ by ethnicity.
- (iii) To examine the effect of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations following an 8-week isometric handgrip training on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations among normotensive men.

1.4 Significance of the Research

The findings retrieved from the series of experiments in this doctoral research project provide better comprehension on the involvement of the genetic factor on human physical performance among different ethnic groups. Furthermore, this research provides more information concerning *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism and training adaptation. In fact, besides establishing the influences of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within multi-ethnic Malaysian population, this study could be able to assist sports coaches in developing talent of athletes based on their genetic traits. In addition, the findings obtained from this doctoral research project also provide valuable information on training adaptation for health management and its association to genetic traits.

1.5 Thesis Structure

This thesis includes three separate studies relating to the influences of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and training intervention for health. A detailed review of the topic is discussed in Chapter 2 of the literature review. Meanwhile, Chapter 3 gives an overview of the research plan and the objectives of each study undertaken in this research project. The first study that was designed to examine the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms within the Malaysian population and its association with ethnicity are presented in Chapter 4. This is followed by the second study that investigated the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within the Malaysian population and determined if those effects differ by

ethnicity in Chapter 5. The final study, which is presented in Chapter 6, examined the influence of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on training adaptations for health. Lastly, the overall conclusion of this doctoral research project is presented in Chapter 7.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 The Human Genetics

Genetics is a branch of science that studies heredity and how an organism inherits, as well as transfers characteristics from one generation to the next (Winter et al., 2002). Human genetics, then, emphasizes on the variation that occurs in human beings (Winter et al., 2002). The fundamental component in genetics is known as a gene, which is a region of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) that contains particular codes for making a specific protein that is required for building tissues for the formation of organs (Mulvihill et al., 2011).

Generally, genes that control human physical traits occur in pairs called alleles, which are alternative forms of genes located on loci (positions) on the same chromosome (Pitman, 1993). For example, high or low, round or wrinkled, red or white. Each human inherits two alleles for each gene from the mother and the father (Walker, 2009). Alleles can exist in the form of dominant and recessive, and if a gene is composed of a pair of dominant alleles or only one dominant allele is present, the characteristic from the dominant allele will appear over the characteristic carried by the recessive allele (Pitman, 1993). However, the recessive allele is able to show its characteristic if paired with another recessive allele (Pitman, 1993). Thus, this natural selection creates a scenario, whereby different phenotype (characteristic) outcomes can result from one gene (Winter et al., 2002). Moreover, the differences in allele may be significant to explain the variation in human physiology (e.g. muscle strength) (Mulvihill et al., 2011).

2.2 Influence of Genetics in Sports Performance

The ability of an individual to maximize personal potential is enormously complex. Undoubtedly, some factors, such as the volume of training, motivation, and environment, attribute to the success of an athlete (Baker and Davids, 2006). Nevertheless, if training is a crucial determinant for an athlete to increase the levels of body strength, agility, speed, and endurance, it does not seem to be a comprehensive factor of human physical performance as the genetic factor is more responsible for determining human innate potential (Baker and Davids, 2006). The genetic factor is likely to give a major impact towards physical trait, as a study among more than one million Swedish men reported that 81% of their body height was attributable to a genetic factor, while the left 19% were influenced by environment (Silventoinen et al., 2008).

The data obtained from twin studies are the best evidence to estimate precisely the contribution of genetic factors on physical performance and limit the environmental factor (Chatterjee and Das, 1995, Calvo et al., 2002, Maridaki, 2006, Alonso et al., 2014). For instance, a study by Chatterjee and Das (1995) among 30 pairs of monozygotic and 20 pairs of dizygotic twins showed that vital capacity, vertical jump, and heart rate were influenced more by genetic factors than environmental factors. Meanwhile, a study among 32 Caucasian male twins, who had similar environmental backgrounds, showed that the heritability of anaerobic capacity was estimated between 20 and 70%, as measured with jumping tasks and the Wingate test (Calvo et al., 2002). A similar result was also successfully replicated in a study among 15 pairs of preadolescents and 15 pairs of adolescent female twins, which then supported a strong influence of genetic factors on muscular strength and power performance (Maridaki, 2006). The aerobic performance was also reported to be under genetic control through a twin study conducted in northeast Brazil that observed the rate of heritability of aerobic power to be 77% (Alonso et al., 2014).

Nonetheless, Bouchard and colleagues (1995) were the first to examine the association between the genetic factor and the human physical performance via the HERITAGE family study which involved 484 Whites from 99 families and 260 Blacks from 105 families that were exercise trained for 20 weeks and were tested for maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max) on a cycle ergometer twice before and twice after the training program. Results from the HERITAGE family study found that there was 2.5 times more variance in changes in aerobic fitness between families than within families in responses to exercise interventions (Bouchard et al., 1995). Since then, this association has continued to be extensively investigated, as reported in the first (Rankinen et al., 2001, Rankinen et al., 2002, Rankinen et al., 2004, Wolfarth et al., 2005, Rankinen et al., 2006, Bray et al., 2009) and the second annual versions of the human gene map for performance and health-related fitness (Rankinen et al., 2010, Hagberg et al., 2011, Roth et al., 2012, Pérusse et al., 2013, Loos et al., 2015). In the initial publication of the human gene map for performance and health-related fitness by Rankinen and colleagues (2001), several genes or markers identified had been related to physical performance phenotypes. Subsequently, the number of genes identified had begun to increase and the last article of this yearly publication revealed
that 239 genes were associated with physical performance, which included cardiorespiratory endurance, elite endurance, athlete status, muscle strength, muscle performance traits, and exercise intolerance of variable degrees (Bray et al., 2009). From this large number of genes, two genes that have been extensively examined are the angiotensin I-converting enzyme (*ACE*) and the alpha-actinin-3 (*ACTN3*) genes (Ma et al., 2013). The *ACE* and *ACTN3* genes were suggested as the strongest candidate genes with the highest number of positive findings related to endurance and strength/ power performances, respectively (Ma et al., 2013).

2.3 The Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme (*ACE*) Gene and Human Performance

2.3.1 The ACE Gene

In humans, the *ACE* gene is located on the long arm (q) of chromosome 17 (17q23.3), spans 21 kilo bases (kb) in length, and comprises of 26 exons and 25 introns, as illustrated in Figure 2.1 (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). The *ACE* gene is responsible for producing ACE (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006), and it has been identified as a key component in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS); which is a hormone system that regulates blood pressure, water fluid balance, and tissue growth (Silverthorn, 2007). In addition, as illustrated in Figure 2.2, the main role of ACE in circulating RAS is to produce angiotensin II (ANG II), which is a potent vasopressor and aldosterone-stimulating peptide from angiotensin I (ANG I) (Coates, 2003), and to degrade bradykinin, a potent vasodilator that lowers blood pressure (Coates, 2003). Other than that, the plasma ACE level has been shown to differ between individuals, but identical

between family members, which indicates that the interindividual variation in the plasma ACE level is determined by genetic factors (Cambien et al., 1988). Among several polymorphisms in the *ACE* gene, the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism (rs4646994) was found to have a strong linkage with the level of plasma ACE as it accounted for 47% of the total phenotypic variance of ACE activity (Rigat et al., 1990).



Figure 2.1 The genomic organization of the *ACE* gene on the long arm (q) of chromosome 17 on band 23.3. The *ACE* gene consists of 26 exons and 25 introns. *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).



Figure 2.2 The role of ACE in the circulating renin-angiotensin system (RAS). *Picture adapted from Athilingam et al. (2012).

2.3.2 The ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism

As shown in Figure 2.3A, the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism refers to the presence (Insertion "*I*") or absence (Deletion "*D*") of a-287 base pair (bp) alu repetitive sequence in intron 16 of *I* or *D* alleles on chromosome 17, respectively (Rigat et al., 1992). The ACE level was reported lower in individuals with two copies of *I* allele (Rigat et al., 1990). This led to a decrease in the conversion of ANG I to ANG II, which resulted in less vasoconstriction in skeletal muscle, and thus, an increased delivery of oxygenated blood to the working muscles (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Conversely, individuals with two copies of *D* allele had been reported to have a higher level of ACE (Rigat et al., 1990), which resulted in higher level of ANG II and led to a greater vasoconstriction, as well as reduced oxygenated blood flow to the working muscle (Jones and Woods, 2003, Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Given these opposing physiological characteristics, *I* and *D* alleles may confer advantageous for endurance and strength/power events, respectively.

The ACE I/D gene polymorphism may result in three possible genotypes of II (with low ACE serum levels), ID (with intermediate ACE serum levels), and DD (with high ACE serum levels) (Rigat et al., 1990). Figure 2.3B shows a visual detection of ACE I/D genotypes with the presence of I and D alleles, which are presented by 490 bp and 190 bp, respectively (Rigat et al., 1992). Moreover, the distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism has been widely studied across many populations with allele and genotype frequencies being reported to vary across different racial groups (Barley et al., 1994, Batzer et al., 1994, Batzer et al., 1996, Jayapalan et al., 2008).



Figure 2.3 A. The ACE I/D gene polymorphism is characterized by an insertion or deletion of a 287-bp alu sequence at intron 16. B. A visual detection of ACE I/D genotypes. Lane 1: Homozygous II genotype (490 bp), Lane 2: Heterozygous ID genotype (490 bp and 190 bp), and Lane 3: Homozygous DD genotype (190 bp). *Pictures adapted from Mayne (2006).

2.3.3 The Distribution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism across Ethnicity

The current literature has observed variation in the distribution of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in different racial and ethnic groups. Among the racial groups, the highest frequency of *I* allele was reported in the Black (Australian Aboriginal) population (0.97) (Lester et al., 1999), while the *D* allele was reported highest among the Caucasian population (0.77) (Tiret et al., 1992). In addition, the distribution patterns of *I* and *D* alleles in the Black population were about 0.97 to 0.27 and 0.73 to 0.03, respectively. In Black population, the Australian Aboriginal population was reported to have the highest frequency of *I* allele as compared to other ethnic groups of Black population (Lester et al., 1999). Other than that, the *D* allele was reported to be the most prevalent among Nigerians (Batzer et al., 1994) and Somalis (Bayoumi, 2006). Meanwhile, the trend observed among Amerindians (Vargas-Alarcon et al., 2003) was closely similar to those reported for Pima Indians (Foy et al., 1996), Coastal Papua New Guineans (Perna et al., 1992), Sothos (Rupert et al., 2003).

On the other hand, in the Caucasian populations, the frequencies of I and D alleles ranged from 0.78 to 0.23 and 0.77 to 0.22, respectively. Among the Caucasians, the highest frequencies of I and D alleles were noted for Mexican (Vargas-Alarcon et al., 2003) and European (Tiret et al., 1992) populations, respectively. Nonetheless, I allele was observed to be less prominent among European (Tiret et al., 1992) and Caucasian populations from the Middle East, such as Egyptians (Ulu et al., 2006) and Omanis (Wang and Staessen, 2000). Moreover, the occurrence of I allele among Mexicans (Vargas-Alarcon et al., 2003) was observed to have close similarities with

the studies conducted by (Cambien et al., 1992) in European population. Furthermore, the high frequency of D allele observed among Europeans (Tiret et al., 1992) was fairly similar with those reported for Egyptians (Ulu et al., 2006) and Omanis (Wang and Staessen, 2000). The distribution trend of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in Australian samples (Lester et al., 1999, Lea et al., 2005) was reportedly identical with studies among the Brazilian (Pereira et al., 2001) and European (Renner et al., 2002) populations. In addition, results retrieved from several studies conducted in the same ethnic group, such as Turkish, were markedly similar to each other (Erdoğan et al., 2004, Cam et al., 2005, Sipahi et al., 2006, Berdeli and Cam, 2009). Nevertheless, varying results have been reported from studies in European populations. While Cambien et al. (1992) reported that the frequency of *I* allele was 0.73 in their cohort sample, *I* allele was found to be less frequent in other studies; 0.23 (Tiret et al., 1992), 0.43 (Vassilikioti et al., 1996), and 0.51 (Batzer et al., 1996).

Meanwhile, in the Asian population, the frequencies of I and D alleles ranged from 0.76 to 0.42 and 0.58 to 0.24, respectively. I allele was reported to be most prominent in the Javanese population (Sasongko et al., 2005), whilst the highest frequency of D allele was observed in the Kazakh sample (Aĭtkhozhina and Liudvikova, 2003). Besides, a study by Jayapalan et al. (2008) that looked into different ethnic groups in Malaysia observed higher frequencies of I and D alleles among Malays and Indians, respectively. Moreover, the frequency of I allele among the Malays in this study was markedly similar with Thai (Nitiyanant et al., 1997), *S*ingaporean Chinese (Lee, 1994), and Javanese (Sasongko et al., 2005) populations, while the higher D allele frequency detected among Indians was closely identical to previous finding of other Indian groups in Asia (Saha et al., 1996, Movva et al., 2007). Additionally, the trend observed in the Chinese population in Malaysia was noticeably close to those reported for Hong Kong Chinese (Young et al., 1995), Taiwanese (Chuang et al., 1997), and Japanese (Tamaki et al., 2002) populations.

It is quite clear from these observations that ethnic variation has been demonstrated to be existed in the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism. Nevertheless, to the best of author's knowledge, there is no report available for the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in certain ethnic groups particularly those from Asian population such as indigenous people of East Malaysia (will be referred as 'Other Bumiputra'). Hence, further studies are warranted to obtain the prevalence data of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in different ethnic groups to observe ethnic specificity in the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism. The list of studies pertaining to the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism across different ethnic groups is summarized in Table 2.1.

Decial group	Ethnia groun	Allele fre	quency	Sample size	Defenences
Kaciai group	Ethnic group	Ι	D	(n)	References
Asian	Malaysian pooled	0.65	0.35	637	Jayapalan et al. (2008)
	Malaysian Malay	0.71	0.29	274	Jayapalan et al. (2008)
	Indian	0.55	0.45	460	Movva et al. (2007)
		0.55	0.45	166	Saha et al. (1996)
	Malaysian Indian	0.58	0.42	213	Jayapalan et al. (2008)
	Chinese	0.60	0.40	102	Huang et al. (2004)
		0.59	0.41	147	Saha et al. (1996)
	Hong Kong Chinese	0.63	0.37	183	Young et al. (1995)
	Malaysian Chinese	0.63	0.37	150	Jayapalan et al. (2008)
	Singaporean Chinese	0.69	0.31	671	Koh et al. (2003)
		0.70	0.30	189	Lee (1994)
	Taiwanese	0.64	0.36	189	Chuang et al. (1997)
	Japanese	0.67	0.33	1245	Matsubara et al. (2002)
		0.60	0.40	2168	Tamaki et al. (2002)
		0.69	0.31	90	Lau et al. (2002)
		0.67	0.33	113	Kario et al. (1997)
		0.67	0.33	46	Yoshida et al. (1995)
	Thai	0.70	0.30	298	Nitiyanant et al. (1997)
	Javanese	0.76	0.24	136	Sasongko et al. (2005)
	Kazakh	0.42	0.58	145	Aĭtkhozhina and Liudvikova
					(2003)
	Korean	0.61	0.39	13914	Yoo (2005)

Table 2.1Distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism in different ethnic groups

De del anore	Ethnia mann	Allele free	quency	Sample size	D - £
Kaciai group Etimic group		Ι	D	(n)	Kelerences
Caucasian	European	0.48	0.52	2413	Stephens et al. (2005)
	-	0.48	0.52	3001	Mattace-Raso et al. (2004)
		0.46	0.54	522	Renner et al. (2002)
		0.41	0.59	357	Ferrieres et al. (1999)
		0.43	0.57	84	Vassilikioti et al. (1996)
		0.51	0.49	57	Batzer et al. (1996)
		0.49	0.51	186	Barley et al. (1994)
		0.73	0.27	733	Cambien et al. (1992)
		0.23	0.77	98	Tiret et al. (1992)
	Brazilian	0.42	0.58	65	Sprovieri and Sens (2005)
		0.46	0.54	150	Pereira et al. (2001)
	Australian	0.46	0.54	244	Lea et al. (2005)
		0.56	0.44	634	van Bockxmeer et al. (2000)
		0.46	0.54	100	Lester et al. (1999)
	Breton	0.58	0.42	41	Batzer et al. (1994)
	French	0.47	0.53	346	Marre et al. (1997)
		0.48	0.52	54	Batzer et al. (1996)
	French Acadian	0.48	0.52	53	Batzer et al. (1996)
	Greek Cypriot	0.51	0.49	46	Batzer et al. (1996)
	Egyptian	0.33	0.67	188	Salem (2008)
		0.28	0.72	188	Ulu et al. (2006)
	Emirate	0.39	0.61	164	Bayoumi et al. (2006)
	Omanis	0.29	0.71	159	Wang and Staessen (2000)
	Syrian	0.40	0.60	127	Salem (2008)

D	Ethnia anorr	Allele fr	equency	Sample size	Deferrer
Racial group	Ethnic group –	Ι	D	(n)	References
	Sudanese	0.36	0.64	70	Bayoumi et al. (2006)
	Mexican	0.78	0.22	300	Vargas-Alarcon et al. (2003)
	Swiss	0.37	0.63	43	Batzer et al. (1996)
	Turkish Cypriot	0.33	0.67	33	Batzer et al. (1994)
	Turkish	0.40	0.60	1063	Berdeli and Cam (2009)
		0.51	0.49	38	Sipahi et al. (2006)
		0.41	0.59	88	Cam et al. (2005)
		0.47	0.53	103	Erdoğan et al. (2004)
	Iranian	0.60	0.40	167	Abdi Rad and Bagheri (2011)
	Greek	0.38	0.62	352	Eleni et al. (2008)
	Slovenian	0.49	0.51	218	Zorc-Pleskovic et al. (2005)
	German	0.49	0.51	719	Mondry et al. (2005)
		0.51	0.49	163	Hohenfellner et al. (2001)
	Croatian	0.51	0.49	172	Barbalic et al. (2004)
	Polish	0.57	0.43	111	Zak et al. (2003)
	Italian	0.69	0.31	31	Massidda et al. (2012)
		0.52	0.48	92	Rigoli et al. (2004)
		0.43	0.57	684	Di Pasquale et al. (2004)
	Colombian	0.54	0.46	69	Camelo et al. (2004)
	Chilean	0.57	0.43	117	Jalil et al. (1999)
Black	Amerindian (Teenek and Nahuas)	0.61-0.78	0.22-0.39	68	Vargas-Alarcon et al. (2003)
	Pima Indian	0.71	0.29	184	Foy et al. (1996)
	Australian Aboriginal	0.97	0.03	53	Lester et al. (1999)
	Somalis	0.27	0.73	53	Bayoumi et al. (2006)

Table 2.1Continued

Dadal anoun	Ethnic moun	Allele frequency		Sample size	Defenerace
Kaciai group	Ethnic group	Ι	D	(n)	Kelerences
	Greek Cypriot	0.39	0.61	48	Batzer et al. (1994)
	Greenland Native	0.55	0.45	41	Batzer et al. (1996)
	Nguni	0.40	0.60	43	Soodyall et al. (1996)
	Nigerian	0.27	0.73	11	Batzer et al. (1994)
	-	0.37	0.63	80	Barley et al. (1994)
	Coastal Papua New Guinean	0.66	0.34	48	Perna et al. (1992)
	(PNG)	0.74	0.26	68	Perna et al. (1992)
	Highland Papua New Guinean	0.38	0.62	48	Soodyall et al. (1996)
	(PNG)	0.48	0.52	73	Foy et al. (1996)
	Sotho	0.73	0.27	111	Rupert et al. (2003)
	Alaska Native	0.74	0.26	51	Rupert et al. (2003)
	Kenyan	0.38	0.62	85	Scott et al. (2005)
	Black (Brazil)	0.57	0.43	92	Pereira et al. (2001)
	Mulatto (Brazil)	0.65	0.35	40	Pereira et al. (2001)
	Jamaican	0.41	0.59	311	Scott et al. (2010)
	Southwest African American	0.33	0.67	44	Scott et al. (2010)
	Northeast African American	0.44	0.56	72	Scott et al. (2010)
	Southeast African American	0.47	0.53	74	Scott et al. (2010)

Table 2.1Continued

2.3.4 *I* allele and Endurance Performance

A study by Gayagay et al. (1998) among sixty-four Australian national rowers had been the first report to display the additive effect of possession of the *I* allele of the *ACE* gene on endurance performance as a relative excess of both *I* allele and *II* genotype, which was found in the rowers, when compared to the controls. A similar finding was reported by Montgomery et al. (1998) for thirty-three elite male highaltitude mountaineers and 1,906 British males. Montgomery et al. (1998) also demonstrated that the UK army military recruits, who possessed *II* genotype, showed an 11-fold greater improvement in duration of exercise after a 10-week general physical training program when compared to those with *DD* genotype. Since then, *ACE* gene has attracted much attention worldwide as a candidate gene related to endurance performance (Bouchard and Hoffman, 2011).

The presence of *I* allele of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism has been reported to be more pronounced among endurance athletes, such as elite distance runners (Myerson et al., 1999, Alvarez et al., 2000, Hruskovicova et al., 2006, Min et al., 2009), rowers (Gayagay et al., 1998, Ahmetov et al., 2008b), triathletes (Collins et al., 2004, Shenoy et al., 2010), and long-distance swimmers (Tsianos et al., 2004b). Besides, individuals with *I* allele have also been reported to have a higher capacity of maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max) (Hagberg et al., 1998, Goh et al., 2009), higher percentage of slow twitch muscle fibres (Zhang et al., 2003), greater cardiac output (Hagberg et al., 2002), and higher heat tolerance (Heled, 2004). Apart from that, some studies have attempted to identify if possession of the *I* allele would enhance the effect of exercise training on training adaptation. In comparison with *D* allele carrier, the *I* allele carrier was shown to enhance mechanical efficiency in trained muscle following an 11-week program of aerobic training (Williams et al., 2000), increased aortic distensibility due to chronic prolonged training (Tanriverdi et al., 2005a), greater exercise adherence to 6-month exercise training at 60% and 85% of maximal exercise capacity (Thompson et al., 2006), as well as higher improvement in 30 minutes' (at 70% of heart rate reserve) running speed performance after a 6-week anaerobic and aerobic training program (Cam et al., 2007).

While these findings are convincing, the effect of possession of the *I* allele on endurance performance has remained inconclusive at present as several studies failed to replicate the association between *I* allele and endurance athlete status (Taylor et al., 1999, Rankinen et al., 2000c, Scott et al., 2005, Oh, 2007, Amir et al., 2007, Tobina et al., 2010, Gineviciene et al., 2011, Ash et al., 2011). In addition, some cross-sectional studies revealed that individuals with *D* allele have better endurance performance (Tobina et al., 2010) and VO₂max values (Zhaoa et al., 2003) compared to those individuals with *I* allele. Moreover, individuals with the *DD* genotype had also been reported with a 14 to 38% greater increase in VO₂max with training than those subjects with *II* genotype (Rankinen et al., 2000b).

Reasons for these inconsistent findings are unknown, but ethnicity could be one of the factors associated with these findings based on the previous reports that the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism varies across ethnic groups. Hence, to control this potential bias, population-specific research is warranted to confirm the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance. Moreover, to date, there are limited studies have examined possession of the I allele on endurance performance among Asian population, such as Malaysian population, compared to Caucasian population (Ma et al., 2013). This limited data set raises the question of whether the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance that previously reported for Caucasians population would also appear in Asian population such as in Malaysian population. A summary of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance that previously reported for Caucasians population would also appear in Asian population such as in Malaysian population. A summary of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance that previously reported to Caucasians population. A summary of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance is presented in Table 2.2.

Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Studies that reported the	e effect of possession	of the I allele on endurance performance	e	
Shenoy et al. (2010)	Asian (Indian)	National level army triathletes (n=29) Controls (n=101)	0.02	<i>I</i> allele frequency in triathletes (0.85), controls (0.52)
Cieszcyzk et al. (2010)	Caucasian (Polish and Lithuanian)	Elite judo players (n=28) Controls (n=115)	0.02	<i>I</i> allele frequency in judo players (0.61), controls (0.44)
Goh et al. (2009)	Asian (Singaporean)	National rugby union players (n=17)	0.03	V0 ₂ max was higher for the subjects with <i>II</i> genotype
Min et al. (2009)	Asian (Japanese)	Runners:- • Short distance (n=107) • Middle distance (n=62) • Long distance (n=108)	0.001	<i>I</i> allele frequency in runners:- • Short distance (0.44) • Middle distance (0.48) • Long distance (0.66)
Ahmetov et al. (2008b)	Caucasian (Russian)	Rowers (n=230) Controls (n=855)	< 0.05	<i>I</i> allele frequency in rowers (0.35), controls (0.29)
Voroshin and Astratenkov (2008)	Caucasian (Russian)	Elite 400 m distance runners (n=33)	< 0.01	<i>II</i> genotype favoured endurance performance and heart rate recovery
Cam et al. (2007)	Caucasian	Non-elite athletes (n=55)	< 0.05	Better improvement in aerobic endurance performance in <i>II</i> genotype carriers
Mayne (2006)	Caucasian	Athletes:- •Endurance (n=27) •Strength/power (n=63) Controls (n=48)	< 0.01	<i>I</i> allele frequency in endurance athletes (0.24), strength/power athletes (0.07), controls (0.13)

 Table 2.2
 Studies that investigated the effect of possession of the *I* allele on endurance performance

Table 2.2Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Thompson et al. (2006)	Caucasian	A six-month program with the subjects (n=110)	< 0.01	<i>I</i> allele might increase adherence to exercise training regimen
Hruskovicová et al. (2006)	Caucasian	Marathon runners (n=104) • 1^{st} to 50^{th} places (n=20) • 51^{st} to 100^{th} places (n=28) • 101^{st} to 150^{th} places (n=26) • 151^{st} to 200^{th} places (n=30) Half-marathon runners (n=222) Inline skaters (n=18) Controls (n=252)	< 0.01	<i>I</i> allele frequency in marathon runners; • 1^{st} to 50^{th} places (0.65) • 51^{st} to 100^{th} places (0.52) • 101^{st} to 150^{th} places (0.56) • 151^{st} to 200^{th} places (0.55), half-marathon runners (0.48), inline skaters (0.61), controls (0.47)
Tanriverdi et al. (2005a)	Caucasian (Turkey)	Endurance athletes (n=56)Controls (n=46)	< 0.05	Aortic distensibility was increased by prolonged training in endurance athletes with the <i>II</i> genotype
Tanriverdi et al. (2005b)	Caucasian (Turkey)	Endurance athletes (n=56)Controls (n=46)	< 0.0001	Regular isotonic exercise improved endothelium-dependent vasodilatation, especially in those with the <i>II</i> genotype
Collins et al. (2004)	Caucasian	Triathletes:- • Fastest finishers (n=100) • Slowest finishers (n=100) Controls (n=199)	0.036	 <i>I</i> allele frequency in triathletes:- Fastest finishers (0.52) Slowest finishers (0.48), controls (0.42)
Tsianos et al. (2004a)	Caucasian	Climbers (n=195)	0.01	<i>I</i> allele frequency for those who reached the summit was 0.47 than 0.21 for those who did not reach the summit

Table 2.2Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Tsianos et al. (2004b)	Caucasian	Swimmers:-	0.01	<i>I</i> allele frequency in swimmers:-
		• 10 km distances (n=19)		• 10 km distances (0.29)
		• 25 km races (n=16)		•25 km races (0.59)
Kasikcioglu et al. (2004)	Caucasian	•Elite wrestlers (n=29)	< 0.001	I allele carriers had higher VO ₂ max than
		•Controls (n=51)		D allele carriers
Heled (2004)	Caucasian	Healthy male (n=58)	< 0.05	<i>I</i> allele increased heat tolerance
Zhang et al. (2003)	Asian (Japanese)	Untrained healthy young (n=41)	< 0.01	<i>I</i> allele carriers had higher percentage of slow twitch muscle fibres than <i>D</i> allele carriers
Hagberg et al. (2002)	Caucasian	Postmenopausal	< 0.05	I allele carriers had 25% greater cardiac
		• Sedentary (n=20)		output than D allele carriers
		• Physically active (n=20)		
		• Endurance athletes (n=22)		
Nazarov et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Swimmers:-	0.042	I allele frequency in swimmers:-
	(Russian)	• Long distance (n=12)		•Long distance (0.54)
		• Middle distance (n=24)		• Middle distance (0.65)
		• Short distance (n=16)		• Short distance (0.31),
		Controls (n=449)		controls (0.50)
Williams et al. (2000)	Caucasian	Army recruits (n=116)	< 0.025	I allele conferred an enhanced
	~			mechanical efficiency in trained muscle
Alvarez et al. (2000)	Caucasian (Spain)	Cyclists (n=25)	0.0009	I allele frequency in cyclists (0.28),
		Long-distance runners (n=25)		long-distance runners (0.25), handball
		Handball players (n=15)		players (0.20) , controls (0.16)
		Controls (n=400)		

Table 2.2 Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Myerson et al. (1999)	Caucasian	Runners:-	0.009	<i>I</i> allele frequency in runners:-
		• $\leq 200 \text{ m} (n=20)$		• \leq 200 m (0.35)
		•400-3000 m (n=37)		•400-3000 m (0.53)
		• \geq 5000 m (n=34)		• \geq 5000 m (0.62),
		Controls (n=1906)		controls (0.49)
Hagberg et al. (1998)	Caucasian	Postmenopausal	< 0.05	The <i>II</i> genotype group had a 6.3 ml·kg ⁻
		• Sedentary (n=19)		¹ ·min ⁻¹ higher VO ₂ max than the <i>ID</i>
		• Physically active (n=19)		genotype group after accounting for the
		Athletes (n=20)		effect of habitual physical activity level
Montgomery et al.	Caucasian	Elite male British mountaineers (n=25)	0.02	I allele frequency in mountaineers
(1998)		Controls (n=1906)		(0.70), controls (0.45)
Montgomery et al.	Caucasian	Army recruits (n=66)	0.001	<i>I</i> allele improved endurance
(1998)				performance
Gayagay et al. (1998)	Caucasian	National rowers (n=64)	0.03	I allele frequency in rowers (0.57) ,
	(Australian)	Controls (n=114)		controls (0.43)
Studies that reported po	ssession of the <i>I</i> all	ele did not influence endurance performa	nce	
Ash et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Athletes (n=114)	> 0.05	Elite endurance athlete status in
	(Ethiopian)	• Endurance runners (n=76)		Ethiopians was not influenced by ACE
		• Sprint and power event athletes		<i>I/D</i> gene polymorphism
		(n=38)		
		Controls:-		
		• Ethiopian population (n=317)		
		• Endurance athlete-matched (n=410)		

Table 2.2Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Holdys et al. (2011)	Caucasian (Polish)	Athletes (n=166)	> 0.05	No difference in mean values for the
		• Speed-strength (n=35)		VO ₂ max between athletes with different
		• Endurance-speed-strength (n=71)		genotypes
		• Endurance (n=50)		
		Controls (n=83)		
Gineviciene et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Athletes:-	0.025	II genotype carriers had greater grip
	(Lithuanian)	•Endurance (n=64)		strength and vertical jump than ID and
		•Speed/ power (n=47)		DD genotype carriers
		•Mix (n=33)		
		•Team sports (n=49)		
		Controls (n=250)		
Tobina et al. (2010)	Asian (Japanese)	Elite long distance (over 5000 m)	> 0.05	• The frequency of the <i>II</i> genotype in
		Control (n=335)		athletes was not significantly higher compared to non-athletes
				•Endurance performance was better in
				DD and ID genotype individuals than
Ob (2007)	Asian (Korean)	Flite mixed athletes $(n-130)$	> 0.05	The excess of <i>L</i> allele in long distance
011 (2007)	Asian (Rorean)	Controls $(n=163)$	2 0.05	runners was not significant
Amir et al. (2007)	Caucasian (Israeli)	Athletes:-	< 0.05	D allele and DD genotype seemed to be
	Cuucustun (Istuch)	• Endurance $(n=79)$		higher in Israeli elite marathon runners
		• Power $(n-42)$		than in sprinters
		Controls $(n=247)$		

Table 2.2Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Scott et al. (2005)	Kenyan	Athletes:-	0.39	Elite Kenyans' endurance athlete status
		•International endurance (n=70)		was not influenced by ACE I/D gene
		•National endurance (n=221)		polymorphism
		Controls (n=85)		
Zhaoa et al. (2003)	Asian	Students with prior exercise/	< 0.05	Subjects with the DD genotype had
	(Singaporean)	military training (n=67)		significantly higher level of VO2max
				than other genotypes
Nazarov et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Swimmers:-	0.656	No difference was found in frequencies
		•Long distance (n=12)		between elite long distance swimmers
		•Middle distance (n=24)		and controls
		•Short distance (n=16)		
		Controls (n=449)		
Nazarov et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Track and field athletes:-	0.687	No difference was found in frequencies
		•Long distance (n=10)		between elite long distance track, field
		•Middle distance (n=7)		athletes, and controls
		•Short distance (n=14)		
		Controls (n=449)		
Sonna et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Army recruits (n=147)	> 0.05	II genotype did not have a strong effect
				on aerobic power or endurance in
				healthy young American adults
Rankinen et al. (2000b)	Caucasian and	Sedentary:-	0.042	Individuals with the DD genotype had
	Black	• Caucasian (n=476)		14 to 38% of greater increase in
		• Black (n=248)		VO ₂ max with training than <i>II</i> genotype
				carriers

Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Rankinen et al. (2000c)	Caucasian	Endurance athletes (n=192) Controls (n=189)	> 0.05	ACE I/D gene polymorphism was not associated with the higher cardiorespiratory endurance performance level
Taylor et al. (1999)	Caucasian (Australian)	National athletes aerobic sports(n=120) Controls (n=685)	> 0.05	<i>II</i> genotype did not confer elite athletic ability

2.3.5 *D* allele and Strength or Power Performance

As the elevation level of the ACE activity in individuals with D allele of the ACE I/D gene polymorphism increased the production of ANG II (a potent growth factor in cardiac and vascular tissues) in the skeletal muscle renin-angiotensin system, which is the potential mechanism where muscle cell growth and hypertrophy may be activated (Geisterfer et al., 1998, Kai et al., 1998), this allele has been thought to influence strength or power performance (Jones and Woods, 2003, Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Therefore, several studies have attempted to examine the effect of possession of the D allele on strength or power performance. The D allele carriers were reported to possess the greatest muscle strength (Hopkinson et al., 2004, Williams et al., 2005, Costa et al., 2009b). In several case-control studies, the frequency of D allele was found to be higher among those athletes involved in strength or power-oriented events (Woods et al., 2001, Nazarov et al., 2001, Paulauskas et al., 2003).

Montgomery et al. (1997) reported that the left ventricular mass was increased by 18% in male Caucasian military recruits after a 10-week physical training period, with the highest left ventricular growth observed in subjects with the *DD* genotype compared to other subjects with *II* and *ID* genotypes. Possession of the *D* allele may have protective effects to muscle damage as the subjects with *DD* genotype had recorded the lowest blood creatine kinase values in response to eccentric contractions than the other genotype carriers (Yamin et al., 2007). Meanwhile, in a study carried out by Folland et al. (2000), young adult men with *D* allele had been reported to have greater strength gains after following a 9-week strength training program compared to those with *I* allele. Similarly, greater gain in strength was observed in older individuals with *DD* genotype after 18 months of walking and light weight training (Giaccaglia et al., 2008).

Nevertheless, the inconsistent findings in other studies have caused the effect of possession of the D allele on strength performance to remain inconclusive (Thomis et al., 2004, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004, Moran et al., 2006a, Charbonneau, 2007, Eynon et al., 2009a, Rodríguez-Romo et al., 2010, Scott et al., 2010, Gineviciene et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2013). Reasons for these inconsistent findings are unknown, but it could be due to ethnicity factor, and limited reports from Asian population such as from Malaysian population (Ma et al., 2013) as previously explained for the effect of possession of the I allele on endurance performance. Therefore, future research involving Asian population, particularly Malaysian population is warranted to confirm the effect of possession of the D allele on strength/power performance. The list of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the D allele on strength/power performance is summarized in Table 2.3.

Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Studies that reported the effect of possession of the <i>D</i> allele on strength/power performance				
Eidera et al. (2013)	Caucasian (Polish)	Polish power athletes (n=100)	0.014	D allele frequency in power athletes
		Controls (n=354)		(0.63), controls (0.53)
Wang et al. (2013)	Caucasian	Swimmers;-	0.003	D allele was overrepresented in short-
	(European,	• Short middle distance (SMD) (≤ 400	0.005	and-middle-distance swimmers
	Commonwealth,	m) (n=125)		
	Russian, and	• Long distance (LD) (> 400 m) (n=68)		
	American cohorts)	Controls (n=1694)		
Ahmetov et al. (2013)	Caucasian	Healthy physically active pupils	0.037	High results for standing long-jump test
		(n=457)		in boys with D allele
Kikuchi et al. (2012)	Asian (Japanese)	International wrestlers (n=52)	0.000	D allele frequency in international
		National wrestlers (n=83)	0.002	wrestlers (0.59), national wrestlers
		Controls (n=333)		(0.44), controls (0.26)
Costa et al. (2009a)	Portuguese	Swimmers:-	< 0.05	D allele frequency in swimmers:-
		•Elite short distance (n=25)		•Elite short distance (0.78)
		•Elite middle distance (n=14)		•Elite middle distance (0.54)
		•Average short distance (n=23)		•Average short distance (0.61)
		•Average middle distance (n=9)		•Average middle distance (0.72)
		Controls (n=100)		controls (0.62)
Costa et al. (2009b)	Portuguese	Swimmer:-	< 0.05	Higher right grip strength in D allele
		•Short distance (n=22)		carriers compared to those with I allele
		•Middle distance (n=13)		carriers
		Triathletes (n=23)		

 Table 2.3
 Studies that investigated the effect of possession of the D allele on strength/power performance

Table 2.3Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Paulauskas et al. (2009)	Caucasian	Wrestlers (n=16)	< 0.05	D allele frequency in wrestlers (0.66),
	(Lithuanian)	Controls (n=116)		controls (0.55)
Giaccaglia et al. (2008)	Caucasian	Older sedentary men and women	0.04	DD genotype individuals showed
		(n=213)		greater gains in knee extensor strength compared to <i>II</i> genotype individuals
Yamin et al. (2007)	Caucasian (Israeli)	Healthy physical education students	0.02	II genotype imposed an increased risk of
		(n=70)		developing muscle damage, whereas the
				DD genotype may have protective
				effects
Charbonneau (2007)	Caucasian and	Older sedentary adults	0.02	Caucasian males who carried at least
	African American			one <i>D</i> allele exhibited more
				hypertrophy than <i>II</i> genotype carriers
Cerit et al. (2006)	Caucasian	Non-elite Turkish army recruits	0.001	DD genotype seemed to have an
		(n=186)		advantage in development in short-
	~ .		0.00	duration aerobic performance
Williams et al. (2005)	Caucasian	Untrained men (n=81)	0.026	DD genotype carriers had greater
				muscle strength than other genotype carriers
Cam et al. (2005)	Caucasian	Running performance:-	0.019	Better performance in short duration
	(Turkish)	•Superior (n=30)		aerobic endurance was influenced by
		•Mediocre (n=29)		the <i>D</i> allele
		•Poor (n=29)		

Table 2.3Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Kasikcioglu et al. (2004)	Caucasian	Elite wrestlers (n=29) Controls (n=51)	< 0.001	Left ventricular mass was found to be higher in <i>DD</i> genotype carriers $(126.2 \pm 2.9 \text{ g/m}^2)$ than <i>II</i> (85.5 ± 4.0 g/m ²) or <i>ID</i> $(110.1 \pm 2.3 \text{ g/m}^2)$ genotype carriers
Hopkinson et al. (2004)	Caucasian	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients (n=103) Controls (n=101)	0.04	The <i>D</i> allele was associated with greater isometric quadriceps strength
Hernández et al. (2003)	Caucasian	Endurance athletes (n=61)	0.031	The extent of exercise-induced left ventricular hypertrophy in endurance athletes was influenced by the <i>D</i> allele
Graf et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Endurance trained elite athletes (n=83)	0.039	The highest ANG II plasma resting concentration was found in athletes with DD genotype
Myerson et al. (2001)	Caucasian	British Army homozygous for the <i>DD</i> (n=79) and <i>II</i> (n=62) genotypes	0.0009	Left ventricular growth was greater in the <i>DD</i> genotype carriers than other genotype carriers
Nazarov et al. (2001)	Caucasian (Russian)	Swimmers long distance (n=12) Swimmers middle distance (n=24) Swimmers short distance (n=16) Controls (n=449)	0.001	<i>D</i> allele frequency in swimmers:-long distance (0.46), middle distance (n=35), short distance (n=69), controls (0.50)
Woods et al. (2001)	Caucasian	Swimmers (n=56) Military recruits (n=1248)	0.005	<i>D</i> allele frequency in swimmers (0.59), military recruits (0.41)
Folland et al. (2000)	Caucasian	33 healthy males	< 0.05	The <i>ID</i> and <i>DD</i> genotypes carriers had greater strength gains than the <i>II</i> genotype carriers

Table 2.3 Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Montgomery et al. (1997)	Caucasian	Military recruits (n=460)	< 0.01	Left ventricular growth rose significantly only among the <i>DD</i> genotype carriers
Studies that reported pos	ssession of the <i>D</i> alle	le did not influence strength/power perf	ormance	
Wang et al. (2013)	Asian (Japanese and Taiwanese)	Swimmers SMD (\geq 100 m) (n=166) Swimmers LD (200-400 m) (n=160) Controls (n=1252)	< 0.05	The <i>I</i> allele was overrepresented in the short-distance swimmer group
Gineviciene et al. (2011)	Caucasian (Lithuanian)	Elite athletes (n=193) Controls (n=250)	< 0.05	Speed and power in Lithuanian athletes were determined by <i>I</i> allele
Rodríguez-Romo et al. (2010)	Caucasian (European)	Non-athletic young adults (n=281)	> 0.05	ACE I/D gene polymorphism did not seem to exert a major influence on muscle 'explosive' power
Scott et al. (2010)	Jamaican and Caucasian (US)	Jamaican sprinters (n=116) US sprinters (n=114) Jamaican controls (n=311) US controls (n=191)	0.37	No excess in <i>DD</i> genotype in elite sprint athletes relative to controls
Eynon et al. (2009a)	Caucasian (Israeli)	Sprinters (n=81) Controls (n=240)	0.00007	D allele frequency in sprinters (0.49), controls (0.66)
Charbonneau (2007)	Caucasian and African American	Older sedentary adults (n=243)	> 0.05	Skeletal muscle strength was not influenced by the <i>D</i> allele
Moran et al. (2006a)	Caucasian (Greeks)	Teenagers (n=1027)	< 0.05	Strength phenotypes were influenced by the <i>I</i> allele
Thomis et al. (2004)	Caucasian	Twins, who participated in the Leuven Twin & Training Study (n=57)	> 0.05	No evidence for the effect of <i>D</i> allele on skeletal muscle
Kasikcioglu et al. (2004)	Caucasian	Elite wrestlers (n=29) Controls (n=51)	> 0.05	The frequency in athletes did not differ significantly from controls

2.4 The Alpha-Actinin-3 (ACTN3) Gene and Human Performance

2.4.1 The ACTN3 Gene

As illustrated in Figure 2.4, the *ACTN3* gene is located on the long arm of chromosome 11 (11q13.1) and it spans approximately 16,407 kb of genomic DNA, which embraces 21 exons and 20 introns. The *ACTN3* gene codes the ACTN3 protein, which is a member of the alpha-actinin-binding proteins (North et al., 1999). In humans, the alpha-actinin-binding proteins play an important role for structuring and for performing regulatory functions in cytoskeleton organization, as well as muscle contraction (Mills et al., 2001). In fact, four specific genes are responsible for the expression of different types of alpha-actinin-binding proteins; *ACTN1* and *ACTN4* genes code for non-muscle proteins (Kaplan et al., 2000), whereas *ACTN2* and *ACTN3* gene codes for myofibrillar proteins that are localized at the boundaries of sarcomeres in the contractile apparatus of muscle Z disk (Mills et al., 2001).

As portrayed in Figure 2.5, the Z line, which is composed of ACTN2 and ACTN3 proteins, acts to stabilize and to integrate the muscle contractile apparatus by cross-linking actin filaments and other structural components (Mills et al., 2001). The ACTN2 protein is expressed in all skeletal muscle fibres, while the ACTN3 protein is expressed only in the fast-twitch skeletal muscle fibre (Mills et al., 2001).



Figure 2.4 The genomic organization of the *ACTN3* gene on the long arm (q) of chromosome 11 on band 13.1. The *ACTN3* gene consists of 21 exons and 20 introns. *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).



Figure 2.5 Skeletal muscle is composed of long cylindrical cells called muscle fibres. Each muscle fibre is composed of long tubes called myofibrils, which in turn, consist of filaments (actin and myosin). During muscle contraction, when these filaments are sliding past each other, the actin filament is anchored by the Z line, which is encompassed mainly by ACTN2 and ACTN3 proteins, for stabilization. *Picture adapted from Starr and Mcmillan (2015).

Due to the location of the ACTN3 protein, this protein is likely to give static and stable function in maintaining the ordered myofibrillar array with greater coordination to generate high muscle power and velocity during movements (Mills et al., 2001). The expression of ACTN3 protein was reported to depend on *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism (North et al., 1999).

2.4.2 The ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism

As shown in Figure 2.6A, the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism (rs1815739) is identified as a nonsense mutation, which specifically occurred in codon 577 of exon 16, where the translation (C to T) at nucleotide position 1,747 alters the production of arginine codon (R) to a premature stop codon (X) (North et al., 1999). The wild-type and the null mutations for ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism are characterized by R and X alleles, respectively (North et al., 1999). The R allele codes for functioning ACTN3 gene that results in the production of ACTN3 protein, whilst incomplete sequence in the X allele, preventing the production of that protein (North et al., 1999). MacArthur et al. (2007) suggested that the loss of ACTN3 protein leads to alterations in skeletal muscle metabolism towards more efficient aerobic metabolism. Given these different physiological functions, possession of the R and X alleles may grant beneficial effects for strength/power and endurance activities, respectively. Figure 2.6B displays the identification of the ACTN3 R/X genotype through gel visualization, where the PCR product is fragmented by enzyme *Dde*I and the presence of *R* allele is characterized by 205 bp and 86 bp, whereas for X allele are 108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp (North et al., 1999).



Figure 2.6 A. DNA sequence and restriction endonuclease analysis of ACTN3 gene exon 16 demonstrating the three possible ACTN3 R/X genotypes at position 577. Double peaks mean heterozygote. *Picture adapted from North et al. (1999). B. A visual detection of ACTN3 R/X genotypes. Lane 1: 50 bp DNA marker, lane 2: Homozygous RR (205 bp, and 86 bp), lane 3: heterozygous RX (205 bp, 108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp), and lane 4: homozygous XX (108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp). *Picture adapted from Mayne (2006).

More than one billion people worldwide have reported an absence of ACTN3 protein (North et al., 1999). Moreover, it has been suggested that under certain environmental conditions, this gene variation could evolve to accommodate the energy expenditure requirements of people (North, 2008). Nevertheless, the distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism is different across several populations.

2.4.3 The Distribution of ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism across Ethnicity

There is evidence that the distribution of the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism varies between ethnic groups. The highest frequencies of *R* and *X* alleles were observed in the Black population. The prevalence of *R* and *X* alleles in the Black population ranged from 0.92 to 0.42 and 0.58 to 0.08, respectively. Among the different ethnic groups in the Black population, the lowest rate of ACTN3 deficiency was reported in the Nigerian group (Yang et al., 2007). The trend observed in Nigerians was similar to the findings obtained for Kenyans (Yang et al., 2007) and African Bantu (Mills et al., 2001). Meanwhile, the trend reported in Jamaican (Scott et al., 2010) and Highland Papua New Guinean (Mills et al., 2001) populations was remarkably comparable with the Northeast and the Southeast African Americans (Scott et al., 2010) and Ethiopians (Yang et al., 2007), respectively.

On the other hand, the distribution of R and X alleles in the Caucasian populations ranged from 0.61 to 0.50 and 0.50 to 0.39, respectively. Among the Caucasians, the highest frequency of R allele was noted for the Russian population (Druzhevskaya et al., 2008). Other than that, the distribution patterns of R and X alleles

in the Australian population (Yang et al., 2003) had been similar to the pattern discovered in the Iranian population (Fattahi and Najmabadi, 2012).

Meanwhile, in the Asian populations, the frequencies of R and X alleles vary from 0.53 to 0.39 and 0.61 to 0.47, respectively. The lowest prevalence of R allele was observed among Indians (Kothari et al., 2011). Besides, the distribution patterns of Rand X alleles in Javanese population (Mills et al., 2001) were closely similar to those of Japanese population (Yang et al., 2007).

Although these data suggest variation in the distribution of the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism across different populations, the data lacks a comprehensive understanding for ethnic variation in the distribution of the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism as most of the findings involved the Black and the Caucasian populations with limited evidence within Asian populations. Therefore, more studies involving Asian populations are required to bridge the gap in the current literature. A list of population-based studies conducted across different ethnic groups is summarized in Table 2.4.
Dagial group	Ethnia group	Allele fro	equency	Sample size	Deferences	
Kaciai group	Ethnic group	R	X	(n)		
Asian	Asian pooled	0.53	0.47	55	Clarkson et al. (2005a)	
		0.50	0.50	28	Mills et al. (2001)	
	Javanese	0.46	0.54	48	Mills et al. (2001)	
	Indian	0.39	0.61	150	Kothari et al. (2011)	
		0.52	0.48	125	Goel and Mittal (2007)	
	Japanese	0.47	0.53	97	Yang et al. (2007)	
Caucasian	Caucasian Pooled	0.50	0.50	469	Clarkson et al. (2005a)	
	European	0.58	0.42	107	Mills et al. (2001)	
	Iranian	0.56	0.44	210	Fattahi and Najmabadi (2012)	
	Australian	0.56	0.44	436	Yang et al. (2003)	
	Spanish	0.52	0.48	123	Lucia et al. (2006)	
	Italian	0.58	0.42	31	Massidda et al. (2012)	
		0.57	0.43	53	Massidda et al. (2009)	
	Polish	0.60	0.40	254	Cieszczyk et al. (2011)	
	Israeli	0.51	0.49	240	Eynon et al. (2009b)	
	Russian	0.61	0.39	1197	Druzhevskaya et al. (2008)	
Black	Aboriginal Australian	0.71	0.29	87	Mills et al. (2001)	
	African American	0.62	0.38	28	Clarkson et al. (2005a)	
		0.73	0.27	45	Mills et al. (2001)	
	Southwest African American	0.76	0.24	44	Scott et al. (2010)	
	Northeast African American	0.83	0.17	72	Scott et al. (2010)	
	Southeast African American	0.82	0.18	74	Scott et al. (2010)	

Table 2.4 Distribution of ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism in different ethnic groups

Davial group	Ethnia group	Allele frequency		Sample size	Deferences
Kaciai group	Ethnic group	R	X	(n)	References
	African Bantu	0.90	0.10	78	Mills et al. (2001)
	South African Bantu	0.89	0.11	88	Mills et al. (2001)
	Native American	0.57	0.43	7	Mills et al. (2001)
	Highland Papua New Guinean	0.64	0.36	39	Mills et al. (2001)
	Hispanic	0.42	0.58	25	Clarkson et al. (2005a)
		0.59	0.41	32	Mills et al. (2001)
	Jamaican	0.86	0.14	311	Scott et al. (2010)
	Ethiopian	0.66	0.34	105	Yang et al. (2007)
	Kenyan	0.91	0.09	158	Yang et al. (2007)
	Nigerian	0.92	0.08	60	Yang et al. (2007)

Table 2.4Con	ntinued
--------------	---------

2.4.4 *R* allele and Strength or Power Performance

A study by Yang et al. (2003) had been the first to link the *ACTN3* gene to human physical performance. This study suggested that the *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism could enhance sprint ability, as at least one copy of *R* allele was found in all male Olympian power and female elite sprint athletes (Yang et al., 2003). Moreover, Niemi and Majamaa (2005) reported similar findings with a higher frequency of the *R* allele in Finnish sprinters and a lower frequency of *R* allele in endurance athletes. They also reported that none of the top Finnish sprinters were predisposed for two copies of *X* allele (Niemi and Majamaa, 2005). Similar findings were also reported by Eynon et al. (2009b) with the frequency of *R* allele significantly higher in sprinters than endurance athletes and controls of Israeli population. Furthermore, the *RR* genotype (two copies of *R* allele) was observed more frequently in strength/power-oriented athletes, such as Russian power athletes (Druzhevskaya et al., 2008), elite-level bodybuilders and power lifters (Roth et al., 2008), gymnasts (Massidda et al., 2009), Indian power athletes (Kothari et al., 2011), and Polish power athletes (Cieszczyk et al., 2011), when compared with endurance athletes and controls.

Besides the positive finding on the effect of possession of the *R* allele on strength/power athletic status, individuals with *R* allele have also been reported to have greater strength/power capacity (Clarkson et al., 2005a, Moran et al., 2006b, Vincent et al., 2007, Norman et al., 2009, Shang et al., 2012, Erskine et al., 2014). Possession of the *R* allele was also found to influence training adaptation (Clarkson et al., 2005b, Delmonico et al., 2007, Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010, Gentil et al., 2011). After a 2-month home-based resistance training program, *R* allele carrier demonstrated greater

improvement in muscle strength than those with X allele (Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010). Likewise, absolute peak power value change with strength training was found to be higher in the *RR* group than in the *XX* group (Delmonico et al., 2007). Possession of the functional *R* allele had also been reported to be associated with susceptible muscle damage (Clarkson et al., 2005b) and muscle thickness (Gentil et al., 2011) in response to training.

Contrary to the positive findings, several studies failed to identify the effect of possession of the R allele on strength/power performance (Clarkson et al., 2005a, Lucia et al., 2006, Santiago et al., 2010, McCauley et al., 2010, Scott et al., 2010, Djarova et al., 2011, Gineviciene et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2013, Ahmetov et al., 2013). For example, possession of the R allele had been reported to have no influence on knee extensor isometric strength (McCauley et al., 2010) and ventilatory thresholds (Lucia et al., 2006). In another study, individuals with XX genotype exhibited a greater absolute and relative one-repetition maximum (1-RM) gain after following resistance training (Clarkson et al., 2005a), as well as better grip strength and vertical jump (Gineviciene et al., 2011), compared to RR carriers. As previously explained in the effects of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on physical performance, these inconsistent findings could be due to ethnicity factor, and limited reports from Asian population (Ma et al., 2013). Hence, future study among Asian population, particularly Malaysian population is warranted to confirm the effect of possession of the R allele on strength/power performance. The list of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the *R* allele on strength/power performance is summarized in Table 2.5.

Table 2.5 Studies that investigated the effect of possession of the K affect of strength/power performance						
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results		
Studies that reported the	e effect of possession	of the R allele on strength/power perfo	rmance			
Erskine et al. (2014)	Caucasian	Untrained healthy male (n=51)	< 0.05	<i>R</i> allele carriers had greater quadriceps femoris muscle volume, maximum isoinertial strength (1-RM), and maximum power than <i>X</i> allele carriers		
Shang et al. (2012)	Asian (Chinese)	Young male soldiers (n=452)	0.021	<i>R</i> allele carriers displayed significantly higher handgrip strength than individuals with <i>X</i> allele		
Kothari et al. (2011)	Asian (Indian)	Power athletes (n=72) Endurance athletes (n=83) Controls (n=150)	< 0.01	<i>R</i> allele frequency in power athletes (0.71), endurance athletes (0.31), controls (0.39)		
Cieszczyk et al. (2011)	Caucasian (Polish)	Power athletes (n=158) Controls (n=254)	0.008	<i>R</i> allele frequency in power athletes (0.69), controls (0.60)		
Pimenta et al. (2011)	Caucasian (Brazilian)	Soccer professional athletes (n=37)	< 0.05	<i>R</i> allele carriers were less susceptible to eccentric damage		
Gentil et al. (2011)	Caucasian (Brazilian)	Men (n=141)	< 0.05	Only carriers of <i>R</i> allele showed an increase in muscle thickness in response to training		
Djarova et al. (2011)	Zulu South African	Cricketers (n=14) Controls (n=17)	< 0.05	A high \overline{R} allele frequency was found among cricketers with lower uric acid and lactic acid levels		
Ichinoseki-Sekine et al. (2010)	Asian (Japanese)	Untrained elderly women (n=35)	< 0.05	Sit-ups and one-leg standing with open eyes were improved in the <i>R</i> allele group, but not in the <i>X</i> allele group		

Table 2.5	Studies that investigated the effect	of possession of the R allele on	strength/power performance

Table 2.5Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Norman et al. (2009)	Caucasian	Moderate to well-trained men and women $(n + 120)$	< 0.05	Repeated exercise bouts prompted an
		women (n=120)		genotype group
Massidda et al. (2009)	Caucasian (Italian)	Elite gymnasts (n=35)	< 0.04	R allele frequency in gymnasts (0.73),
		Controls (n=53)		controls (0.57)
Eynon et al. (2009b)	Caucasian (Israeli)	Sprinters (n=74)	< 0.05	R allele frequency in sprinters (0.69) ,
		Endurance runners (n=81)		endurance runners (0.43), controls
		Controls (n=240)		(0.51)
Roth et al. (2008)	Caucasian and	Strength athletes Caucasian (n=52)	< 0.05	The <i>R</i> allele was overrepresented in elite
	Black	Strength athletes Black (n=23)		strength (bodybuilder and power lifter)
		Controls Caucasian (n=668)		athletes
		Controls Black (n=208)		
Druzhevskaya et al.	Caucasian	Strength/sprint athletes (n=486)	< 0.05	R allele frequency in strength/sprint
(2008)	(Russian)	Controls (n=1197)		(0.67), controls (0.61)
Vincent et al. (2007)	Caucasian	Healthy young males (n=90)	0.03	R allele carriers showed significantly
				higher relative dynamic quadriceps
				torques at $300^{\circ}/s$, compared to XX
				genotype carriers
Delmonico et al. (2007)	Caucasian	Older men (n=71)	< 0.05	• In men, absolute peak power (PP)
		Older women (n=86)		changed with strength training (ST) in
				the <i>RR</i> genotype group, which was
				Inglief than in other groups
				• In women, relative PP changed with
				was higher than in other groups
				was inglier than in other groups

Table 2.5Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Mayne (2006)	Caucasian	Strength/power athletes (n=44) Endurance athletes (n=27) Controls (n=48)	< 0.01	<i>R</i> allele frequency in strength/power athletes (0.61), endurance athletes (0.56), controls (0.37)
Moran et al. (2006b)	Caucasian (Greek)	Adolescent (n=922)	0.003	Subjects with <i>RR</i> and <i>RX</i> genotypes had faster 40 m sprint time than <i>XX</i> genotype subjects
Niemi and Majamaa (2005)	Caucasian (Finnish)	Top endurance athletes (n=20) Endurance athletes (n=40) Top sprinters (n=23) Sprinters (n=68) Controls (n=1060)	0.03	The frequencies of XX and RR genotypes were higher and lower among Finnish endurance athletes, respectively, and none of the top Finnish sprinters had XX genotype
Clarkson et al. (2005b)	 Caucasian African- American Hispanic Asian Other 	Sedentary:- • Caucasians (n=115) • African-Americans (n=4) • Hispanics (n=6) • Asians (n=20) • Other (n=11)	0.03	Subjects with XX genotype had the lowest muscle strength and the lowest resting creatine kinase activity than other genotype carriers
Clarkson et al. (2005a)	•Caucasian	Women (n=286)	< 0.05	XX genotype carriers had lower baseline strength than RX genotype carriers
Yang et al. (2003)	Caucasian (Australian)	Sprinters (n=107) Endurance athletes (n=194) Controls (n=436)	0.001	<i>R</i> allele frequency in sprinters (0.72), endurance athletes (0.54), controls (0.56)

Table 2.5Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Studies that reported po	ssession of the R alle	le did not influence strength/power perfe	ormance	
Wang et al. (2013)	Caucasian and	Caucasian swimmers;-	> 0.05	Swimmer status in either Caucasians or
	Asian	• Short middle distance (SMD) (≥ 400 m) (n=125)		East Asians was not influenced by <i>R</i> allele
		• Long distance (LD) (\geq 400 m) (n=68)		
		Caucasian Controls (n=1694)		
		Asian swimmers;-		
		● SMD (≥ 100 m) (n=166)		
		• LD (200-400 m) (n=160)		
		Asian Controls (n=1252)		
Ahmetov et al. (2013)	Caucasian	Middle school-age children (n=457)	< 0.05	High strength/power performance was
	(Russian)			not influenced by <i>R</i> allele
Djarova et al. (2011)	Zulu South	Cricket players (n=14)	> 0.05	No significant difference was identified
	African	Controls (n=17)		between two studied groups
Gineviciene et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Power athletes (n=51)	> 0.05	There was no significant difference in
	(Lithuanian)	Endurance athletes (n=77)		allele and genotype frequencies
		Mixed athletes (n=65)		between the sports groups
		Controls (n=250)		
Gineviciene et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Power athletes (n=51)	< 0.05	The grip strength and the vertical jump
	(Lithuanian)	Endurance athletes (n=77)		were better among athletes with XX
		Mixed athletes (n=65)		genotype compared to athletes with RR
		Controls (n=250)		genotype

Table 2.5Continued				
Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Scott et al. (2010)	Jamaican and US	Sprinter:-	0.67	Elite sprint athlete was not influenced
	African American	• Jamaican (n=116)		by <i>R</i> allele
		• US (n=114)		
		Controls:-		
		• Jamaican (n=311)		
		• US (n=191)		
McCauley et al. (2010)	Caucasian	Older males aged 60-70 years old	> 0.05	<i>R</i> allele did not affect the absolute and
		(n=100)		the relative high velocity strength
Santiago et al. (2010)	Caucasian	Healthy young adults (n=284)	> 0.05	R allele did not seem to influence the
	(Spanish)			ability to produce peak (explosive)
				power
Lucia et al. (2006)	Caucasian	Endurance runners (n=52)	> 0.05	•No significant difference existed
	(European)	Cyclists (n=50)		between the genotype groups
		Controls (n=123)		•No difference was found in indices of
				endurance performance (VO ₂ peak or
				ventilator thresholds) between athlete
				carriers of each ACTN3 R/X genotype
Clarkson et al. (2005a)	Caucasian and	Caucasian women (n=286)	< 0.05	Women with XX genotype displayed the
	Asian	Asian women (n=23)		greatest 1-RM response to training
				compared with those women with RR
				genotype after resistance training

2.4.5 X allele and Endurance Performance

A study using an ACTN3 knockout mouse model demonstrated that the lack of ACTN3 protein in an *X* allele carrier has resulted in alterations of skeletal muscle metabolism, explicit to aerobic metabolism, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH), and succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) (MacArthur et al., 2007). The activity of the enzyme citrate synthase (CS), which is commonly found in slow- twitch fibre and also a marker for mitochondrial oxidative capacity, was found to be 22% significantly higher in mice with null mutation (*XX*) compared to wild-type mice (*RR*) (MacArthur et al., 2007). Moreover, the higher activity of beta hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase (*bHAD*) and medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (*MCAD*), which are two mitochondrial enzymes involved in fatty acid oxidation in mice with deficiency of ACTN3 protein, suggested an increased reliance on aerobic instead of anaerobic metabolism (North, 2008).

Meanwhile, in another study involving an ACTN3 knockout mouse model, muscles with deficit in ACTN3 protein showed an increment in the twitch half relaxation time (MacArthur et al., 2008), which would significantly prolong the time taken for muscles to relax, and consequently, become detrimental to activities that require a repeated rapid contraction, such as sprinting and weight lifting, but providing another possible explanation that possession of the *X* allele may confer an advantage for endurance performance (Allen et al., 2008). The *X* allele appears to enhance endurance performance due to the higher frequency of the *XX* genotype in endurance athletes compared to controls, although this result is only reflected in female athletes (Yang et al., 2003). In addition, the frequency of *X* allele was also markedly overrepresented in Israeli endurance athletes (Eynon et al., 2009b) and Chinese female endurance athletes (Shang et al., 2010) compared to strength/power athletes and controls. Thus, the *X* allele has been suggested to give beneficial effects on endurance performance due to the higher VO₂max in the *X* allele carrier than those with *R* allele (Lucia et al., 2007).

Nonetheless, despite these positive findings, some studies have shown that X allele failed to influence endurance performance (Moran et al., 2006b, San Juan et al., 2006, Ahmetov et al., 2008a, Gomez-Gallego et al., 2009, Döring et al., 2010, Kothari et al., 2011). As previously explained in the effects of possession of the R allele on strength/power performance, these conflicting findings could be due to ethnicity factor, and limited reports from Asian population (Ma et al., 2013). Therefore, to further investigate the role of X allele on endurance performance, future research must involves Asian population, especially Malaysian population. The list of studies that investigated the effect of possession of the X allele on endurance performance is summarized in Table 2.6.

Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Studies that reported the	effect of possession	of the X allele on endurance performance	e	
Ahmetov et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Sub elite Russian speed skaters (n=34)	< 0.05	XX genotype carriers exhibited a higher
	(Russian)	Controls (n=60)		proportion of slow twitch fibres
Ahmetov et al. (2011)	Caucasian	Speed skaters:-	0.046	The frequency of XX genotype was
	(Russian)	• Sprinters (n=39)		significantly higher in endurance-
		• Middle distance (n=53)		oriented speed skaters than other skaters
		• Endurance-oriented (n=23)		
		Controls (n=1301)		
Shang et al. (2010)	Asian (Chinese)	Endurance athletes:-	0.02	• <i>X</i> allele frequency in female endurance
		• Male (n=132)		athletes (0.51) , controls (0.41)
		• Female (n=118)		•No significant difference was
		Controls:-		observed in male endurance athletes
		• Male (n=298)		vs. controls
		• Female (n=152)		
Eynon et al. (2009b)	Caucasian	Endurance runners (n=81)	< 0.05	X allele frequency in endurance runners
	(Israeli)	Sprinters (n=74)		(0.47), sprinters (0.30), controls (0.45)
		Controls (n=240)		
Lucia et al. (2007)	Caucasian	Adult McArdle's disease patients	< 0.05	Carriers of the X allele had a higher
	(European)	(n=40)		VO ₂ max at the ventilation threshold
		Sedentary controls (n=40)		(VT) than those with <i>R</i> allele
Yang et al. (2003)	Caucasian	Female Sprinters (n=35)	< 0.001	X allele frequency in sprinters (0.29) ,
	(Australian)	Female Endurance athletes (n=72)		endurance athletes (0.47), controls
		Female Controls (n=292)		(0.56)

Table 2.6Studies that investigated the effect of possession of the *X* allele on endurance performance

Reference	Population	Study group (sample size)	p value	Results
Studies that reported p	ossession of the X al	lele did not influence endurance perform	ance	
Kothari et al. (2011)	Asian (Indian)	Athletes:- Endurance (n=83) Power (n=72) Controls (n=150)	0.07	The X allele or the XX genotype was present at higher frequency in endurance athletes, but displayed insignificant association
Döring et al. (2010)	Caucasian (North America, Finland and Germany)	Male elite endurance athletes (n=316) Controls (n=304)	> 0.01	The prevalence of the XX genotype was similar in endurance athletes and controls
Gomez-Gallego et al. (2009)	Caucasian (Spanish)	 Elite professional road cyclists (n=46) Healthy men (n=46) 	< 0.05	Endurance phenotype trait was influenced by <i>R</i> allele
Ahmetov et al. (2008a)	Caucasian (Russian)	Rowers (n=54)	0.016	Male rowers with <i>RR</i> genotype showed better results in long-distance rowing than carriers of <i>RX</i> or <i>XX</i> genotypes
Ahmetov et al. (2008a)	Caucasian (Russian)	Endurance-oriented athletes (n=456) Controls (n=1211)	< 0.05	<i>X</i> allele was underrepresented in Russian endurance athletes
Moran et al. (2006b)	Caucasian (Greeks)	Adolescent (n=922)	> 0.05	Endurance phenotype was not influenced by <i>X</i> allele
San Juan et al. (2006)	Caucasian (Spanish)	Healthy, non-athletic elderly women (age 61–80 years) (n=23)	> 0.05	Complete deficiency of ACTN3 did not affect aerobic capacity

2.5 Exercise and Blood Pressure

At present, hypertension has become one of the significant risk factors for chronic diseases, such as heart attack and stroke (Chobanian et al., 2003). Moreover, the National Health and Morbidity Survey 2011 reported that 32.7% of adults aged 18 years old and above in Malaysia suffered from hypertension (Survey, 2011). Thus, it has been suggested that high blood pressure can be controlled and prevented with lifestyle modifications, such as dieting and exercising (Pescatello et al., 2004). In general, exercise helps to strengthen the heart where the heart will pump more blood with less effort, thus decreasing the force on arteries, which in turn lowers blood pressure (Dicker, 2010). Nevertheless, the optimal exercise training program in preventing and controlling high blood pressure has remained unclear as the magnitude of the exercise training effect may vary across different training prescriptions (Williams et al., 2007).

2.5.1 Endurance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure

Endurance exercise, which involves large muscle groups in dynamic activities such as walking and swimming, has shown to lower resting blood pressure in both hypertensive and normotensive individuals (Pescatello and Kulikowich, 2001, Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005b, Baynard et al., 2008, Goldberg et al., 2012). In fact, a recent meta-analysis study reported that endurance exercise training at a moderate to high intensity less than 210 minutes per week for less than 24 weeks reduced the resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure by 3.5 and 2.5 mmHg, respectively, with the largest reduction in blood pressure more pronounced in hypertensive than in

normotensive individuals (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013). Meanwhile, several studies have demonstrated that a similar magnitude of blood pressure reduction was observed for up to 22 hours after cessation of a single set of moderate-intensity endurance exercise training (Brownley et al., 1996, MacDonald et al., 2001, Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005b). It also showed that moderate-intensity endurance exercise training increases exercise capacity (Tsai et al., 2004) and decreases heart rate during exercise by 11.3 mmHg in hypertensive patients (Wilmore et al., 2001). Taken together, these findings suggest that endurance exercise training does not only help lower resting blood pressure, but also improves fitness and lowers the risk of cardiovascular injury during exercise among hypertensive individuals.

Although endurance exercise training promotes beneficial effects on blood pressure regulation, approximately 50% of adults among those engaged in aerobic exercise program discontinued within 3 to 6 months (Owen et al., 2010). Dropout from this exercise program had been reported due to several factors, such as lack of time and medical condition (e.g. obesity or arthritis) (Owen et al., 2010).

2.5.2 Resistance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure

Resistance exercise training (strength training) refers to any type of training using resistance (e.g. dumbbells and elastic band) against the force of muscular contraction (Preedy, 2012). Resistance training, such as weightlifting, is generally designed to build muscle and increase strength (Kraemer et al., 2002). Since a study by MacDougall et al. (1985) demonstrated that systolic and diastolic blood pressure could reach values of 320 mmHg and 250 mmHg, respectively, during the double leg-press

in normotensive individuals, the resistance training has not previously been recommended for hypertensive patients.

Nevertheless, subsequent studies have demonstrated that resistance training can lower resting blood pressure (Wiley et al., 1992, Wood et al., 2001, Vincent et al., 2003). Furthermore, several meta-analysis studies have consistently reported that both resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure could be reduced by 3 to 4 mmHg following resistance exercise training (Kelley and Kelley, 2000, Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005a, Fagard, 2006). Interestingly, no incident of high blood pressure was observed after the resistance exercise training (Kelley and Kelley, 2000). Nonetheless, contrary to the findings obtained from endurance exercise training, the magnitude of blood pressure reduction following resistance exercise training had been similar in hypertensive and normotensive individuals (Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005a, Fagard, 2005a, Fagard, 2006). Taken together, these findings demonstrated that resistance exercise training could be incorporated into an exercise program for blood pressure management.

Based on the modes of resistance exercise training, the recent meta-analysis study reported that the reduction in resting systolic blood pressure was larger after isometric resistance training (-10.9 mmHg) compared to dynamic resistance training (-1.8 mmHg) (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013). Besides, a similar pattern of reduction was also observed for resting diastolic blood pressure (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013). Generally, dynamic resistance exercise involves movement at the joints, whereas isometric resistance exercise does not require any movement of the affected joint and the muscle length will remain unchanged (Hoffman, 2002). Thus, from the findings on resting blood pressure and the exercise characteristics, the isometric resistance

exercise training had been found to be superior to the dynamic resistance exercise training in controlling and preventing high blood pressure.

2.5.3 Isometric Resistance Exercise Training and Blood Pressure

Over several years, numerous studies have investigated the role of isometric resistance exercise training in reducing blood pressure (Wiley et al., 1992, Ray and Carrasco, 2000, Howden et al., 2002, Taylor et al., 2003, Peters et al., 2006, McGowan et al., 2007, Millar et al., 2008, Millar et al., 2013). In fact, a current meta-analysis study reported that the reduction in resting blood pressure had been largest after isometric resistance exercise training (systolic: –10.9 mmHg, diastolic: –6.2 mmHg) compared to endurance (systolic: –3.5 mmHg, diastolic: –3.7 mmHg) and dynamic resistance exercise training (systolic: –1.8 mmHg, diastolic: –2.5 mmHg) (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013).

Although the optimal protocol of the isometric resistance exercise training has not been established at present, the most common protocol of this exercise training is composed of four sets of 2 minutes' handgrip (McGowan et al., 2007, Millar et al., 2008) or leg contractions (Howden et al., 2002) at 30 to 50 % of maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) (Wiley et al., 1992, Ray and Carrasco, 2000) with 1 to 4 minutes of rest period between each contraction (Wiley et al., 1992, McGowan et al., 2007) that are conducted three to five times per week for 4 to 10 weeks (Devereux et al., 2010, Badrov et al., 2013). Relative to exercise trained-muscle, hand grip isometric exercise training (Wiley et al., 1992, Badrov et al., 2013) has been found to reduce resting blood pressure more than leg isometric exercise training (Baross et al., 2012). In addition, with regard to exercise intensity, the isometric handgrip exercise training that was performed at 30% of MVC (Taylor et al., 2003) elicited greater reduction in resting blood pressure compared to a similar exercise at 50% of MVC (Peters et al., 2006). On the other hand, as for training frequency, Badrov et al. (2013) reported that the effect of the isometric exercise training in lowering blood pressure had been independent of the volume of training as both groups trained 3 and 5 times per week produced a similar magnitude of reduction in blood pressure. Interestingly, the effect of this exercise training on blood pressure could be seen after 4 to 5 weeks of training with long duration of training, such as 8 to 10 weeks, which had shown to elicit larger reductions in blood pressure (Millar et al., 2007).

It has also been demonstrated that the effect of the isometric exercise training is more pronounced in those with hypertension than individuals with normal blood pressur. In addition, several studies have shown that no harmful effect was detected when performing the isometric exercise as no overload was discovered in cardiovascular changes and the hemodynamic parameters were observed immediately after the end of the first session of this exercise training (Li et al., 2000, Auerbach et al., 2000, Araujo et al., 2011, Olher et al., 2013). When compared to aerobic exercise training, the isometric exercise training has the potential to ensure long-term adherence as it is easy to perform, does not require higher intensity training, and less exercise time (Millar et al., 2014). Therefore, based on all the findings obtained from previous research, the isometric exercise training could be a very effective training for hypertensive and normotensive individuals to control and prevent high blood pressure, respectively. At present, the mechanism by which isometric exercise training elicits reduction in blood pressure has remained unclear (Millar et al., 2014). Wiles et al. (2010) suggested that the rise in blood pressure during isometric exercise will stimulate the baroreceptors, which are sensory afferent nerve endings located in the carotid sinus and the aortic arch. When the blood pressure is elevated, the baroreceptors are stretched and result in a reflex-mediated increase in parasympathetic nerve activity, as well as a decrease in sympathetic nerve activity (Wiles et al., 2010). Consequently, it causes a decline in the heart rate, while the diameter of blood vessels increases and further leads to a drop in the blood pressure (Wiles et al., 2010). Moreover, other studies have suggested that the reduction in blood pressure after isometric exercise training is related to the repeated power of hydrogen (pH) changes due to muscle fatigue and lactate production that act as a metaboreceptor stimulus (Devereux, 2010); augmentation in vasodilator substances, for instance, nitric oxide (NO) (Lopez et al., 2009); and reduction in peripheral vascular adaptations (Gregory, 2012).

On the other hand, data retrieved from *HE*alth, *RI*sk factors, exercise *T*raining *And Ge*netics (HERITAGE) Family Study suggest that reduction in blood pressure after exercise may be influenced by genetic factors (Wilmore et al., 2001). With that, several candidate genes for the reduction in blood pressure after exercise had been proposed and among these, the *ACE* gene was initially believed to influence blood pressure response to exercise due to its role in the RAS (Hagberg et al., 2000, Marteau et al., 2005, Dhanachandra Singh et al., 2014).

2.5.4 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism, Isometric Exercise Training, and Blood Pressure

The variation that occurs in the *ACE* gene, which is known as *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, had been proposed to influence blood pressure regulation (Rigat et al., 1990). Moreover, Rigat et al. (1990) reported that the ACE concentration in the RAS was lowest and highest among individuals with *I* and *D* alleles of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, respectively. Therefore, individuals with two copies of *I* allele might have lower resting blood pressure compared to those with two copies of *D* allele as the lower level of ACE decreased the production of ANG II, a potent vasodepressor and aldosterone stimulating peptide, besides activating bradykinin, a potent vasodilator that leads to a drop in blood pressure (Coates, 2003). Hence, given that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism has an important role in blood pressure regulation, blood pressure response to exercise training may vary among individuals with different genotypes of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism.

Besides, a few studies have attempted to investigate the influence of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on blood pressure in response to endurance exercise training (Montgomery et al., 1997, Hagberg et al., 1999, Rankinen et al., 2000a, Zhang et al., 2002, Dengel et al., 2002, Kim, 2009). Furthermore, Hagberg et al. (1999) reported that after 9 months of endurance exercise training at 75 to 85 % of VO₂max, individuals with *I* allele had reduced systolic and diastolic blood pressure more than individuals with *D* allele (systolic: -10 vs. -5 mmHg; diastolic: -10 vs. -1 mmHg). Meanwhile, in a study that involved 64 Japanese with mild to moderate essential hypertension subjects, who were engaged in 10 weeks of exercise therapy on a bicycle

ergometer, the systolic blood pressure, the diastolic blood pressure, and the mean value for arterial pressure significantly decreased in individuals with *II* and *ID* genotypes, but not in those individuals with DD genotype (Zhang et al., 2002). In contrast, a study by Kim (2009) found that adult women with DD genotype had a greater reduction in DBP than those with II and ID genotypes following 12 weeks of combined aerobic and resistance exercise training. Despite the positive finding on the influence of the ACE I/D gene polymorphism in blood pressure, studies by Rankinen et al. (2000a), Montgomery et al. (1997), and Dengel et al. (2002) found that the ACE I/D gene polymorphism did not influence blood pressure in response to 20 weeks of endurance exercise training. Nonetheless, negative finding was also found for dynamic resistance exercise training, where the blood pressure response to a three-month program of dynamic resistance exercise training at 60%, 70%, and 80% of 1-RM, respectively, for each month did not differ for hypertensive women with different ACE I/D genotypes (Mota et al., 2013). The reasons for the discrepancy between these studies are unclear, but might be due to the differences in exercise protocol. For instance, a study by Kim (2009) involved mixed aerobic and resistance exercise training compared with only aerobic training (endurance training) in study by Hagberg et al. (1999).

Despite conflicting findings of the above-mentioned studies, the positive finding obtained for the effects of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on endurance training adaptation raises the possibility that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism might also influence blood pressure response to isometric exercise training. Besides, based on the latest article review on isometric exercise training-induced reductions in resting blood pressure, the role of genetic factors, specifically the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in eliciting hypotension effect following the isometric exercise training, has not been

reported yet (Lawrence et al., 2014). Therefore, future research is warranted to examine the effects of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on blood pressure response to isometric exercise training.

2.6 Research Gaps in the Field

The effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and health remain inconclusive due to inconsistent findings in the current literature (Ma et al., 2013). These inconsistent findings were thought to be related to some potential limitations including insufficient sample size, ethnicity, and disparity data in the current literature (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012, Ma et al., 2013).

The number of participants has been reported as one of the potential limitation in this field (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012). In order to make a concrete conclusion, studies in this field are warranted to have a very large population samples (i.e. more than a few hundred) (Guilherme et al., 2014). This is difficult to overcome because each polymorphism exhibits different frequencies in different populations, indicate that the sample size necessary to detect the effects of particular gene polymorphism can vary according the tested population (Guilherme et al., 2014).

Ethnicity has also been suggested to contribute to inconsistent findings due to lack confirmation in different ethnic population (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012). For instance, with regard to *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, while studies involving Caucasian population reported that possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism influences endurance performance (Hagberg et al., 1999, Kasikcioglu

et al., 2004, Cam et al., 2007), some studies with Asian samples demonstrated that possession of the *ACE I* allele did not appear to influence endurance performance (Zhaoa et al., 2003, Tobina et al., 2010). Based on these findings and previous reports that the distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms vary between different ethnic groups (Barley et al., 1994, Batzer et al., 1994, Batzer et al., 1996, Jayapalan et al., 2008), there is a possibility that the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on physical performance could also vary by ethnicity. Thus, to understand the potential effect of ethnicity factor on *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms, population stratification according to the ethnic background is, therefore, an important issue to consider in this field.

In addition, to the best of author's knowledge, there are limited studies comparing the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on physical performance in Asian population, particularly Malaysian population, to Caucasian population for a comprehensive description concerning the ethnic variation on these polymorphisms. One of the first report on the association between *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism and physical performance was based on a study by Yang et al. (2003) involving Australian Caucasian athletes. In that study, Yang and colleagues observed that elite athletes of endurance sports are predominantly with *X* allele while the *R* allele was found to be over-represented in strength/power athletes (Yang et al., 2003). Based on the study of Yang et al. (2003), it would also be interesting to compare the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on physical performance in Malaysian population to Australian population to determine if similar association exist among Malaysian population as what reported among Australian Caucasian population.

The disproportion in the current literature was also noted as most related articles had been based on Caucasian populations, while there are fewer reports for the Asian population (Ma et al., 2013). Therefore, more studies in other populations, particularly among the Asian population, are required to verify the findings observed in the Caucasian samples.

In addition, although isometric handgrip training has been reported to be more efficient in lowering resting blood pressure compared to other different modes of exercise training (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013), the mechanism by which isometric handgrip training induced reduction in resting blood pressure has remained unknown. Given that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism influenced blood pressure response to endurance training (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 2002, Kim, 2009), there is a possibility that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism might also influence blood pressure response to isometric exercise training. Therefore, future studies are warranted to investigate the effect of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on blood pressure adaptation to isometric exercise training. Thus, in future it may be possible to predict who will likely benefit most from the isometric exercise training for blood pressure management.

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH OVERVIEW

3.1 Introduction

Two of the most extensively investigated genes associated with human physical performance are angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) and alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) genes (Ma et al., 2013). Therefore, the main idea of this thesis had been to provide the evidence gathered from three studies in support of the roles of specific genetic factors represented by angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) I/D and alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and health within the Malaysian population.

A population-based study was carried out in the first study to determine if the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were differed by ethnicity as a standard reference before establishing the effects of these polymorphisms on physical performance within the Malaysian population. Therefore, 180 Asians (99 Malays (55%), 45 Chinese (24.7%), 23 Other Bumiputras (12.9%), and 13 Indians (7.4%)) from Malaysia (70 males, 110 females) aged 20.4 ± 1.6 years, and 180 Caucasians from Australia (62 males, 118 females) aged 23.3 ± 3.6 years, who were sedentary healthy individuals were selected as participants in the first study. A sample of DNA was retrieved via buccal cell from each participant and the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes were then identified through Polymerase Chain Reaction.

The effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and their association with ethnicity within the Malaysian population were examined in the second study. One hundred eighty well-trained Malaysian athletes (148 males, 32 females) aged 20.5 ± 1.9 years, and 180 Malaysian sedentary controls from the first study, involved in the second study. A sample of DNA was retrieved via buccal cell from each participant and the ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X genotypes were then identified through Polymerase Chain Reaction. The endurance performance and muscular strength of Malaysian athletes were evaluated with twenty meters Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 and maximal voluntary contraction tests, respectively. Within the cohort of Malaysian athletes, 34 participants (25 males, 9 females) aged 19.8 \pm 1.9 years were classified as endurance athletes, 41 participants (25 males, 16 females) aged 19.7 ± 1.8 years as strength/power athletes, and 105 participants (99 males, 6 females) aged 21.0 ± 1.8 years as intermittent athlete. In addition, given that a strong association between ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism and physical performance was previously observed in Australian population (Yang et al., 2003), therefore, 33 intermittent athletes (all males) aged 20.7 ± 4.0 years, who were of Caucasian origin, had been recruited from the Australian population for wellmatched comparison-group study to Malaysian population, represents by 33 Malay intermittent athletes (all males) aged 20.8 ± 1.7 years from the intermittent group of Malaysian athletes.

In the final study, an experimental study was conducted to determine the influence of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on training adaptation for health among normotensive men in Malaysia. Thirty normotensive, untrained males (*ACE* genotype: II=10, ID=10, and DD=10), undergone the most common protocol of isometric

handgrip (IHG) training (four sets of 2 minutes isometric contractions at 30% of maximal voluntary contraction, with 1 minute resting interval) 3 days per week for 8 weeks. Cardiovascular and muscular variables were measured on three consecutive days prior to commencing training and after 8 weeks of training, as well as after the initial training session. The criteria of the third study that only men were involved was based on the understanding that regulation of blood pressure in women is affected by the menstrual cycle. Thus, it would be difficult to isolate the influence of genetic makeup on physiological adaptation of isometric handgrip training in this study if women were involved without considering their individual menstrual cycle variation.

The flow chart of the overall research process is illustrated in Figure 3.1. The comprehensive methodologies used in each study are described in detail in the following chapters. The study protocols on Malaysian and Australian samples were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee in Universiti Sains Malaysia (Appendix A) and the Human Research Ethics Committee in University of Sydney, respectively (Appendix B).



Figure 3.1 The general research process

3.2.1 Study 1: Distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphisms in Malaysian and Australian Populations, and Their Association with Ethnicity

The objective of this study was to establish the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population. This study also determined whether the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms differ among ethnic groups.

3.2.2 Study 2: The Effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphisms on Human Physical Performance in the Multi-Ethnic Malaysian Population

The main focus of this study was to examine the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on athletic status and human physical performance in the Malaysian population. This study also determined if the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance differ by ethnicity. The ACE level was reported lower in individuals with two copies of *I* allele (Rigat et al., 1990) and led to a decrease in the conversion of ANG I to ANG II, which resulted in increased delivery of oxygenated blood to the working muscles (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Meanwhile, MacArthur et al. (2007) suggested that the loss of ACTN3 protein via the *X* allele leads to alterations in skeletal muscle metabolism towards more efficient aerobic metabolism. Therefore, possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* and the *X* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene

polymorphisms were hypothesized to affect endurance performance. Meanwhile, based on the findings that the elevation level of the ACE activity in individuals with *D* allele of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism increased the production of ANG II (a potent growth factor in cardiac and vascular tissues) in the skeletal muscle renin-angiotensin system, which is the potential mechanism where muscle cell growth and hypertrophy may be activated (Geisterfer et al., 1998, Kai et al., 1998), and the *R* allele codes for functioning *ACTN3* gene that results in the production of ACTN3 protein (North et al., 1999), possession of the *D* allele of *ACE I/D* and the *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were hypothesized to affect strength/power performance. The effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance were hypothesized to vary between ethnic groups.

3.2.3 Study 3: The Influence of *ACE I/D* Gene Polymorphism on Cardiovascular and Muscular Adaptations to 8 Weeks of Isometric Handgrip Training in a Normotensive Population in Malaysia

This study was designed to examine the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week isometric handgrip training among normotensive men with different *ACE I/D* genotypes. It was hypothesized that cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week isometric handgrip training would vary between the *ACE I/D* genotype groups.

CHAPTER 4

DISTRIBUTIONS OF ACE I/D AND ACTN3 R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS IN MALAYSIAN AND AUSTRALIAN POPULATIONS, AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH ETHNICITY

4.1 Introduction

Performance in sports has been suggested to be influenced by genetic factors (Guilherme et al., 2014). Among the candidate genes studied, the most studied genes related to sports performance have been the angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) and alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) genes (Ma et al., 2013). The ACE I/D gene polymorphism in the ACE gene has been thought to confer a greater advantage in endurance activity due to its role in determining the level of ACE circulation in tissues (Rigat et al., 1990); a main component in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Meanwhile, the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism in the ACTN3 gene has been thought to present an advantage to activities that require short bursts of intense strength and power because it codes for ACTN3 protein (North et al., 1999); a protein found only in the fast-twitch skeletal muscle fibre.

Moreover, research findings on the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance have remained inconsistent (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhaoa et al., 2003, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004, Niemi and Majamaa, 2005, Cam et

al., 2007, Druzhevskaya et al., 2008, Eynon et al., 2009b, Tobina et al., 2010, Kothari et al., 2011, Gineviciene et al., 2011). Most studies involving the Caucasian population reported that possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism influences endurance performance (Hagberg et al., 1999, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004, Cam et al., 2007). Conversely, some studies in the Asian population revealed that possession of the *ACE I* allele did not appear to influence endurance performance, as the endurance performance was significantly higher in those with *ACE D* allele than those with *ACE I* allele (Zhaoa et al., 2003, Tobina et al., 2010). With regard to *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism, studies involving Indian (Kothari et al., 2011), Finnish (Niemi and Majamaa, 2005), Israeli (Eynon et al., 2009b), and Russian (Druzhevskaya et al., 2008) athletes demonstrated that possession of the *ACTN3 R* allele may confer an advantage for strength/power performance. In contrast, Gineviciene et al. (2011) reported that possession of the *ACTN3 R* allele failed to confer any advantage to strength/power performance among Lithuanian athletes.

These contradictory results reported across different ethnicities were apparently consistent with the research findings on the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphisms on the susceptibility to certain diseases (Ishigami et al., 1995, Barley et al., 1996, Staessen et al., 1997, Kunz et al., 1998, Fujisawa et al., 1998, Sagnella et al., 1999, Ng et al., 2005). A previous meta-analysis study carried out by Kunz et al. (1998) demonstrated that *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism contributed to the susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy with a significant association among Asian patients, but not in Caucasian patients. In contrast, a meta-analysis study by Fujisawa et al. (1998) reported that the *ACE I/D* gene

polymorphism was associated with diabetic nephropathy in both Asian and Caucasian populations. Subsequently, in 2005, a study by Ng et al. (2005) in a large population-based sample clearly demonstrated that the association between *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism and diabetic nephropathy was more marked among type 2 diabetic patients in the Asian population than those from the Caucasian population. Ethnic difference in *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was also observed in the susceptibility to hypertension. In a study that involved the Japanese population, *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was not found to be associated with hypertension (Ishigami et al., 1995). In addition, studies concerning Caucasian samples also failed to identify any significant association between *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism and hypertension (Staessen et al., 1997, Sagnella et al., 1999). On the other hand, several studies reported that within the black population, there was a positive relationship between *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism and hypertension (Barley et al., 1996, Sagnella et al., 1999).

The reason for the existence of ethnic variation in the effects of these polymorphisms on physical performance and the susceptibility to certain diseases has remained unknown. The ethnic variation in the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms globally maybe partly responsible for these differences as well (Zilberman-Schapira et al., 2012). Moreover, studies showed that *I* allele frequency of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was more frequent in the healthy Australian Aboriginal population (Lester et al., 1999) and least in European (Tiret et al., 1992). In healthy Caucasian populations, the *I* allele frequency ranged between 0.78 and 0.23, whereas the *D* allele frequency varied between 0.77 and 0.22. However, in healthy Asian populations,

the *I* and the *D* allele frequencies ranged from 0.76 to 0.42 and 0.58 to 0.24, respectively. On top of that, a study by Jayapalan et al. (2008) among different ethnic groups in Malaysia also found a significant difference in the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism between ethnic groups in Malaysia, with the *I* allele tending to be more frequent in the Malay group, while a higher frequency of *D* allele was observed for the Indian group. As for the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism, the highest *R* allele frequency was found in Nigerian (Yang et al., 2007) and the lowest in Indian populations (Kothari et al., 2011). In a healthy Caucasian population, the frequencies of *R* and *X* alleles ranged from 0.61 to 0.50 and 0.50 to 0.39, respectively. Meanwhile, the *R* and *X* alleles frequencies in the healthy Asian population ranged from 0.53 to 0.39 and 0.61 to 0.47, respectively.

To date, the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population have not been well documented. The distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in Malaysia was reported in 2008 (Jayapalan et al., 2008). However, the data retrieved from this previous study (Jayapalan et al., 2008) still need to be validated. In contrast, there has been no report thus far for *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism distribution in the Malaysian population. Besides, it had been necessary to obtain information concerning distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the general population of Malaysia before establishing their effects on physical performance in this population. Since there was ethnic variation in the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms, it would also be interesting to compare the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population to other population for a comprehensive description concerning the ethnic variation on these polymorphisms.

4.2 Aims

The aims of the present study were to (i) establish the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the multi-ethnic Malaysian population, and (ii) investigate ethnic variation on these polymorphisms by comparing the distribution of the data between Malaysian and Australian populations, as well as between four ethnic groups (Malay, Chinese, Indian, and Other Bumiputra) in Malaysia. The distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were hypothesized to vary between ethnic groups.

4.3 Methods and Participants

4.3.1 Study Design

This population-based study utilized two research designs, which were simple and comparative descriptive research designs. Simple descriptive research was employed to obtain information relating to the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population. Meanwhile, the comparative descriptive research was used to compare the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms among the populations.

4.3.2 Participants

The study group consisted of 180 Asians from Malaysia, and 180 Caucasians from Australia, who had provided informed consent to participate in this study. To limit variation due to genetic admixture, participants reported with mixed ancestry within three generations were excluded from this study. The number of participants for this study was based on the sample size calculation using the Power and Sample Size Calculation version 3.1.2 software (Dupont and Plummer, 1990) [Calculated sample size in each group = 164 participants; Research sample size = 164 participants + (164*10% (expected drop out)) = 180 participants]. The power of the study was set at 0.80 with the alpha level of 0.05 and the effect size of 0.25. Participants consent and information details forms were presented in Appendix C.

4.3.2.1 Malaysian population

One hundred and eighty participants from the Malaysian population were sedentary healthy individuals (70 males, 110 females), who reported having a sedentary lifestyle (two or fewer days a week of recreational exercise for less than 30 minutes a day for the preceding three months (Pate et al., 2008)), aged 20.4 ± 1.6 years. They were drawn from four ethnic groups in Malaysia. In order to obtain comprehensive results for the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population, the proportion of participants with different ethnic backgrounds had been set according to the current distribution ratio in Malaysia (Statistic, 2011). Based on the
respective ratio, 99 Malays (55%), 45 Chinese (24.7%), 23 Other Bumiputras (12.9%), and 13 Indians (7.4%) were selected as participants for this study. All study participants were students from several universities in Malaysia.

4.3.2.2 Australian population

In addition, in comparison to the Malaysian population, 180 sedentary healthy individuals of Caucasian origin (62 males, 118 females), who reported having a sedentary lifestyle (two or fewer days a week of recreational exercise for less than 30 minutes a day for the preceding three months (Pate et al., 2008), aged 23.3 ± 3.6 years had been recruited from the Australian population. All the participants were students at the University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.

4.3.3 Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) Sample Collection

After obtaining personal information from the participants, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) samples from each participant were obtained via buccal swab using a sterile swab applicator (Classic Swabs by Copan Flock Technologies, Brescia, Italy). The swabs were air dried and placed in sterile 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes and stored at -20°C until used for DNA isolation.

4.3.4 Genotype Determination

4.3.4.1 DNA Extraction

Genomic DNA was isolated from the swab samples using the GeneAll[®] ExgeneTM Cell SV kit following the manufacturer's protocol (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd, Seoul, South Korea). First, 400 µl of 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS), 20 µl of Proteinase K (20 mg/ml), and 400 μ l of blood lysis buffer were added into the tube with the swab. Immediately, the solutions were mixed with vigorous vortex. After that, the tube was incubated at 56°C for 10 minutes and followed by a short spin to remove any drop from the inside of the lid. Thereafter, 400 μ l of absolute ethanol was added to the lysates and was mixed well via vortex. The tube was subsequently centrifuged briefly and 700 μ l of the mixture was carefully transferred to the SV column. The tube was then centrifuged for 1 minute at 6000 x g above (> 8000 revolutions per minute (rpm)). After discarding the supernatant, the SV column was reinserted into the new collection tube. Afterwards, 600 µl of column wash solution b buffer was added into the tube and was centrifuged for 1 min at $6,000 \times g$ above (> 8000 rpm). After replacing the collection tube with a new one, 700 µl of column wash solution t buffer was added and the tube was centrifuged for 1 min at 6000 x g above (> 8000 rpm). Again, the pass-through was discarded and the SV column was reinserted into the collection tube. The tube was then centrifuged at full speed for 1 minute to remove the residual wash buffer, and the SV column was then placed in a fresh 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. Lastly, 200 μ l of elution buffer was added to the tube to increase the total DNA yield, and followed by an incubation process for 1 minute at room

temperature. The tube was centrifuged at full speed for 1 minute and was stored at -20° C before applying it to molecular analysis.

4.3.4.2 Molecular Analysis for ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was carried out in a final volume of 25 µl consisting of 2.5 µl of 10X standard reaction buffer (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea) (25 mm Mg²⁺, 50 mm Tris-HCl, 50 mm KCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1 mm DTT, 0.5 mm PMSF, and 50% glycerol), 2.0 µl of dNTP mix (200 µm from each dNTP (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP)), 0.8 μm of each primer (forward primer: 5'-5'-CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3': reverse primer: CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3'), 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 2.5 µl of dimethylsulfoxide, 10.8 µl of sterilize distilled water, and 5 µl of genomic DNA (2-8 $ng/\mu l$). The target fragment bearing the ACE I/D gene polymorphism was amplified under the following conditions; 7 minutes at 95°C, followed by 25 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 62°C, and 1 minute at 72°C, with a final step of 7 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 490 base pair (bp) and 190 bp bands indicated the ACE insertion (I) and deletion (D) alleles, respectively. The PCR products for ACE I/D gene polymorphism were confirmed by sequencing (First BASE Laboratories Sdn Bhd, Selangor, Malaysia).

4.3.4.3 Molecular Analysis for ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism

PCR was carried out in a final volume of 25 µl consisting of 2.5 µl of 10X standard reaction buffer (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea) (25 mm Mg²⁺, 50 mm Tris-HCl, 50 mm KCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1 mm DTT, 0.5 mm PMSF, and 50% glycerol), 2.0 µl of dNTP mix (200 µm from each dNTP (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP)), 0.2 µm of each primer (forward primer: 5'-CTGTTGCCTGTGGTAAGTGGG-3': reverse primer: 5'-TGGTCACAGTATGCAGGAGGG-3'), 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 2.5 µl of dimethylsulfoxide, 12.3 µl of sterilize distilled water, and 5 µl of genomic DNA (2-8 ng/ μ l). The target fragment bearing the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism was amplified under the following conditions; 2 minutes at 95°C, followed by 26 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 61.6°C, and 30 seconds at 72°C, with a final step of 5 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 291 bp band indicated the successful amplification of ACTN3 gene. The PCR product was then confirmed by DNA sequencing (First BASE Laboratories Sdn Bhd, Selangor, Malaysia). In order to obtain the genotype of the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism, the amplified PCR product was digested with *Dde*I restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA) in a final volume of 10 µl consisting of 1.0 µl of 10X NEBuffer3 (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA), 1 U of DdeI restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA), and 8.5 µl of amplified PCR product. The reaction mix was incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes and the digestion product was electrophoresed on 2.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 205

bp and 86 bp bands indicated *R* allele, while the presence of 108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp bands indicated *X* allele.

4.4 Statistical Analysis

The descriptive data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Allele frequencies of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were determined by direct counting. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) test was used for genotyping quality control to describe that the genotype distribution of a population is large, self-contained, and randomly mating (Xu et al., 2002). Simple HWE calculator (http://www.koonec.com/wpcontent/uploads/k-blog/HWE.xls.) was used to confirm that the observed *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequencies were in HWE for all groups ((i) Malaysian population (Malay, Chinese, Indian, and Other Bumiputra) and (ii) Australian population (Caucasian)). The chi-square (X²) test was used to examine the difference in allele and genotype frequencies of the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms between the ethnic groups ((i) Malay vs. Chinese vs. Indian vs. Other Bumiputra, and (ii) Malaysian vs. Australian). All statistical evaluations were performed by using the IBM SPSS statistical version 20.0 (Armonk, New York, USA), with the level of significance set at p < 0.050.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium Test

The distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes for all groups had been in agreement with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (p > 0.05) (Appendix D).

4.5.2 The Distribution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism

4.5.2.1 Multi-Ethnic Groups in Malaysia

The distribution of *ACE I/D* genotype in the multi-ethnic population in Malaysia is presented in Figure 4.1. The Malay group had *ACE I/D* genotype frequencies of 0.40, 0.51, and 0.09, for *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes respectively. Meanwhile, in the Chinese group, the frequencies of *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes were 0.29, 0.49, and 0.22, respectively. The frequencies of *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes for Indian and Other Bumiputra groups were 0.08, 0.77, and 0.15, as well as 0.09, 0.65, and 0.26, respectively. The statistical analysis showed that there was a significant difference in the distribution of *ACE I/D* genotype polymorphism between the ethnic groups ($X^2 = 16.828$, df = 6, p = 0.010). The Malay group differed significantly in *ACE I/D* genotype frequency when compared with the Other Bumiputra group ($X^2 = 10.594$, df = 2, p = 0.005), but not to those in the Chinese ($X^2 = 5.174$, df = 2, p = 0.075) and Indian ($X^2 = 5.319$, df = 2, p = 0.070) groups. The Chinese group did not differ significantly in *ACE I/D* genotype frequency when compared with the Indian ($X^2 = 3.542$, df = 2, p = 0.170) and Other Bumiputra ($X^2 = 3.656$, df = 2, p = 0.161) groups. In addition, the Indian group did not differ significantly in *ACE I/D* genotype frequency when compared with the Other Bumiputra group ($X^2 = 0.602$, df = 2, p = 0.740). Among the four ethnic groups, the Malay and Other Bumiputra groups had the highest frequencies of *II* and *DD* genotypes, respectively. In contrast, the distribution of *ACE I/D* allele was not significantly different between Malay (I = 0.66; D = 0.34), Chinese (I = 0.53; D = 0.47), Indian (I = 0.46; D = 0.54), and Others Bumiputra (I = 0.41; D = 0.59) groups ($X^2 = 6.882$, df = 3, p = 0.076).



Figure 4.1 ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in the multi-ethnic groups in Malaysia

Note.

 $p^* = 0.005$ for genotype frequency in Malay group vs. Other Bumiputra group

4.5.2.2 Malaysian and Australian Populations

The distributions of *ACE I/D* genotype in Malaysian and Australian populations are presented in Figure 4.2. In the Malaysian population, the frequencies of *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes were 0.31, 0.54, and 0.15, respectively. Meanwhile, the frequencies of *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes in the Australian population were 0.25, 0.47, and 0.28, respectively. Moreover, the statistical analysis showed that there was a significant difference in the distributions of *ACE I/D* genotype between Malaysian and Australian populations ($X^2 = 9.516$, df = 2, p = 0.009) with the frequencies of the *II* and *ID* genotypes higher among Malaysians compared to Australians. However, the distribution of *ACE I/D* allele were not significantly different between Malaysian (I = 0.58; D = 0.42) and Australian (I = 0.48; D = 0.52) populations ($X^2 = 3.611$, df = 1, p = 0.057).



Figure 4.2 Frequencies of *ACE I/D* genotype in Malaysian and Australian populations

Note.

*p = 0.009 for genotype frequency in Malaysian population vs. Australian population

4.5.3 The Distribution of ACTN R/X Gene Polymorphism

4.5.3.1 Multi-Ethnic Groups in Malaysia

The *ACTN3 R/X* allele and genotype distributions of four ethnic groups in Malaysia are presented in Figure 4.3. The Malay group had *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequencies of 0.23, 0.56, and 0.21, for *RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes respectively. Meanwhile, in the Chinese group, the frequencies of *RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes were 0.29, 0.49, and 0.22, respectively. The frequencies of *RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes for Indian and Other Bumiputra groups were 0.00, 0.69, and 0.31, as well as 0.17, 0.70, and 0.13, respectively. The statistical analysis, however, showed insignificant difference between the ethnic groups with regard to *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency ($X^2 = 6.926$, df = 6, p = 0.328). The distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* allele was also not significantly different between Malay (*R* = 0.51; *X* = 0.49), Chinese (*R* = 0.53; *X* = 0.47), Indian (*R* = 0.35; *X* = 0.65), and Other Bumiputra (*R* = 0.52; *X* = 0.48) groups ($X^2 = 0.9383$, df = 3, p = 0.816).



Figure 4.3 ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies in the multi-ethnic groups in Malaysia

4.5.3.2 Malaysian and Australian Populations

The distributions of *ACTN3 R/X* genotype in Malaysian and Australian populations are shown in Figure 4.4. In the Malaysian population, the frequencies of *RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes were 0.22, 0.57, and 0.21, respectively. Meanwhile, the frequencies of *RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes in the Australian population were 0.24, 0.57, and 0.19, respectively. Nevertheless, there was no significant difference in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequencies between Malaysian and Australian populations ($X^2 = 0.413$, df = 2, p = 0.814). In the Malaysian population, the frequencies of *R* and *X* alleles were 0.51 and 0.49, respectively. Meanwhile, the frequencies of *R* and *X* alleles in the Australian population were 0.53 and 0.47, respectively. The statistical analysis also showed that the difference in *ACTN3 R/X* allele frequency was insignificant between these two populations ($X^2 = 0.1002$, df = 1, p = 0.752).



Figure 4.4 ACTN3 R/X genotype frequencies in Malaysian and Australian populations

4.6 Discussion

This population-based study established the distribution patterns of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the Malaysian population. In order to determine the exact distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in the various populations in Malaysia, the number of participants with different ethnic groups was based on the current distribution ratio of ethnicity in Malaysia (Statistic, 2011), and included Other Bumiputra group, which had not been previously studied. This study was also designed to investigate ethnic variation in the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms by comparing the data from two different populations (Malaysians and Australians), and also between four ethnic groups in Malaysia.

The main finding of this study was that the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism varied by ethnicity, as defined by a significant difference in the distribution of this polymorphism between Malaysian and Australian populations, as well as among the four ethnic groups in Malaysia. In contrast, the present study found that distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism did not vary as much by ethnicity as no significant difference was observed in the distribution of this polymorphism among the ethnic groups.

As expected, a significant ethnic difference was observed in the distribution of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism between Malaysian and Australian populations. The results demonstrated that the *DD* genotype was significantly more frequent in the Australian population (0.28) than in the Malaysian population (0.15). The frequency of the *DD*

genotype in the Australian group was similar to a previous report for the Australian population (Lester et al., 1999, Lea et al., 2005). Meanwhile, the lower frequency of the *DD* genotype observed in the Malaysian population had been consistent with the findings obtained from previous studies conducted among other Asian populations (Saha et al., 1996, Huang et al., 2004, Movva et al., 2007).

The frequencies of *ACE II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes in Malaysian population were 0.31, 0.54 and 0.15, respectively. The results differed slightly from the previous report for the Malaysian population (Jayapalan et al., 2008). In the previous study, the *ACE I/D* genotype frequencies for the Malaysian population were 0.43, 0.43, and 0.14 for *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes, respectively (Jayapalan et al., 2008). The reason for this inconsistent finding may be due to the different sample sizes involved in the study. The sample size for each ethnic group in the present study was based on the current distribution of these groups in Malaysia (Statistic, 2011), which had not been controlled for in the previous study (Jayapalan et al., 2008), thereby providing a more representative distribution of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in the Malaysian population.

Within the Malaysian population, there was also a difference in the distribution of the ACE I/D gene polymorphism. Both Malay and Chinese groups showed to have higher frequency of I allele over the D allele, whereas the D allele appeared to be more prevalent than I allele in Indian and Other Bumiputra groups. The present result differed from the previous Malaysian study carried out by Jayapalan et al. (2008) in terms of allele and genotype frequencies though the similar trend of ethnic variation was observed. I allele frequency was higher in the Malay group (0.66), followed by the Chinese (0.53), Indian (0.46), and the lowest in the Other Bumiputra group (0.41). The distribution pattern of ACE I/D gene polymorphism for the Malay group in the present study was remarkably similar with those in Japanese (Matsubara et al., 2002) and Taiwanese (Chuang et al., 1997) populations. The similar pattern between the Malay group and these populations matched with the Taiwan model, which hypothesised that the Malay group in the Malaysian population originated from the Austronesian group from Taiwan that have been thought to have migrated to the Malaysia Peninsular roughly 3,000 years ago (Comas et al., 1998). On the other hand, the distribution patterns of ACE I/D gene polymorphism for Chinese and Indian groups were slightly similar with the previous reports from populations in China (Saha et al., 1996) and India (Movva et al., 2007), respectively. This is of no surprise as Chinese in Malaysia mostly originated from Southern China while the Indians in Malaysia were mostly immigrants from Southern India (Gan et al., 2013). Nevertheless, there has been no any report on the frequency of ACE I/D gene polymorphism in the Other Bumiputra group, hence, this study had provided the first data set of this ethnic group. The frequency of the *I* allele in the Other Bumiputra group seemed to be among the lowest reported for Asian population, and was similar to that in Caucasian population (Ferrieres et al., 1999, Cam et al., 2005).

Apart from that, Batzer et al. (1994) suggested that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism is of African origin and the current ethnic variation on this polymorphism was due to the migration of modern humans out of Africa. During the migration of human, the frequencies of *ACE I/D* allele and genotype changed due to evolutionary factors, such

as natural selection and gene flow (Batzer et al., 1994). The *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was used as markers in numerous population structure analyses as it has been considered to be a highly stable polymorphism, where there is no mechanism for deletion of this newly inserted element (Stoneking et al., 1997). The *D* allele is known as the ancestral form of this polymorphism, while the *I* allele is the most recent version of this polymorphism (Stoneking et al., 1997). The higher frequency of the *D* allele in a certain ethnic group is, therefore, indicative of the ancestral ethnic origin for this polymorphism (Stoneking et al., 1997). The frequencies of *D* allele observed in the Malaysian (0.42) and Australian (0.52) populations in the present study was relatively lower compared to previously reported of the black population (0.73) by Batzer et al. (1994), which appear to be consistent with this theory. Therefore, the finding of the present study supported the theory that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism is of African origin and the current ethnic variation on this polymorphism was due to the migration of modern humans out of Africa.

With regard to the present data obtained for *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, ethnicity factor plays a significant role for the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, as previously suggested by Barley et al. (1994). These data indicate that the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on human physical performance, as previously reported for the Caucasian population could be different in the Malaysian population.

In addition, with regard to *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism, this is the first study reporting its distribution in the Malaysian population. The distributions of *ACTN3 RR*, *RX*, and *XX* genotypes were 0.22, 0.57, and 0.21, respectively. Meanwhile, the allele

distributions were 0.51 and 0.49 respectively, for *R* and *X* alleles. The allele frequency of *R* allele in the Malaysian population was closely similar to those reported for Indian population (Goel and Mittal, 2007). Moreover, demarcation data analysis of the Malaysian population based on ethnicity showed that the frequency of *R* allele in the Malay was 0.51, which was comparable with the findings obtained from Indian population (Goel and Mittal, 2007). The similar pattern between Malay group and Indian population had been concurrent with the finding retrieved from Comas et al. (1998), who reported that the Malay group in Malaysia are descendants of the Proto-Malays, who had admixed with Siamese, Javanese, Sumatran, Indian, Thai, Arab, and Chinese traders. On the other hand, the present results obtained for the Chinese and the Other Bumiputra groups were markedly similar to the previous report for the Asian population (Clarkson et al., 2005a). Meanwhile, the findings for the Indian group matched with the report by Kothari et al. (2011) for the Indian population.

When the data for the Malaysian population were compared to the Australian population, insignificant difference was observed for the genotype and the allele distributions of ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism between these two populations. These findings are consistent with a previous study carried out by Goel and Mittal (2007), who demonstrated that the frequencies of both alleles and genotypes of ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism in the Asian population had been similar to those of the Caucasian population. Within the Malaysian population, the statistical analysis also indicated insignificant difference in the distribution of this polymorphism between the four ethnic groups in Malaysia. A similar distribution between the Malaysian and the Australian

populations, as well as between the four ethnic groups in Malaysia, indicated that these studied populations may share similar positive selection of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism, as opposed in the previous study (MacArthur et al., 2007). In fact, it had been revealed that the effect of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism on human physical performance previously reported for the Caucasian population may also appear in the Malaysian population.

Despite the positive findings in the present study, the small sample size in certain ethnic groups is of particular relevance for genetic studies that often require sample size may have caused some of the analyses for *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism to lose statistical power. Future studies with larger sample size may render more significant results.

4.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism varies by ethnicity, as defined by a significant difference in the distribution of this polymorphism between Malaysian and Australian populations, as well as between Malay and Other Bumiputra ethnic groups in Malaysia. Conversely, the distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism did not vary by ethnicity. This study suggests that the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on human physical performance may also differ by ethnicity, whilst the effects of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism on human physical performance may also differ by ethnicity, whilst the effects of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism on human populations. The data from this study should, therefore, serve as a basis for the assessment of the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance in the Malaysian population. Therefore, further study is warranted for the assessment of the effects *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within the Malaysian population.

CHAPTER 5

THE EFFECTS OF ACE I/D AND ACTN3 R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS ON HUMAN PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE IN THE MULTI-ETHNIC MALAYSIAN POPULATION

5.1 Introduction

Human physical performance is a complex human trait influenced by both environmental and genetic factors (Yu and Trent, 2010). Compelling evidence from twin studies reveals that genetic factors are more influential than environmental factors in determining human physical performance (Chatterjee and Das, 1995, Calvo et al., 2002, Maridaki, 2006, Alonso et al., 2014). Over the past several decades, several genetic variants have been identified to be related to human physical performance (Rankinen et al., 2001, Rankinen et al., 2002, Rankinen et al., 2004, Wolfarth et al., 2005, Rankinen et al., 2006, Bray et al., 2009, Loos et al., 2015) and among these, two genetic variants that have been most widely studied for human physical performance are angiotensin I-converting enzyme (*ACE*) *I/D* and alpha-actinin-3 (*ACTN3*) *R/X* gene polymorphisms (Ma et al., 2013).

ACE I/D gene polymorphism is responsible for the level of circulating and tissue ACE protein (Rigat et al., 1990), which is the main component of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). ACE protein converts angiotensin I (ANG I) to angiotensin II (ANG II), which is a potent vasoconstrictor, and degrade bradykinin, which is a potent vasodilator (Coates, 2003). *I* allele of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism produces less ACE protein compared to the *D* allele of this polymorphism (Rigat et al., 1990). The lower production of ACE protein decreases the conversion of ANG I to ANG II resulting in increased vasodilation and an increased delivery of oxygenated blood to the working muscles (Jones and Woods, 2003, Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). On the contrary, greater production of ACE protein increases the production of ANG II, which also acts as a muscle growth factor, resulting in increased muscle strength (Jones and Woods, 2003, Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Given these different physiological characteristics, possession of the *ACE I* and *D* alleles may confer advantages for endurance and strength/power events, respectively.

ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism codes for ACTN3 protein (North et al., 1999) which is one of the components of the Z disk of fast-twitch skeletal muscle fibre (Mills et al., 2001). While *R* allele of ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism produces ACTN3 protein, *X* allele prevents the production of ACTN3 protein (North et al., 1999). The presence of ACTN3 protein gives static and stable function in maintaining the ordered myofibrillar array with greater coordination to aid generation of high muscle power and velocity during movements (Mills et al., 2001). Meanwhile, the lack of ACTN3 protein has resulted in alterations of skeletal muscle metabolism, explicit to aerobic metabolism (MacArthur et al., 2007). On the basis of the physiological function, possession of the *ACTN3 R* and *X* alleles may grant beneficial effects for strength/power and endurance activities, respectively.

The effects of possession of the *ACE I* and *ACTN3 X* alleles on endurance performance have been investigated in several case-control studies, with both alleles observed to be more prevalent among endurance-oriented athletes compared to other athletes or controls (Myerson et al., 1999, Nazarov et al., 2001, Tsianos et al., 2004b, Mayne, 2006, Ahmetov et al., 2008b, Min et al., 2009, Eynon et al., 2009b, Shang et al., 2010). In accordance with the findings from case-control studies, reports of several crosssectional studies demonstrated that individuals with *ACE I* and *ACTN3 X* alleles exhibited higher endurance performance-related phenotype scores than those with *ACE D* and *ACTN3 R* alleles (Hagberg et al., 2002, Zhang et al., 2009, Ahmetov et al., 2011).

With regard to the effect of possession of the *ACE D* and *ACTN3 R* alleles on strength/power performance, several case-control studies reported that these two alleles are more frequently found in strength/power-oriented athletes compared to other athletes or controls (Nazarov et al., 2001, Yang et al., 2003, Niemi and Majamaa, 2005, Mayne, 2006, Costa et al., 2009b, Eynon et al., 2009b, Kothari et al., 2011, Kikuchi et al., 2012). Additionally, several cross-sectional studies showed that carriers of the *ACE D* and *ACTN3 R* alleles present greater levels of strength/power performance-related phenotype than *ACE I* and *ACTN3 X* alleles carriers (Clarkson et al., 2005a, Williams et al., 2005, Moran et al., 2006b, Vincent et al., 2007, Charbonneau, 2007, Giaccaglia et al., 2008, Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010, Shang et al., 2012, Ahmetov et al., 2013, Erskine et al., 2014).

The effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance, however, remain ambiguous as some studies failed to replicate the results of others (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhaoa et al., 2003, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004, Clarkson et al., 2005a, Cam et al., 2007, Tobina et al., 2010, Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010). For instance, studies involving Caucasian athletes revealed that individuals with ACE II genotype had higher maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max) than other genotype carriers (Hagberg et al., 1999, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004). On the other hand, a study by Zhaoa et al. (2003) among an Asian population found that VO₂max value was higher in ACE DD genotype carriers compared to those with other ACE I/D genotypes. Furthermore, Cam et al. (2007) demonstrated that Caucasian athletes with ACE II genotype presented better endurance performance than other genotype carriers while in a study involving Japanese runners, the endurance performance was significantly higher in those with ACE DD genotype (Tobina et al., 2010). In a study among an Asian population, individuals with ACTN3 R allele exhibited a greater strength/power performance following resistance training than those with ACTN3 X allele (Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010). Nevertheless, a study by Clarkson et al. (2005a) among Caucasian samples reported that individuals with ACTN3 X allele scored higher in strength/power performance following resistance training when compared to ACTN3 R allele carriers. These findings demonstrate that the influences of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance remain controversial and more importantly, suggest the potential ethnic variation in the effects of these polymorphisms on human physical performance.

The effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance across different ethnic groups have yet to be largely examined. To date, the study by Ma et al. (2013) reported insufficient data among Asian populations. The findings from the first study of this research project showed that the distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism varied between the Malaysian and Australian populations. Therefore, there is a possibility that the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on human physical performance in the Malaysian population would be different from Caucasian population. On the other hand, in the first study, the distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism was similar between Malaysian and Australian populations, which indicate that the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism may confer similar effects on human physical performance between these two populations.

5.2 Aims

This study was designed to examine the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on athletic status and human physical performance in the Malaysian population. This study also determined if the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance differ by ethnicity. Possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* and *X* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were hypothesized to affect endurance performance. Meanwhile, possession of the *D* allele of *ACE I/D* and *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were hypothesized to affect strength/power performance. It was also hypothesized that the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance will differ between ethnic groups.

5.3 Methods and Participants

5.3.1 Study Design

This study employed two different approaches to demonstrate the relevance of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance. One of the approaches was through case-control study in which the allele and genotype frequencies of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were compared between: (i) the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population, (ii) multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population, (iii) endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population, and (iv) Malay intermittent athletes and Australian intermittent athletes. The second approach was through cross-sectional study, in which endurance and strength/power performances were compared to different genotype groups of Malaysian athletes. The study protocols on Malaysian and Australian samples were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee in Universiti Sains Malaysia (Appendix A) and the Human Research Ethics Committee in University of Sydney, respectively (Appendix B).

5.3.2 Participants

The participants were drawn from two different populations; a population of Asian (n=360) and Caucasian (n=33) living in Malaysia and Australia, respectively. Participants who reported having mixed ancestry within three generations were excluded from this

study. The number of participants for this study was based on the sample size calculation using Power and Sample Size Calculation version 3.1.2 software (Dupont and Plummer, 1990). The power of the study was set at 0.80 with 95% of confidence interval and the effect size of 0.25. Participants consent and information details forms were presented in Appendix C.

5.3.2.1 Malaysian Population

The study participants for Malaysian population comprised of 180 university athletes (148 male, 32 female) aged 20.5 ± 1.9 (mean \pm SD) years and 180 sedentary healthy individuals (70 male, 110 female) aged 20.4 ± 1.6 years. All participants were students from several universities in Malaysia. The proportion of participants with different ethnic backgrounds had been set according to the current distribution ratio in Malaysia (Statistic, 2011). Based on the respective ratio and to ensure there was no ethnicity skew and to overcome any potential problems of population stratification, both athletes and control groups have same number of samples for each ethnic group with 99 Malays (55%), 45 Chinese (24.7%), 23 Other Bumiputras (12.9%), and 13 Indians (7.4%) in each group. All sedentary individuals reported of having sedentary lifestyle (two or fewer days a week of recreational exercise for less than 30 minutes a day for the preceding three months (Pate et al., 2008)). The athletes were trained for at least one year and represent the university in national sporting competition. Within the cohort of athletes, 34 participants (25 male, 9 female) aged 19.8 \pm 1.9 years were classified as endurance athletes, 41 participants (25 male, 16 female) aged 19.7 ± 1.8 years as strength/power athletes, and 105 participants (99 male, 6 female) aged 21.0 ± 1.8 years as intermittent athletes according to the type of exercise metabolism that predominates in the discipline they practice, time of competitive exercise performance and intensity of exertion in each sport using the classification described by Maciejewska-Karlowska et al. (2013) (Appendix E). Thirty three Malay intermittent athletes (all males) aged 20.8 ± 1.7 years in the intermittent group were randomly selected for well-matched comparison-group study to Australian population.

5.3.2.2 Australian Population

In addition, 33 intermittent athletes (all males) aged 20.7 ± 4.0 years, who were of Caucasian origin and trained for at least one year and represent the university in national sporting competition, had been recruited from the Australian population. All the participants in the Australian population were students at the University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.

5.3.3 Anthropometric Measurements

Anthropometric measurements were collected from participants in the Malaysian population. Participant's body height was measured using a portable stadiometer (Seca 213, Seca Corporation, USA). Meanwhile, participant's body weight, body mass index, and body fat, were measured using an Omron KARADA Scan Body Composition & Scale (HBF-362, Omron Corporation, Japan).

5.3.4 Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) Sample Collection

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sample from each participant was obtained via buccal swab using a sterile swab applicator (Classic Swabs by Copan Flock Technologies, Brescia, Italy). The swabs were air dried and placed in sterile 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes and stored at -20°C until used for DNA isolation.

5.3.5 Genotype Determination

5.3.5.1 DNA Extraction

Genomic DNA was isolated from the swab samples using the GeneAll[®] ExgeneTM Cell SV kit following the manufacturer's protocol (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea). First, 400 µl of 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS), 20 µl of Proteinase K (20 mg/ml), and 400 µl of blood lysis buffer were added into the tube with the swab. Immediately, the solutions were mixed with vigorous vortex. After that, the tube was incubated at 56°C for 10 minutes and followed by a short spin to remove any drop from the inside of the lid. Thereafter, 400 µl of absolute ethanol was added to the lysates and was mixed well via vortex. The tube was subsequently centrifuged briefly and 700 µl of the mixture was carefully transferred to the SV column. The tube was then centrifuged for 1 minute at 6000 x g above (> 8000 revolutions per minute (rpm)). After discarding the supernatant, the SV column was reinserted into the new collection tube. Afterwards, 600 µl of column wash solution b buffer was added into the tube and was centrifuged for 1

min at 6,000 x g above (> 8000 rpm). After replacing the collection tube with a new one, 700 μ l of column wash solution t buffer was added and the tube was centrifuged for 1 min at 6000 x g above (> 8000 rpm). Again, the pass-through was discarded and the SV column was reinserted into the collection tube. The tube was then centrifuged at full speed for 1 minute to remove the residual wash buffer, and the SV column was then placed in a fresh 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. Lastly, 200 μ l of elution buffer was added to the tube to increase the total DNA yield, and followed by an incubation process for 1 minute at room temperature. The tube was centrifuged at full speed for 1 minute and was stored at -20⁰C before applying it to molecular analysis.

5.3.5.2 Molecular Analysis for ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was carried out in a final volume of 25 μ l consisting of 2.5 µl of 10X standard reaction buffer (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea) (25 mm Mg²⁺, 50 mm Tris-HCl, 50 mm KCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1 mm DTT, 0.5 mm PMSF, and 50% glycerol), 2.0 µl of dNTP mix (200 µm from each dNTP (dATP, dCTP, dGTP. of (forward 5'and dTTP)), 0.8 μm each primer primer: 5'-CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3': reverse primer: CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3'), 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 2.5 µl of dimethylsulfoxide, 10.8 µl of sterilize distilled water, and 5 µl of genomic DNA (2-8 $ng/\mu l$). The target fragment bearing the ACE I/D gene polymorphism was amplified under the following conditions; 7 minutes at 95°C, followed by 25 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 62°C, and 1 minute at 72°C, with a final step of 7 minutes at 72°C. The

amplified products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 490 base pair (bp) and 190 bp bands indicated the *ACE* insertion (*I*) and deletion (*D*) alleles, respectively. The PCR products for *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism were confirmed by sequencing (First BASE Laboratories Sdn Bhd, Selangor, Malaysia).

5.3.5.3 Molecular Analysis for ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism

PCR was carried out in a final volume of 25 µl consisting of 2.5 µl of 10X standard reaction buffer (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea) (25 mm Mg²⁺, 50 mm Tris-HCl, 50 mm KCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1 mm DTT, 0.5 mm PMSF, and 50% glycerol), 2.0 µl of dNTP mix (200 µm from each dNTP (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP)), 0.2 µm of each primer (forward primer: 5'-CTGTTGCCTGTGGTAAGTGGG-3': reverse primer: 5'-TGGTCACAGTATGCAGGAGGG-3'), 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 2.5 μ l of dimethylsulfoxide, 12.3 μ l of sterilize distilled water, and 5 μ l of genomic DNA (2-8 ng/ μ l). The target fragment bearing the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism was amplified under the following conditions; 2 minutes at 95°C, followed by 26 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 61.6°C, and 30 seconds at 72°C, with a final step of 5 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 291 bp band indicated the successful amplification of ACTN3 gene. The PCR product was then confirmed by DNA sequencing (First BASE Laboratories Sdn Bhd, Selangor, Malaysia). In order to obtain the genotype of the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism, the amplified PCR product was digested with *Dde*I restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA) in a final volume of 10 μ l consisting of 1.0 μ l of 10X NEBuffer3 (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA), 1 U of of *Dde*I restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA, USA), and 8.5 μ l of amplified PCR product. The reaction mix was incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes and the digestion product was electrophoresed on 2.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 205 bp and 86 bp bands is an indication for *R* allele while the presence of 108 bp, 97 bp, and 86 bp bands is an indication for *X* allele.

5.3.6 Physical Tests

Subsequent to DNA sampling, three physical tests (Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2, handgrip and leg strength tests) were administered to the Malaysian varsity athletes in order to determine their endurance and strength/power performances. The selection of the type of physical test used in this study was governed by the reason that the selected physical tests were valid and reliable for testing endurance and strength/power performances of the athletes. In addition, a study by Karakoc et al. (2012) found that Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 is more suitable for testing endurance performances of the athletes over the other tests such as Yo-Yo endurance test (continuous) (YET). Meanwhile, the handgrip and leg strength tests are often used in physical fitness measures because of its ease of administration (Coldwells et al., 1994, Amaral et al., 2012). The validity and reliability of the each of the physical tests mentioned above have been

previously reviewed (handgrip strength (Anumula et al., 2014), leg strength (Coldwells et al., 1994), and Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 (Krustrup et al., 2003) tests).

5.3.6.1 Yo-Yo Intermittent Recovery Level 2 Test

Before the test began, participants were fitted with a Polar transmitter belt (T61, Polar Electro Oy, Finland) onto their chest. In this test, the athletes started out shuttling from one end of the marked course to the other at a relatively slow pace and then quickly ramped up their speed according to the pace set by the recorded beeps. In each bout of intense running, they performed 10 seconds of active recovery and then returned to the start/finish line to await the cue for the next stage. Athletes were verbally encouraged during the test. A warning was given when they did not complete a successful out and back shuttle within the allocated time. Their maximum heart rate achieved immediately after running was recorded. The last speed level and number of shuttles reached before they received a second warning or voluntarily withdrew from the test was recorded as the score for the test. The endurance capacity of the athlete was computed by converting the score to the total distance covered using standard norm for Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 test. In addition, to ensure that the athletes had given their maximum efforts during test, their heart rate achieved after running must be within 10 beats per minute (bpm) of their agepredicted maximum heart rate (Krustrup et al., 2003) (Athlete that did not achieve agepredicted maximum heart rate were excluded from the study). The procedure of the Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 was consistent to the earlier method published by Bangsbo et al. (2008).

5.3.6.2 Handgrip Strength Test

The handgrip test was performed on a hand dynamometer (Takei A5401, Takei Scientific Instruments Co. Ltd., Japan) to determine an athlete's isometric handgrip strength. A procedure of measuring handgrip standard strength (kg) using а hand dynamometer followed the procedure described by Tomchuk (2011). The dynamometer was calibrated according to manufacturer's instruction, by hanging calibration weights across the handle of the dynamometer that fixed on a wooden support. The athletes held the dynamometer in the dominant hand (self-reported by the athletes), with the arm at right angles and the elbow by the side of the body. The handle of the dynamometer was adjusted if required. Prior to the start of the test, the dial on the dynamometer was reset to zero. When ready, the athletes squeezed the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which was maintained for about 5 seconds. Athletes were verbally encouraged during the test. The athlete performed the test three times with 10 to 20 seconds rest interval, and the average score was used for data analysis.

5.3.6.3 Leg Strength Test

Isometric leg strength (kg) was measured using a back and leg dynamometer (Takei A5402, Takei Scientific Instruments Co. Ltd., Japan). The procedure for this test followed the procedure described by Ashok (2008). The dynamometer was calibrated according to manufacturer's instruction by using calibration weights. Prior to the start of the test, the dial on the dynamometer was reset to zero. The athletes stood upright with

both feet on the base of the dynamometer. The chain length was adjusted until the athlete's knees were bent around 110 degrees. In this position, the athletes pulled the handle bar as hard as possible for 5 seconds, with the athletes were verbally encouraged during the test. The maximum reading indicated on the dynamometer was recorded. Each athlete performed the test three times with a pause of about 10 to 20 seconds between each trial and the average score was analysed for isometric leg strength.

5.4 Statistical Analysis

The descriptive data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The independent ttest was used to compare the means of two independent samples. Allele frequencies of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms were determined by direct counting. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) test was used for genotyping quality control to describe that the genotype distribution of a population is large, self-contained, and randomly mating (Xu et al., 2002). As HWE may be violated in athletes without being caused by genotyping errors (Wittke-Thompson et al., 2005, Attia et al., 2009), the HWE test was tested for the control group in the Malaysian population. Simple HWE calculator (http://www.koonec.com/wp-content/uploads/k-blog/HWE.xls.) was used to confirm that the observed *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequencies were in HWE. The multivariate analysis was used to examine the association between ethnicity and studied polymorphisms factors on performance measured in this study (the Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance, handgrip and leg strength). The chi-square (X²) test was used to examine the difference in the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* allele and genotype
frequencies between the groups: (i) the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population, (ii) multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population, (iii) endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population, and (iv) Malay intermittent athletes and Australian intermittent athletes. The mean of the anthropometric data among the athlete group and the mean of the Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2, handgrip strength and leg strength scores among the genotype groups were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test when appropriate. All statistical evaluations were performed using the IBM SPSS statistical version 20.0, (Armonk, New York, USA), with the level of significance set at p < 0.050.

5.5.1 Physical Characteristics of Participants

5.5.1.1 The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the Malaysian Population

Table 5.1 shows the descriptive statistics for the physical characteristics of the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population. There were significant differences in all variables between these two groups, with controls having lower mean values for height (t(358) = 8.649, p < 0.001), body weight (t(358) = 7.882, p < 0.001), and body mass index (t(358) = 4.098, p < 0.001) compared to athletes. Conversely, the mean value of body fat was higher in controls than in athletes (t(358) = -4.244, p < 0.001).

population			5
Variables	Athletes (n=180)	Controls (n=180)	p value
Height (cm)	$168.8 \pm 9.1*$	160.7 ± 8.9	< 0.001
Body Weight (kg)	$67.5 \pm 13.6^{*}$	56.3 ± 12.4	< 0.001
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	$23.6 \pm 4.0*$	21.8 ± 3.8	< 0.001
Body Fat (%)	$18.6 \pm 6.3^{*}$	21.5 ± 7.7	< 0.001

Table 5.1 Physical characteristics of athletes and controls in the Malavsian

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to controls (p < 0.001)

5.5.1.2 Endurance, Strength/Power, and Intermittent Athletes in the Malaysian Population

Physical characteristics of endurance, strength/power and intermittent athletes in the Malaysian population were presented in Table 5.2. All athletes were similar in body mass index (F(2, 177) = 2.894, p = 0.058) and body fat (F(2, 177) = 0.635, p = 0.531). There were significant differences in height (F(2, 177) = 9,492, p < 0.001) and body weight (F(2, 177) = 6.027, p = 0.003) between the athlete groups. Post hoc tests using the Bonferroni correction revealed that the mean values of height and body weight were significantly lower in the strength/power group when compared to the intermittent group (Height: p < 0.001, Body weight: p = 0.001), though it was not significantly different with the values among endurance group (Height: p = 0.056, Body weight: p = 0.940).

Table 5.2Physical characteristics of endurance, strength/power and intermittent
athletes in the Malaysian population

Variables	Endurance	Strength/Power	Intermittent	p value
	(n=34)	(n=41)	(n=105)	
Height (cm)	168.5 ± 9.8	$163.7 \pm 10.4*$	170.8 ± 7.9	< 0.001
Body Weight (kg)	$63.6 \pm$	$62.5 \pm 9.2^{\#}$	70.0 ± 13.4	0.003
	17.0			
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	22.1 ± 4.1	23.2 ± 3.0	24.0 ± 4.3	0.058
Body Fat (%)	18.6 ± 6.1	19.6 ± 7.3	18.7 ± 6.4	0.531
3.7				

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to intermittent athletes (p < 0.001)

[#]Significantly different compared to intermittent athletes (p = 0.001)

Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance and leg strength value in athletes from different sporting disciplines were presented in Table 5.3. Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance differed significantly among athletes from the three different sporting disciplines (F(2, 177) = 4.340, p = 0.014), with the endurance athletes had significantly higher performance scores than the strength/power (p = 0.021) and intermittent athletes (p = 0.029). Handgrip strength differed significantly among athletes from the three different sporting disciplines (F(2, 177) = 3.994, p = 0.020), with the intermittent athletes had significantly higher values of handgrip strength than the strength/power athletes (p = 0.025), but not significantly different compared to endurance athletes (p = 0.336). There was no significant difference was observed for the leg strength value among the sporting groups (F(2, 177) = 0.538, p = 0.506).

Variables Strength/Power Intermittent Endurance р (n=34)(n=41)(n=105)value Yo-Yo intermittent $320.8 \pm$ $340.8 \pm$ recovery level 2 429.4 ± 203.8 0.014 197.5* 148.7** performance (m) Handgrip Strength $40.8 \pm 9.2^{\#}$ 0.020 37.7 ± 9.8 36.1 ± 10.2 (kg) Leg Strength (kg) 108.9 ± 41.2 105.6 ± 28.2 112.3 ± 33.5 0.506

Table 5.3Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance and leg strength value in
athletes from different sporting disciplines in the Malaysian population

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to endurance athletes (p = 0.021)

**Significantly different compared to endurance athletes (p = 0.029)

[#]Significantly different compared to strength/power athletes (p = 0.025)

5.5.2 The Distribution of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism

5.5.2.1 Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium

ACE I/D genotype distribution for the control group in the Malaysian population was in agreement with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (p > 0.050) (Appendix D).

5.5.2.2 The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the Malaysian Population

The allele and genotype frequencies of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population are presented in Figure 5.1. The *ACE I/D* allele frequency in the whole cohort of athletes was significantly different from the whole cohort of controls ($X^2 = 18.776$, df = 1, p < 0.001) with the athletes had a lower frequency of *I* allele and higher frequency of *D* allele than controls. There was also a significant difference in *ACE I/D* genotype frequency between athletes and controls ($X^2 =$ 44.070, df = 2, p < 0.001). The athletes had a lower frequency of *II* and *ID* genotypes than in controls. On the contrary, the frequency of *DD* genotype was significantly higher in athletes than controls.



Figure 5.1 ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population

<u>Note.</u> *p < 0.001 for allele and genotype frequencies in athletes vs. controls

5.5.2.3 Multi-Ethnic Groups of Athletes and Controls in the Malaysian Population

The allele and genotype frequencies of ACE I/D gene polymorphism among multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population are presented in Figure 5.2. Within athlete group, the distribution of ACE I/D genotype was not significantly different between the ethnic groups ($X^2 = 9.532$, df = 6, p = 0.146). The distribution of ACE I/D allele was also not significantly different between the ethnic groups ($X^2 = 5.1082$, df = 3, p = 0.164). Malay athletes differed from Malay controls in their allele (X² = 26.248, df = 1, p < 0.001) and genotype (X² = 49.350, df = 2, p < 0.001) frequencies, with Malay athletes had a higher frequency of D allele and DD genotype than in Malay controls. Chinese athletes did not differ from Chinese controls in their ACE I/D allele ($X^2 = 0.400$, df = 1, p = 0.527) and genotype (X² = 3.139, df = 2, p = 0.208) distributions. Similarly, Indian athletes did not differ from Indian controls in their ACE I/D allele ($X^2 = 0.65$, df = 1, p = 0.420) and genotype (X² = 4.444, df = 2, p = 0.108) frequencies. There were also insignificant differences in ACE I/D allele ($X^2 = 0$, df = 1, p = 1) and genotype ($X^2 = 0.012$, df = 2, p = 0.222) distributions between athletes and controls within Other Bumiputra group.

2.00								
1.80								
1.60								
1.40								
2 1.20								
Ine 1.00								
Ju 0.80	-							
0.60	_							
0.40	_							
0.20	_							
0.00							0.1	01
	Malay	Malay	Chinese	Chinese	Indian	Indian	Other Bumiputra	Other Bumiputra
	Athletes	Controls	Athletes	Controls	Athletes	Controls	Athletes	Controls
	(n=99)	(n=99)	(n=45)	(n=45)	(n=13)	(n=13)	(n=23)	(n=23)
ACE I/D Allele I	0.29*	0.66	0.46	0.53	0.27	0.46	0.41	0.41
ACE I/D Allele D	0.71*	0.34	0.54	0.47	0.73	0.54	0.59	0.59
ACE I/D Genotype II	0.12*	0.40	0.29	0.29	0.08	0.08	0.17	0.09
ACE I/D Genotype ID	0.34*	0.51	0.33	0.49	0.38	0.77	0.48	0.65
ACE I/D Genotype DD	0.54*	0.09	0.38	0.22	0.54	0.15	0.35	0.26

Figure 5.2 ACE I/D allele and genotype frequencies in multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population

<u>Note.</u> p < 0.001 for allele and genotype frequencies in Malay athletes vs. Malay controls

5.5.2.4 Endurance Athletes, Strength/Power Athletes, Intermittent Athletes, and Controls in the Malaysian Population

Considering the opposing effects of possession of the *I* and *D* alleles on particular sporting disciplines, the *ACE I/D* allele and genotype frequencies were compared between endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population as shown in Figure 5.3. The *ACE I/D* allele ($X^2 = 28.71$, df = 3, p < 0.001) and genotype ($X^2 = 63.354$, df = 6, p < 0.001) frequencies differed significantly across the four groups.

The endurance athletes differed significantly in *ACE I/D* allele and genotype frequencies when compared with the strength/power ($X^2 = 10.671$, df = 1, p = 0.001 for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 16.558$, df = 2, p < 0.001 for genotype frequency) and intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 5.0097$, df = 1, p = 0.025 for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 9.919$, df = 2, p = 0.007 for genotype frequency), but not to those in controls ($X^2 = 0.042$, df = 1, p = 0.836 for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 4.808$, df = 2, p = 0.090 for genotype frequency).

The strength/power athletes differed significantly in *ACE I/D* allele and genotype frequencies when compared with the controls ($X^2 = 19.5623$, df = 1, p < 0.001 for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 48.132$, df = 2, p < 0.001 for genotype frequency), but not to those in intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 3.0566$, df = 1, p = 0.08 for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 5.103$, df = 2, p = 0.078 for genotype frequency). Meanwhile, the intermittent athletes differed significantly in *ACE I/D* allele and genotype frequencies when compared with the controls

 $(X^2 = 14.6438, df = 1, p < 0.001$ for allele frequency, and $X^2 = 35.308, df = 2, p < 0.001$ for genotype frequency). Among the four groups, the endurance athletes had the highest frequencies of *II* genotype, whilst, the strength/power athletes showed the highest frequencies of *DD* genotype.



Figure 5.3 *ACE I/D* allele and genotype frequencies among endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population

Note.

 $^{a}p = 0.001$ for allele frequency, and p < 0.001 for genotype frequency in endurance athletes vs. strength/power athletes

 $^{b}p = 0.025$ for allele frequency, and p = 0.007 for genotype frequency in endurance athletes vs. intermittent athletes

 $^{c}p < 0.001$ for allele and genotype frequencies in strength/power athletes vs. controls

^dp < 0.001 for allele and genotype frequencies in intermittent athletes vs. controls

5.5.2.5 Malay and Caucasian Intermittent Athletes

The genotype frequency of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism among Malay intermittent athletes and Caucasian intermittent athletes are shown in Figure 5.4. There was a significant difference in genotype frequency between Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 8.471$, df = 2, p = 0.014) with the frequency of the *DD* genotype in Malay intermittent athletes significantly higher than in Caucasian intermittent athletes, respectively. However, allele frequency of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism amongst the Malay intermittent athletes (I = 0.46; D = 0.54) was not significantly different from that amongst the Caucasian intermittent athletes (I = 0.56; D = 0.44) ($X^2 = 0.546$, df = 1, p = 0.460).

5.5.3 Interaction between Ethnicity and ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism on Endurance and Strength/Power Performances

There was no significant interaction between ethnicity and *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance (F(2, 174) = 0.651, p = 0.523), handgrip strength (F(2, 174) = 0.716, p = 0.490) and leg strength (F(2, 174) = 0.414, p = 0.662).



Figure 5.4 ACE I/D genotype frequency in Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes

Note.

p = 0.014 for genotype frequency in Malay intermittent athletes vs. Caucasian intermittent athletes

5.5.4 Effects of *ACE I/D* Gene Polymorphism on Endurance and Strength/Power Performances in the Malaysian Population

5.5.4.1 *ACE I/D* Gene Polymorphism and Endurance Performance in the Malaysian Population

The Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performances among athletes with different *ACE I/D* genotypes are presented in Table 5.4. The performance of Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 was similar among athletes with different *ACE I/D* genotypes (F(2, 177) = 0.006, p = 0.994).

5.5.4.2 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power Performance (Handgrip Strength) in the Malaysian Population

The mean value of handgrip strength among athletes with different *ACE I/D* genotypes is presented in Table 5.4. There was no significant difference in handgrip strength across the genotype groups (F(2, 177) = 1.818, p = 0.165).

Variables	<i>II</i> genotype	<i>ID</i> genotype	DD genotype	p voluo
	value in athletes with different A	<i>CE I/D</i> genotypes		
Table 5.4	Yo-Yo intermittent recovery lev	el 2 performance	and handgrip	strength

Variables	(n=30)	(n=65)	(n=85)	value
Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance (m)	350.7 ± 203.9	354.7 ± 170.2	352.5 ± 170.0	0.994
Handgrip strength (kg)	36.1 ± 8.5	39.5 ± 9.9	39.9 ± 9.9	0.165
Note.				

Data shown as mean \pm SD

5.5.4.3 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism with Strength/Power Performance (Leg Strength) in the Malaysian Population

The mean values of leg strength among athletes with different *ACE I/D* genotypes are shown in Figure 5.5. There is a significant difference in leg strength across the genotype groups (F(2, 177) = 3.122, p = 0.047). Post hoc tests using the Bonferroni correction revealed that leg strength was significantly higher in the *DD* genotype group (113.8 ± 36.2) when compared to the *II* genotype group (96.2 ± 28.0) (p = 0.048), though it was not significantly different with the values among *ID* genotype group (112.2 ± 33.5) (p = 0.104).



Figure 5.5 The mean value of leg strength in athletes with different *ACE I/D* genotypes in the Malaysian population

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to II genotype (p = 0.048)

5.5.5 The Distribution of ACTN R/X Gene Polymorphism

5.5.5.1 Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium

ACTN3 R/X genotype distribution for the control group in the Malaysian population was in agreement with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (p > 0.050) (Appendix D).

5.5.5.2 The Whole Cohort of Athletes and Controls in the Malaysian Population

The allele and genotype frequencies of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population are presented in Figure 5.6. The frequency of *ACTN3 R/X* allele frequency in the whole cohort of athletes (R = 0.59; X = 0.41) was not significantly different from that the whole cohort of controls (R = 0.51; X = 0.49) ($X^2 = 2.1998$, df = 1, p = 0.138). However, there is a significant difference in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency between athletes and controls ($X^2 = 11.111$, df = 2, p = 0.004) with the athletes had a higher frequency of *RR* genotype and lower frequencies of *RX* and XX genotypes compared to controls.



Figure 5.6 *ACTN3 R/X* allele and genotype frequencies in the whole cohort of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population

Note.

*p = 0.004 for genotype frequency in athletes vs. controls

5.5.5.3 Multi-Ethnic Groups of Athletes and Controls in the Malaysian Population

The allele and genotype frequencies of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism in the multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population are presented in Figure 5.7. Within athlete group, the distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* genotype was not significantly different between the ethnic groups ($X^2 = 6.642$, df = 6, p = 0.355). The distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* allele was also not significantly different between the ethnic groups ($X^2 = 1.541$, df = 3, p = 0.672).

Malay athletes differed from Malay controls in their *ACTN3 R/X* genotype ($X^2 = 49.350$, df = 2, p < 0.001) frequency with Malay athletes had a higher frequency of *RR* genotype than in Malay controls. However, allele frequency was similar between the Malay athletes and their controls ($X^2 = 2.444$, df = 1 p = 0.117). Similarly, Indian athletes differed from Indian controls in their *ACTN3 R/X* genotype ($X^2 = 6.923$, df = 2, p = 0.031) frequency with Indian athletes had a higher frequency of *RR* genotype than in Indian controls. Conversely, allele frequency was similar between the Indian athletes and their controls ($X^2 = 0.619$, df = 1, p = 0.431). Chinese athletes did not differ from Chinese controls in their *ACTN3 R/X* allele ($X^2 = 1.147$, df = 1, p = 0.284) and genotype ($X^2 = 4.145$, df = 2, p = 0.126) distributions. There were also insignificant differences in *ACTN3 R/X* allele (($X^2 = 0.807$, df = 1, p = 0.369) and genotype ($X^2 = 4.674$, df = 2, p = 0.097) distributions between athletes and controls in Other Bumiputra group.



Figure 5.7 ACTN3 R/X allele and genotype frequencies in multi-ethnic groups of athletes and controls in the Malaysian population

Note.

 $^{a}p < 0.001$ for genotype frequency in Malay athletes vs. Malay controls

 ${}^{b}p = 0.031$ for genotype frequency in Indian athletes vs. Indian controls

5.5.5.4 Endurance Athletes, Strength/Power Athletes, Intermittent Athletes, and Controls in the Malaysian Population

Considering the opposing effects of possession of the *R* and *X* alleles on particular sporting disciplines, the *ACTN3 R/X* allele and genotype frequencies were compared between endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes and controls in the Malaysian population as shown in Figure 5.8. The *ACTN3 R/X* allele frequency was similar between the four groups ($X^2 = 5.291$, df = 3, p = 0.152). However, the genotype frequencies differed significantly across the groups ($X^2 = 15.004$, df = 6, p = 0.020).

The endurance athletes did not differ significantly in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency when compared with the controls ($X^2 = 5.504$, df = 2, p = 0.064), the strength/power ($X^2 = 0.490$, df = 2, p = 0.783) and intermittent ($X^2 = 0.903$, df = 2, p = 0.637) athletes. The strength/power athletes differed significantly in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency when compared with the controls ($X^2 = 10.074$, df = 2, p = 0.006), but not to those in intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 3.298$, df = 2, p = 0.192). Meanwhile, the intermittent athletes did not differ significantly in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency when compared with the controls ($X^2 = 10.074$, df = 2, p = 0.006), but not to those in intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 3.298$, df = 2, p = 0.192). Meanwhile, the intermittent athletes did not differ significantly in *ACTN3 R/X* genotype frequency when compared with the controls ($X^2 = 5.781$, df = 2, p = 0.056). Among the four groups, the strength/power and intermittent athletes had the highest frequencies of *RR* and *XX* genotypes, respectively.



Figure 5.8 *ACTN3 R/X* allele and genotype frequencies among endurance athletes, strength/power athletes, intermittent athletes, and controls in the Malaysian population

Note.

 $\mathbf{\bar{p}} = 0.006$ for genotype frequency in strength/power athletes vs. controls

5.5.5.5 Malay and Caucasian Intermittent Athletes

The genotype frequency of the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism among Malay intermittent athletes and Caucasian intermittent athletes are shown in Figure 5.9. There was a significant difference in genotype frequency between Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes ($X^2 = 9.906$, df = 2, p = 0.007) with the frequency of *RR* and *XX* genotypes in Malay intermittent athletes higher than in Caucasian intermittent athletes. However, allele frequency of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism amongst the Malay intermittent athletes (*R* = 0.48; *X* = 0.52) was not significantly different from that amongst the Caucasian intermittent athletes (*R* = 0.56; *X* = 0.44) ($X^2 = 0.243$, df = 1, p = 0.622).

5.5.6 Interaction between Ethnicity and *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism on Strength/Power and Endurance Performances

There was no significant interaction between ethnicity and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism on handgrip strength (F(2, 174) = 1.153, p = 0.334), leg strength (F(2, 174) = 1.308, p = 0.256), and Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance (F(2, 174) = 1.003, p = 0.425).



Caucasian intermittent athletes (n=33)

Figure 5.9 ACTN3 R/X genotype frequencies in Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes

Note.

Malay intermittent athletes (n=33)

*p = 0.007 for genotype frequency in Malay intermittent athletes vs. Caucasian intermittent athletes

5.5.7 Effects of *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism on Strength/Power and Endurance Performances in the Malaysian Population

5.5.7.1*ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power Performance (Handgrip Strength) in the Malaysian Population

The mean value of handgrip strength among athletes with different *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes is presented in Figure 5.10. There is a significant difference in handgrip strength across the genotype groups (F(2, 177) = 3.647, p = 0.028). Using a Bonferroni post hoc test, the handgrip strength recorded by the athletes with *RR* genotype (41.6 \pm 8.4) is significantly higher than those with the *RX* genotype (37.4 \pm 10.2) (p = 0.031), but not significantly different from athletes with the *XX* genotype (38.1 \pm 10.2) (p = 0.228).



Figure 5.10 The mean value of handgrip strength in athletes with different *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes in the Malaysian population

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to *RX* genotype (p = 0.031)

5.5.7.2 *ACTN3 R/X* Gene Polymorphism and Strength/Power Performance (Leg Strength) in the Malaysian Population

The mean value of leg strength among athletes with different *ACTN3 R/X* genotypes is presented in Figure 5.11. There is a significant difference in leg strength across the genotype groups (F(2, 177) = 7.979, p < 0.001). Athletes with *RR* genotype (123.0 \pm 29.8) have a significantly higher leg strength than those with the *RX* genotype (102.6 \pm 35.5) (p = 0.001) and *XX* genotype (102.6 \pm 34.1) (p = 0.010).

5.5.7.3 ACTN3 R/X Gene Polymorphism and Endurance Performance in the Malaysian Population

The performance of Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 was similar among athletes with *RR* genotype (377.7 \pm 208.1), *RX* genotype (342.4 \pm 138.9), and *XX* genotype (328.7 \pm 174.8) (F(2, 177) = 1.663, p = 0.385).





 $\underline{Note.}$ Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to *RX* genotype (p = 0.001)

**Significantly different compared to XX genotype (p = 0.010)

5.6 Discussion

The effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance remain controversial with some studies showing positive effect (Ahmetov et al., 2008b, Cieszczyk et al., 2009, Pimenta et al., 2011, Cieszczyk et al., 2011, Eidera et al., 2013), with other studies showing negative effect (Ash et al., 2011, Holdys et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2013, Ahmetov et al., 2013). This inconclusive finding also appears when examined across the Caucasian (Hagberg et al., 1999, Kasikcioglu et al., 2004, Clarkson et al., 2005a, Cam et al., 2007), and Asian (Zhaoa et al., 2003, Tobina et al., 2010, Ichinoseki-Sekine et al., 2010) populations. These findings suggest that the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms may confer different effects in a specific population. However, the lack of reports in Asian population compared to the Caucasian population, as previously highlighted by Ma et al. (2013), warrants further investigation on the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance in Asian population.

This study was therefore designed to fill the gap in the literature and thus examine the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within Malaysian population and determine whether their effects differ by ethnicity. To the best of author's knowledge, there have been limited studies that have examined the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within multi-ethnic Malaysian population. The main finding of this study is that *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* alleles and genotype frequencies did not vary much between the multi-ethnic groups of Malaysian athletes. These small variations did not have any influence on the human physical performance between

these ethnic groups. Also, the present study identified that possession of the *ACE D* allele and *ACTN3 R* allele were associated with increased strength/power performance within the Malaysian population. Meanwhile, possession of the *ACE I* allele and *ACTN3 X* allele did not appear to confer an advantage on endurance performance in the Malaysian population.

The athletes in the present study were drawn from different ethnic groups in Malaysia, thus it is probable that different composition of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X genes in different ethnic groups could be a factor that influence the performance of the athletes, which has been previously suggested by Zilberman-Schapira et al. (2012). Findings of the present study observed a similar distribution of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms between multi-ethnic groups of Malaysian athletes. The present finding for ACE I/D gene polymorphisms had been contradicted with the findings obtained from the first study of this research project that the distribution of ACE I/D gene polymorphism varied between multi-ethnic groups in Malaysian. In addition, a multivariate analysis was performed on the present data to determine the interaction between the ethnic origin (Malay, Chinese, Indian and Other Bumiputra) and the ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms on the endurance and strength/power performances. The analysed data showed that the ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms did not interact with ethnicity to impact endurance and strength/power performances in the Malaysian population. Results of this study are consistent with previous research by Goh et al. (2009), who studied the impact of Asian ethnicity (Singaporean) on the effect of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on the aerobic capacity. Thus, the finding of the current study suggested that ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms may have universal effect on human physical performance.

Previous research of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism in athletes demonstrated that the frequency of *ACE I* allele was significantly higher among endurance athletes than strength/power and intermittent athletes (Myerson et al., 1999, Nazarov et al., 2001, Tsianos et al., 2004b, Mayne, 2006, Min et al., 2009), suggesting that the presence of *ACE I* allele is required for endurance performance. In line with these studies, the present study observed the over-representation of the *ACE I* allele and *ACE II* genotype in the endurance group compared to the strength/power and intermittent groups, supporting the potential effect of possession of the *ACE I* allele on endurance performance.

Although the presence of *ACE I* allele was compatible with endurance athlete status in Malaysian population, the result of Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 test demonstrated that the presence of *ACE I* allele is not the predictor of endurance performance in this population. The Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance was found to be similar across the three *ACE I/D* genotype groups. The finding of this study contradicts that of earlier studies among Asian (Goh et al., 2009) and Caucasian (Cam et al., 2007, Voroshin and Astratenkova, 2008) samples, suggesting that individuals with *ACE II* genotype have better endurance performance compared to those with other *ACE I/D* genotypes.

The lack of an effect of possession of the *ACE I* allele on the Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance observed in this study is consistent with previous results involving Caucasian samples (Rankinen et al., 2000c, Sonna et al., 2001). The reason for the lack of effect of possession of the *ACE I* allele observed in the present study remains unclear. Sonna and colleagues (2001) suggested that the

previous association reported for possession of the *ACE I* allele and endurance performance could be due to linkage with another gene in close proximity to the ACE locus, such as the human growth hormone gene. This is supported with evidence from previous studies on human growth hormone gene which showed that the increases in growth hormone production during exercise lead to increases in carbohydrate, fat, and protein metabolism (De Palo et al., 2001, Godfrey et al., 2003) and stimulate sweat secretion (Jorgensen et al., 2003), thereby influencing endurance performance. The finding of the present study suggests that possession of the *ACE I* allele may not the absolute criteria for success in endurance performance.

Furthermore, the present study identified an over-representation of the *ACE D* allele among strength/power athletes compared to the other athlete groups, which is consistent with the previous observations in other Asian (Kikuchi et al., 2012) and Caucasian (Nazarov et al., 2001, Mayne, 2006, Costa et al., 2009b) samples. In contrast to the finding observed for *ACE I* allele, the potentially favourable effect of possession of the *ACE D* allele on strength/power athletic status in Malaysian athletes is supported by the finding on leg strength. According to the present result, athletes with the *ACE DD* genotype exhibited greater leg strength than those with the *ACE II* and the *ACE ID* genotypes. This result is in line with previous studies that reported positive effects of possession of the *ACE D* allele on muscular strength parameters, such as isometric and isokinetic quadriceps muscle strength (Williams et al., 2005), and knee extensor strength (Giaccaglia et al., 2008). All of these positive findings indicate that possession of the *ACE D* allele might have an advantageous effect on short duration and high-intensity activities. A positive effect of possession of the *ACE D* allele on muscular strength the possible

mechanism for the effect of possession of the *ACE D* allele on muscular strength through the production of ANG II in the skeletal muscle (Charbonneau et al., 2008). A greater local ANG II production in the skeletal muscle has been reported to increase protein synthesis and cell hypertrophy (Jones and Woods, 2003), thereby inducing muscle contraction for maximal power (Rattigan et al., 1996).

The ACTN3 protein plays an important role in maintaining the ordered myofibrillar array for greater coordination to generate high muscle power and velocity during movements (Mills et al., 2001). Based on the physiological role of ACTN3 protein during muscle contraction, the present study hypothesised that athletes who have one or two copies of *ACTN3 R* allele (codes for ACTN3 protein) would predispose to strength/power sports and have greater muscular strength compared to athletes with *ACTN3 X* allele. As expected, the present study found a higher frequency *ACTN3 RR* genotype in the strength/power athletes compared to endurance and intermittent athletes. A higher frequency of *ACTN3 RR* genotype in strength/power athletes is in line with the previous finding among Asian (Kothari et al., 2011) and Caucasian (Yang et al., 2003, Eynon et al., 2009b) athletes.

The present study also found that athletes with *ACTN3 RR* genotype had greater hand and leg strength than athletes with other genotypes. This finding is consistent with the findings of earlier studies involving Caucasian (Clarkson et al., 2005a, Vincent et al., 2007, Erskine et al., 2014) and Asian populations (Shang et al., 2012), which demonstrated that the *ACTN3 RR* genotype carriers have greater strength/power capacity than other genotype carriers. These results confirm an advantageous effect of the presence of ACTN3 protein on muscle strength. This finding supports the previous notion by Thomis et al. (1998) and Vincent et al. (2007), who reported that the likelihood of presenting the best performance in muscle strength depends on the genetic profile of the individual.

While the production of ACTN3 protein is coded by ACTN3 R allele, the incomplete sequence in the ACTN3 X allele prevents the production of this protein (North et al., 1999). The lack of ACTN3 protein has been reported to shift skeletal muscle metabolism to aerobic metabolism (MacArthur et al., 2007). Therefore, the present study hypothesized that the ACTN3 X allele is more frequent among athletes involved in endurance sports and athletes with ACTN3 X allele may have greater endurance capacity compared to those with ACTN3 R allele. The present data demonstrate a higher frequency of ACTN3 XX genotype among intermittent athletes than endurance and strength/power athletes. This result is not in agreement with the previous reports in the Caucasian population, which demonstrated a higher frequency of ACTN3 XX genotype in endurance athletes compared to strength/power and intermittent athletes (Eynon et al., 2009b, Ahmetov et al., 2011). This finding is contrary to those observed in the Chinese population (Shang et al., 2010). The reliability of a higher frequency of ACTN3 X allele in intermittent athletes could be explained by the fact that intermittent sport involves aerobic-anaerobic demand. Hence, an intermittent athlete requires both aerobic and anaerobic capacity. Therefore, the presence of ACTN3 X allele in intermittent athletes may confer a beneficial effect for aerobic activity.

In the present study, the endurance performance as measured by Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 test was similar between the *ACTN3 R/X* genotype. This

finding is not equivalent to the previous study by Lucia et al. (2007). According to the study by Lucia et al. (2007), the carriers of the *ACTN3 XX* genotype had a higher endurance performance compared to carriers of *ACTN3 RR* and *ACTN3 RX* genotype. The contradictory finding between the present study and the study by Lucia et al. (2007) may be attributed to the difference in the study sample criteria. Lucia et al. (2007) had studied the effect of possession of the *ACTN3 XX* genotype on endurance performance among untrained people, whilst the present study focused on a group of athletes. Therefore, further studies involving both untrained and trained individuals may be needed to formulate a conclusive finding on the effect of possession of the *ACTN3 X* allele on endurance performance. Based on the present data, a deficiency of ACTN3 protein may not be critical to endurance performance in the Malaysian athletic population.

In light of the above-mentioned finding, the present study is the first to show a significant difference in the distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms between Malay intermittent athletes in the Malaysian population and Caucasian intermittent athletes in the Australian population. For well-matched comparison, the groups from these two populations contain adequate sample size of intermittent male athletes representing university level sporting competition. With respect to the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, there are significant variations in genotype frequencies in different ethnic groups with *ACE DD* genotype higher in those of Malay descent. Based on this data, the *ACE DD* genotype appeared to influence the performance of intermittent athletes in Malaysian population whilst this genotype is not extremely crucial for Australian athletes.

With respect to the ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphism, the genotype frequencies significantly differed between Malay and Caucasian intermittent athletes with ACTN3 XX genotype higher in those of Malay ethnicity compared to Caucasian athletes. In a previous study by Pimenta et al. (2011), athletes with ACTN3 XX genotype were reported to have higher concentrations of post-training cortisol when compared to RR and RX carriers. The high concentration of cortisol in athletes with XX genotype after training indicates to the increased level of muscle damage predicted from the increase of CK activity (Pimenta et al., 2011). Therefore, those athletes with XX genotype are speculated to have a high risk of muscle damage that may limit their potential to be excellent in competition (Pimenta et al., 2011). Based on this information, it is possible that the overrepresentation of athletes with XX genotype in Malay group may limits the potential to achieve successful results in intermittent competitions such as soccer and hockey when compared to Caucasian athletes. There is no clear explanation for the existence of the differences in the frequency of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms between Malay and Caucasian intermittent athlete populations, but it could not exclude that this difference could also be due to the different athlete development programs between these two cultures that may be influencing this shift.

The present study is presented with several limitations. The first limitation was related to the number of athletes used in this study as when the athletes were divided into three groups based on their sporting disciplines, the sample size decreased considerably. As in all such studies, extension to, and replication with a larger sample size is warranted. The studied groups in the Malaysian population were comprised of both females and males. Therefore, it remains unknown if the effects of the selected polymorphisms may differ by gender. As the aims of the present study was not related
to training effect, there is no data available on the training status of the athletes. Therefore, it is likely that performance measured in the present study due to the training effect which could mask gene-related effects on physical performance. The present study did not measure the physical performance of controls in the Malaysian population to reduce variability of the results. In addition, due to time constraints, there is no available data for the physical performance of Australian athletes. However, replicate study should be performed in future studies to validate the present findings.

Despite the above-mentioned limitation, confidence in the validity of the present findings is increased by the fact that each athlete group demonstrate different endurance and strength/power performances that are reliable with their physical characteristics. The population comparison between Malaysian athletes and Australian athletes were matched on sample size, gender, age, and sports discipline. Athlete and control groups in the Malaysian population were ethnically-matched to limit and control the effect of ethnicity. The genetic assessment was accurate and unbiased as the genotype distributions of the studied polymorphisms in the control group were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

5.7 Conclusion

In summary, this study demonstrates that the distributions of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms and their effects on the physical performance do not vary much between different ethnic groups of Malaysian athletes. This study confirmed the positive effects of possession of the *D* allele of *ACE I/D* and *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on strength/power performance within Asian ethnicity as has been widely investigated among the Caucasian population. It is further concluded that possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* and *X* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms are not the predictor for endurance performance within the Malaysian population. There is a different pattern in the distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms amongst Malays and Caucasian intermittent athletes that warrants further investigation on the athlete development programs between the two populations that may be influencing this variation. These preliminary data illustrate the importance of understanding the genetic makeup of Malaysian athletes and the effect of genetic factors on human physical performance.

CHAPTER 6

THE INFLUENCE OF *ACE I/D* GENE POLYMORPHISM ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND MUSCULAR ADAPTATIONS TO 8 WEEKS OF ISOMETRIC HANDGRIP TRAINING IN A NORMOTENSIVE POPULATION IN MALAYSIA

6.1 Introduction

Managing blood pressure is important in preventing hypertension, which is a major risk factor for heart attacks and strokes (Chobanian et al., 2003). It has been shown that lowering resting blood pressure can significantly reduce the risk of coronary disease by 21%, stroke by 37%, total cardiovascular mortality by 25%, and all-cause mortality rates by 13% (He and Whelton, 1999). With that, exercise has been suggested as the best and the most affordable way for managing blood pressure (Fagard, 2006).

Moderate-intensity aerobic exercise (about 40% to 50% of maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max)) undertaken three to five times per week for 30 to 60 minutes per session is effective in reducing resting blood pressure in both normotensive and hypertensive individuals (Pescatello and Kulikowich, 2001, Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005a, Baynard et al., 2008, Goldberg et al., 2012). In a recent meta-analysis concerning exercise training for blood pressure, endurance exercise training was reported to reduce resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure by about 3.5 mmHg and 2.5 mmHg, respectively (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013).

Recently, in addition to aerobic exercise, resistance exercise training, which has not been previously recommended for blood pressure management in hypertensive patients (Palatini et al., 1989), has been shown to lower resting blood pressure in normotensive and hypertensive individuals (Wiley et al., 1992, Wood et al., 2001, Vincent et al., 2003, Collier et al., 2008). The reductions of 3 to 4 mmHg in resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure were observed following four weeks of resistance exercise training (Collier et al., 2008). Meanwhile, in another meta-analysis study conducted by Cornelissen and Smart (2013), the largest reductions in resting blood pressure had been reported following the isometric resistance exercise training (systolic: -10.9 mmHg, diastolic: -6.2 mmHg) compared to after endurance (systolic: -3.5 mmHg, diastolic: -3.7 mmHg) and dynamic resistance exercise training (systolic: -1.8 mmHg, diastolic: -2.5mmHg). Moreover, several earlier studies suggested that the isometric exercise training protocol consisting of four sets of 2-minute handgrip (McGowan et al., 2007, Millar et al., 2008) or leg contractions (Howden et al., 2002) at 30 % to 50 % of maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) (Wiley et al., 1992, Ray and Carrasco, 2000) with 1 to 4 minutes of rest period between each contraction (Wiley et al., 1992, McGowan et al., 2007) conducted three to five times per week for 4 to 10 weeks (Devereux et al., 2010, Badrov et al., 2013) to be more effective in lowering resting blood pressure than endurance and dynamic resistance exercise training. Relative to exercise trained-muscle, hand grip isometric exercise training (Wiley et al., 1992, Badrov et al., 2013) has been found to reduce resting blood pressure more than leg isometric exercise training (Baross et al., 2012). One possible explanation for this difference may have to do with greater increase in arterial pressure for hand grip than leg muscle contraction, that will stimulate the baroreceptors which in turn leads to greater capacity for reduction in blood pressure following IHG training than leg isometric exercise training (Strange, 1999).

While the benefit of isometric exercise training for blood pressure management has been well documented, it has remained unclear on how factors that can influence blood pressure, such as gender and genetics, may influence efficiency of this isometric exercise program. Several twin studies previously reported that blood pressure is controlled by genetic factors (van den Bree et al., 1996, Hottenga et al., 2005). Given the fact that blood pressure has a genetic basis, research efforts have been directed towards identifying the candidate genes involved in blood pressure regulation (Sober et al., 2009, Arora and Newton-Cheh, 2010). Among the proposed candidate genes for blood pressure, the angiotensin I-converting enzyme (*ACE*) gene, has attracted much attention due to its role in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS); a physiological system that regulates blood pressure (Hagberg et al., 2000, Marteau et al., 2005, Dhanachandra Singh et al., 2014).

Within the *ACE* gene, the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism showed a strong link with the level of ACE in the RAS (Tiret et al., 1992) and accounted for 47% of the total phenotypic variance of ACE (Rigat et al., 1990). On top of that, an initial report by Rigat et al. (1990) observed that ACE levels were progressively higher among individuals with *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism, respectively. Individuals with *II* genotype had been reported to have lower resting blood pressure than those with *ID* and *DD* genotypes (Wong et al., 2012). This is attributed to a lower ACE level in individuals with *II* genotype that decreases the formation of ANG II (a potent vasoconstrictor) and increases the production of

bradykinin (a potent vasodilator), leading to lower resting blood pressure (Coates, 2003).

The influences of the ACE I/D gene polymorphism on blood pressure in response to exercise training have been investigated in several studies, but the results have been inconsistent (Montgomery et al., 1997, Hagberg et al., 1999, Rankinen et al., 2000a, Zhang et al., 2002, Dengel et al., 2002, Kim, 2009, Mota et al., 2013). Some studies reported that the ACE I/D gene polymorphism did not influence blood pressure response to endurance (Montgomery et al., 1997, Rankinen et al., 2000a, Dengel et al., 2002) and dynamic resistance (Mota et al., 2013) exercise training. On the other hand, Hagberg et al. (1999) reported a greater drop in resting blood pressure among hypertensive men with *II* and *ID* genotypes compared to those with *DD* genotype after 9 months of endurance exercise training at 75 to 85 % of maximal oxygen consumption. Furthermore, a similar finding was also observed by Zhang et al. (2002), who investigated the impact of the ACE I/D gene polymorphism on blood pressure response to 10 weeks exercise therapy on a bicycle ergometer among 64 Japanese with mild to moderate essential hypertension. In contrast to the results obtained by Hagberg et al. (1999) and Zhang et al. (2002), Kim (2009) discovered that adult women with DD genotype had greater reduction in blood pressure (diastolic) than those with II and *ID* genotypes, following a 12-week combined aerobic and resistance exercise training. The reasons for these inconsistent results are unclear, but it may be due to the differences in sample sizes and insufficient exercise intensities for eliciting substantial changes in resting blood pressure. For instance, a study by Kim (2009) involved mixed aerobic and resistance exercise training compared with only aerobic training (endurance training) in study by Hagberg et al. (1999).

Despite the inconsistencies of some findings, to our knowledge, no study has investigated the effect of isometric exercise training on blood pressure response among individuals with different genotypes of the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism. This investigation is important in determining if *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism has an influence on blood pressure in response to exercise training, which could help to identify individuals who would be more likely to benefit from this exercise program.

6.2 Aim

The aim of this study was to examine the effect of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations following an 8-week isometric handgrip training on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations among normotensive men. It was hypothesized that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism would influence the cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week isometric handgrip training.

6.3 Methods and Participants

6.3.1 Study Design

This study employed a single-blind, repeated measures study design. Since the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was reported to be associated with an enhanced cardiovascular (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 2002, Kim, 2009) and muscular (Giaccaglia et al., 2008) responses to training, all participants underwent identical cardiovascular and muscular assessments before training (pre-training), after the initial training session (mid-training), and after 8 weeks of training (post-training). They performed isometric

handgrip (IHG) exercise three days per week for 8 weeks. All assessments and IHG training were conducted in a quiet temperature-controlled room (20 to 25°C). A flowchart of the study design is presented in Figure 6.1.

6.3.2 Participants

At the initial phase of this study, a total of 50 healthy, normotensive, untrained males aged 30.3 ± 5.1 years old, who had been reported to having Malay ancestry within three generations and sedentary lifestyle (two or fewer days a week of recreational exercise for less than 30 minutes a day for the preceding three months (Pate et al., 2008)) were screened for *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism. Thirty of these initial participants, who comprised of 10 participants with each *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotypes of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism were then selected for isometric handgrip training. The number of participants for this study was based on the sample size calculation by using the Power and Sample Size Calculation version 3.1.2 software (Dupont and Plummer, 1990) [Calculated sample size = 27 participants; Research sample size = 27 participants + (27*10% (expected drop out)) = 30 participants]. The statistical power of the study was set at 0.80 with 95% of confidence interval and the effect size of 0.25.



Figure 6.1 Flow chart of the study design





6.3.3 Familiarization Session

The participants were briefed of the testing protocols and familiarized with the instruments, as well as the procedures involved in the MVC test. After they had signed and completed the consent form, they were interviewed about their personal information, including gender, age, ethnicity, and health status. Participants consent and information details forms were presented in Appendix C.

6.3.4 Preliminary Assessments

During this session, anthropometric data of the participants, such as body weight, body height, body mass index, and body fat, were collected. Participant's body height was measured using a portable stadiometer (Seca 213, Seca Corporation, USA). Meanwhile, participant's body weight, body mass index, and body fat, were measured using an Omron KARADA Scan Body Composition & Scale (HBF-362, Omron Corporation, Japan). Immediately following this, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sample from each participant was collected by using buccal swab with a sterile swab applicator (Classic Swabs by Copan Flock Technologies, Brescia, Italy). The swabs were air dried and placed in sterile 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes and stored at -20°C until used for DNA isolation.

6.3.5 ACE I/D Genotyping Determination

Genomic DNA was isolated from the swab samples by using the GeneAll[®] ExgeneTM Cell SV kit following the manufacturer's protocol (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was carried out in a final volume of 25 μl consisting of 2.5 μl of 10X standard reaction buffer (GeneAll Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Seoul, South Korea) (25 mm Mg²⁺, 50 mm Tris-HCl, 50 mm KCl, 0.1 mm EDTA, 1 mm DTT, 0.5 mm PMSF, and 50% glycerol), 2.0 µl of dNTP mix (200 µm from each dNTP (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP)), 0.8 µm of each primer (forward primer: 5'-5'-CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3': primer: reverse CTGGAGACCACTCCCATCCTTTCT-3'), 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 2.5 µl of dimethylsulfoxide, 10.8 µl of sterilize distilled water, and 5 µl of genomic DNA (2-8 $ng/\mu l$). The target fragment bearing the ACE I/D gene polymorphism was amplified under the following conditions; 7 minutes at 95°C, followed by 25 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 62°C, and 1 minute at 72°C, with a final step of 7 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel that was pre-stained with ethidium bromide at 70 volts for 1 hour. The presence of 490 base pair (bp) and 190 bp bands indicated the ACE insertion (I) and deletion (D) alleles, respectively. The PCR products for ACE I/D gene polymorphism were confirmed by sequencing (First BASE Laboratories Sdn Bhd, Selangor, Malaysia).

6.3.6 Cardiovascular and Muscular Assessments

Prior to measurement of the study variables, the participants were asked to refrain from performing vigorous exercise and consuming caffeinated beverages within 24 hours before the assessments. A hand dynamometer (Takei A5401, Takei Scientific Instruments Co. Ltd., Japan) was used to measure the muscular variable, whilst the cardiovascular variables were assessed by using a non-invasive automated brachial oscillometry (Omron HEM907XL, Omron Healthcare, Inc., United States).

Cardiovascular (systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mean arterial pressure (MAP), pulse pressure (PP), and heart rate (HR)), and muscular (handgrip strength (HGS)) variables were measured on three consecutive days (at the same time (\pm 2 hours)) immediately prior to commencing training. During each visit, after 10 minutes of seated rest, all variables were measured on the dominant arm hand (selfreported by the participant) in the sitting position for four successive times with 2-minute rest intervals. The first of the four measurements of all variables in each visit was discarded (due to the white coat effect), while the remaining three measurements were averaged over the three visits to represent the pre-training value (Millar et al., 2008).

One hour after the initial training session (mid-training), the cardiovascular and the muscular variables were assessed based on the procedure described above to examine the acute effects of IHG exercise (Hecksteden et al., 2013). For this assessment, the first and the second measurements were discarded, while the last two measurements were averaged to represent the mid-training value, as previously described in a study by Hecksteden et al. (2013).

In three consecutive days after 8 weeks of training (post-training), the cardiovascular and the muscular variables were again assessed based on the procedure described above. The measurements of cardiovascular and muscular variables were averaged in the same way as described for pre-training value to represent the post-training value (Millar et al., 2008).

6.3.7 Isometric Handgrip Training

The isometric handgrip (IHG) training protocol used in this study was based on the training protocol described by McGowan et al. (2007). Before every training session, the left and the right MVC values of the participants were assessed with two attempts on each side (contraction duration less than 2 seconds), separated by 30 seconds of rest. If the variance from the two recordings was less than 5%, the highest value was taken as the participant's MVC for that side. If the recordings differed by more than 5%, further attempts were made at 1-minute interval until a stable maximal value was obtained. All participants were trained using unilateral, alternate IHG exercise, three days per week for eight weeks (at the same time (± 2 hours)). In each session, the participants performed the IHG exercise while sitting with the working arm extended towards the front. The participants performed four trials of 2 minutes of IHG exercise at 30% of their MVC, with

a 1-minute rest period between each trial. The IHG exercise was performed using alternate hands starting with dominant hand.

6.4 Statistical Analysis

The descriptive data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Differences in preand post-training values were calculated as final (mid- or post-training) minus initial (pretraining) value. Positive and negative results indicated an increase and a decrease with IHG training, respectively. The mean of all variables at pre-, mid-, and post-training were compared with *II*, *ID*, and *DD* genotype groups via one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and was followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test when appropriate. Paired sample t-test was used to compare mid- and post- training data with pre-training data of the entire cohort and each genotype group. All statistical evaluations were performed by using the IBM SPSS statistical version 20.0 (Armonk, New York, USA), with the level of significance set at p < 0.050.

6.5.1 Characteristics of Participants

The physical characteristics of the participants according to *ACE I/D* genotype are shown in Table 6.1. All *ACE I/D* genotype groups were similar in age (F(2, 27) = 2.834, p = 0.071), height (F(2, 27) = 0.133, p = 0.876), body weight (F(2, 27) = 0.066, p = 0.961), body mass index (F(2, 27) = 0.672, p = 0.519), and body fat (F(2, 27) = 0.937, p = 0.404).

Table 6.1 Physical characteristics of participants according to ACE I/D genotype

Variables	II	ID	DD	p value
	(n=10)	(n=10)	(n=10)	
Age (years)	27.8 ± 6.2	32.9 ± 3.1	30.0 ± 4.5	0.071
Height (cm)	169.0 ± 6.2	170.4 ± 9.3	169.0 ± 5.4	0.876
Body Weight (kg)	72.6 ± 10.0	74.7 ± 24.0	72.4 ± 7.4	0.961
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	25.4 ± 3.1	27.1 ± 4.4	25.6 ± 3.2	0.519
Body Fat (%)	23.8 ± 3.5	26.0 ± 4.7	24.1 ± 3.7	0.404
Note				

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

6.5.2 Cardiovascular and Muscular Responses

Table 6.2 demonstrates the cardiovascular and muscular responses following 8 weeks of IHG training. SBP (t(29) = 3.753, p = 0.001), MAP (t(29) = 3.008, p = 0.004), PP (t(29) = 2.401, p = 0.023), and HR (t(29) = 2.398, p = 0.023), except DBP (t(29) = 1.737, p = 0.093), were significantly lower following IHG training than at pre-training. Meanwhile, HGS significantly increased after IHG training (t(29) = -3.175, p = 0.004).

Variables	Pre-training	Post-training	Change (Δ) with training	p value
SBP (mmHg)	121.3 ± 9.1	$117.1 \pm 6.6*$	-4.2 ± 6.1	0.001
DBP (mmHg)	76.2 ± 7.2	74.7 ± 7.9	-1.4 ± 4.5	0.093
MAP (mmHg)	91.2 ± 6.9	$88.9\pm6.8^*$	-2.4 ± 4.2	0.004
PP (mmHg)	45.1 ± 8.2	$42.4\pm6.8*$	-2.8 ± 6.3	0.023
HR (bpm)	79.4 ± 7.7	$76.8 \pm 8.9*$	-2.6 ± 5.9	0.023
HGS (kg)	43.5 ± 6.7	$46.0\pm7.5^{*}$	2.6 ± 4.4	0.004

Table 6.2 Cardiovascular and muscular responses to 8 weeks of IHG training

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to pre-training value (p < 0.050)

Table 6.3 demonstrates the cardiovascular and the muscular responses following a session of IHG exercise. SBP (t(29) = 2.456, p = 0.020) and MAP (t(29) = 2.506, p = 0.018), except DBP (t(29) = 2.024, p = 0.052), PP (t(29) = 0.655, p = 0.518), and HR (t(29) = 0.608, p = 0.548) had been significantly lower following a session of IHG exercise than at pre-training. Meanwhile, HGS (t(29) = 0.8, p = 0.430) did not increase significantly after IHG exercise.

Change (Δ) with IHG Variables **Pre-training** Mid-training p value exercise SBP (mmHg) 121.3 ± 9.1 $118.1 \pm 9.4^*$ -3.2 ± 7.2 0.020 DBP (mmHg) 76.2 ± 7.2 -2.4 ± 6.5 0.052 73.8 ± 8.5 91.2 ± 6.9 $88.5\pm8.0^*$ -2.7 ± 5.8 0.018 MAP mmHg) PP (mmHg) 45.1 ± 8.2 44.3 ± 8.0 -0.9 ± 7.1 0.518 HR (bpm) 79.4 ± 7.7 78.5 ± 9.1 -0.9 ± 7.6 0.548 HGS (kg) 43.5 ± 6.7 43.2 ± 6.9 -0.3 ± 2.3 0.430

 Table 6.3
 Cardiovascular and muscular responses to a session of IHG exercise

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to pre-training value (p < 0.050)

6.5.3 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Cardiovascular Response

6.5.3.1 Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP)

SBP among ACE I/D genotype groups at pre-, mid-, and post-training are shown in Table 6.4. SBP at the pre-training differed significantly between the ACE I/D genotype groups (F(2, 27) = 4.005, p = 0.030). SBP at pre-training in the II genotype group was significantly lower compared with the *ID* genotype group (p = 0.043). However, no significant difference in the SBP at pre-training between *II* and *DD* genotype groups (p = 0.102) was identified. There was also insignificant difference in SBP for mid-training (F(2, 27) = 3.157, p = 0.059) and post-training (F(2, 27) = 2.018, p = 0.152) between ACE *I/D* genotype groups.

Table 0.4 S	ystolic bloba pressu	ie at pie-, iniu-,	and post-training	among ACL I/D
g	enotype groups			
Time course	<i>II</i> (n=10)	<i>ID</i> (n=10)	<i>DD</i> (n=10)	p value
Pre-training	$115.3 \pm 7.2*$	125.0 ± 9.3	123.6 ± 8.2	0.030
Mid-training	113.2 ± 7.5	123.1 ± 8.9	117.9 ± 9.8	0.059
Post-training	113.8 ± 6.3	118.7 ± 4.9	118.8 ± 7.6	0.152

Table 64 Systolic blood pressure at preand nost-training among ACE I/D mid-

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to *ID* genotype group (p = 0.043)

Figure 6.2 shows the changes in SBP following mid- and post-training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups. Following mid-training, SBP significantly decreased in the *DD* genotype group ($\Delta = -5.7 \pm 6.6$, t(9) = 2.734, p = 0.023), but not in the *ID* ($\Delta = -2.0 \pm 8.4$, t(9) = 0.738, p = 0.479) and *II* ($\Delta = -2.1 \pm 6.8$, t(9) = 0.986, p = 0.350) genotype groups. In post-training, SBP decreased significantly in the *ID* ($\Delta = -6.3 \pm 7.3$, t(9) = 2.750, p = 0.022) and *DD* ($\Delta = -4.7 \pm 5.2$, t(9) = 2.905, p = 0.017) genotype groups. However, SBP in the *II* genotype group was not significantly changed following post-training ($\Delta = -1.5 \pm 5.3$, t(9) = 0.909, p = 0.387).



Figure 6.2 Changes in systolic blood pressure value to IHG training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.022)

[#]Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.023)

#*Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.017)

6.5.3.2 Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP)

Table 6.5 presents the DBP at pre-, mid-, and post-training among *ACE I/D* genotype groups. There were significant differences in DBP at pre-training (F(2, 27) = 8.798, p = 0.001), mid-training (F(2, 27) = 6.292, p = 0.006), and post-training (F(2, 27) = 6.328, p = 0.006) between the *ACE I/D* genotype groups. DBP at pre-training in the *II* genotype group was significantly lower compared with the *ID* (p = 0.001) and *DD* genotype groups (p = 0.018). At mid-training, the *II* genotype group had a significantly lower DBP than the *ID* genotype group (p = 0.006), but not for the *DD* genotype group (p = 0.053). Meanwhile, DBP at post-training in the *II* genotype group was significantly lower compared to *ID* (p = 0.007) and *DD* (p = 0.038) genotype groups.

Table 6.5Diastolic blood pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D
genotype groups

Time course	<i>II</i> (n=10)	<i>ID</i> (n=10)	<i>DD</i> (n=10)	p value
Pre-training	70.1 ± 4.6	$0.6\pm5.9^{*}$	$77.8 \pm 6.7 **$	0.001
Mid-training	$67.3\pm7.0^{\neq}$	78.5 ± 5.2	75.6 ± 9.1	0.006
Post-training	68.6 ± 6.7	$78.8\pm6.7^{\#}$	$76.7 \pm 6.9^{\#\#}$	0.006

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to II genotype group (p = 0.001)

**Significantly different compared to II genotype group (p = 0.018)

^{\neq}Significantly different compared to *ID* genotype group (p = 0.006)

*Significantly different compared to II genotype group (p = 0.007)

^{##}Significantly different compared to *II* genotype group (p = 0.038)

Changes in DBP following mid- and post-training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups are portrayed in Figure 6.3. DBP in all genotype groups did not significantly change following mid-training ($II = (\Delta = -2.8 \pm 5.6, t(9) = 1.576, p = 0.149$), $ID = (\Delta = -2.1 \pm 3.9, t(9) = 1.747, p = 0.115$), and $DD = (\Delta = -2.3 \pm 9.4, t(9) = 0.759, p = 0.467)$). DBP in all genotype groups was also not significantly changed following post-training ($II = (\Delta = -1.4 \pm 3.7, t(9) = 1.231, p = 0.250$), $ID = (\Delta = -1.8 \pm 5.7, t(9) = 0.971, p = 0.357)$, and $DD = (\Delta = -1.1 \pm 4.4, t(9) = 0.801, p = 0.444)$).



Figure 6.3 Changes in diastolic blood pressure value to IHG training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups

 $\underline{Note.}$ Data shown as mean \pm SD

6.5.3.3 Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP)

MAP at pre-, mid-, and post-training among *ACE I/D* genotype groups are shown in Table 6.6. MAP at pre-training (F(2, 27) = 9.747, p = 0.001), mid-training (F(2, 27) = 6.395, p = 0.005), and post-training (F(2, 27) = 6.006, p = 0.007) were significantly different between the *ACE I/D* genotype groups. At pre-training, MAP in the *II* genotype group was significantly lower than *ID* (p = 0.001) and *DD* (p = 0.009) genotype groups. At mid-training, *II* genotype group had a significantly lower MAP than the *ID* genotype group (p = 0.005), but not for the *DD* genotype group (p = 0.085). Meanwhile, MAP at post-training in the *II* genotype group was significantly lower compared to the *ID* (p = 0.010) and *DD* (p = 0.035) genotype groups.

Table 6.6	Mean arterial pressure	at pre-,	mid-, and	d post-training	among	ACE	I/D
	genotype groups						

Time course	<i>II</i> (n=10)	<i>ID</i> (n=10)	DD (n=10)	p value
Pre-training	85.2 ± 4.5	$95.4 \pm 5.8*$	$93.1 \pm 6.0 **$	0.001
Mid-training	$82.6\pm6.4^{\neq}$	93.3 ± 4.5	89.7 ± 8.8	0.005
Post-training	83.7 ± 5.3	$92.1 \pm 5.3^{\#}$	$90.7 \pm 6.7^{\#}$	0.007

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significantly different compared to II genotype group (p = 0.001)

**Significantly different compared to *II* genotype group (p = 0.009)

^{\neq}Significantly different compared to *ID* genotype group (p = 0.005)

[#]Significantly different compared to *II* genotype group (p = 0.010)

^{##}Significantly different compared to *II* genotype group (p = 0.035)

Changes in MAP following mid- and post-training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups are displayed in Figure 6.4. MAP in all genotype groups did not significantly change with mid-training ($II = (\Delta = -2.6 \pm 5.0, t(9) = 1.599, p = 0.144$), $ID = (\Delta = -2.1 \pm 4.9, t(9) = 1.347, p = 0.211$), and $DD = (\Delta = -3.4 \pm 7.7, t(9) = 1.387, p = 0.199)$). MAP in all genotype groups was also not significantly changed with post-training ($II = (\Delta = -1.5 \pm 3.5, t(9) = 1.309, p = 0.223$), $ID = (\Delta = -3.3 \pm 5.3, t(9) = 1.953, p = 0.083)$, and $DD = (\Delta = -2.3 \pm 3.7, t(9) = 1.987, p = 0.078)$).



Figure 6.4 Changes in mean arterial pressure value to IHG training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

6.5.3.4 Pulse Pressure (PP)

Table 6.7 presents PP at pre-, mid-, and post-training among *ACE I/D* genotype groups. PP at pre-training (F(2, 27) = 0.064, p = 0.938), mid-training (F(2, 27) = 0.488, p = 0.619), and post-training (F(2, 27) = 1.574, p = 0.226) were not significantly different between the *ACE I/D* genotype groups.

Table 6.7 Pulse pressure at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups **Time course** *II* (n=10) ID (n=10) **DD** (n=10) p value 45.2 ± 7.3 44.4 ± 9.2 45.8 ± 8.7 Pre-training 0.938 45.9 ± 7.0 44.6 ± 10.3 42.4 ± 6.6 Mid-training 0.619 Post-training 45.2 ± 8.2 39.9 ± 6.4 42.1 ± 5.1 0.226

<u>Note.</u>

Data shown as mean \pm SD

Changes in PP following mid- and post-training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups are displayed in Figure 6.5. PP in all genotype groups did not significantly change with mid-training (*II* = ($\Delta = 0.7 \pm 6.9$, t(9) = -0.303, p = 0.769), *ID* = ($\Delta = 0.2 \pm 6.5$, t(9) = -0.092, p = 0.928), and *DD* = ($\Delta = -3.4 \pm 7.9$, t(9) = 1.364, p = 0.206)). PP in all genotype groups was also not significantly changed with post-training (*II* = ($\Delta = -0.1 \pm 5.2$, t(9) = 0.054, p = 0.958), *ID* = ($\Delta = -4.6 \pm 7.2$, t(9) = 2.009, p = 0.075), and *DD* = ($\Delta = -3.6 \pm 6.0$, t(9) = 1.899, p = 0.090)).



Figure 6.5 Changes in pulse pressure value to IHG training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

6.5.3.5 Heart Rate (HR)

Table 6.8 presents HR at pre-, mid-, and post-training among ACE I/D genotype groups. HR at pre-training (F(2, 27) = 0.083, p = 0.920), mid-training (F(2, 27) = 0.891, p = 0.422), and post-training (F(2, 27) = 0.407, p = 0.669) were not significantly different between the ACE I/D genotype groups.

Table 6.8	Heart rate at pre-,	mid-, and post-tr	aining among A	CE I/D genotype
	groups			
Time course	<i>II</i> (n=10)	<i>ID</i> (n=10)	DD (n=10)	p value
Pre-training	78.6 ± 6.5	79.8 ± 9.5	79.8 ± 7.7	0.920
Mid-training	77.0 ± 8.7	77.0 ± 10.2	81.7 ± 8.3	0.422
Post-training	78.9 ± 8.1	76.1 ± 9.3	75.5 ± 9.8	0.669
Note				

Data shown as mean \pm SD

Changes in HR following mid- and post-training in ACE I/D genotype groups are presented in Figure 6.6. HR in all genotype groups did not significantly change with midtraining ($II = (\Delta = -1.6 \pm 6.8, t(9) = 0.726, p = 0.486)$, $ID = (\Delta = -2.9 \pm 9.1, t(9) = 1.009, p = 0.009)$ = 0.339), and $DD = (\Delta = 1.9 \pm 6.8, t(9) = -0.884, p = 0.400)$). HR decreased significantly following post-training in ID (Δ = -3.8 ± 3.5, t(9) = 3.392, p = 0.008) and DD (Δ = -4.3 ± 4.2, t(9) = 3.246, p = 0.010) genotype groups. However, HR in *II* genotype group did not significantly change following post-training ($\Delta = 0.4 \pm 8.1$, t(9) = -0.144, p = 0.889).





Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD

*Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.008)

[#]Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.010)

6.5.4 ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism and Muscular Response

6.5.4.1 Handgrip Strength (HGS)

HGS at pre-, mid-, and post-training among *ACE I/D* genotype groups are shown in Table 6.9. HGS at pre-training (F(2, 27) = 1.827, p = 0.180), mid-training (F(2, 27) = 2.306, p = 0.119), and post-training (F(2, 27) = 0.870, p = 0.431) were not significantly different between the *ACE I/D* genotype groups.

Table 0.9	nanugrip	strength	at	pre-,	iiiia-,	and	post-training	among	ACE	I/D
	genotype g	groups								

Time course	<i>II</i> (n=10)	<i>ID</i> (n=10)	DD (n=10)	p value
Pre-training	43.4 ± 4.9	46.3 ± 8.0	40.8 ± 6.3	0.180
Mid-training	43.3 ± 5.7	46.3 ± 7.9	39.9 ± 6.0	0.119
Post-training	47.6 ± 4.6	47.1 ± 9.5	43.5 ± 7.8	0.431
Note.				

Data shown as mean \pm SD

Changes in HGS following mid- and post-training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups are presented in Figure 6.7. HGS in all genotype groups did not significantly change with mid-training ($II = (\Delta = -0.1 \pm 2.1, t(9) = 0.149, p = 0.885$), $ID = (\Delta = -0.1 \pm 1.4, t(9) = 0.136, p = 0.895$), and $DD = (\Delta = -0.8 \pm 3.1, t(9) = 0.844, p = 0.420)$). HGS increased significantly following post-training in the *II* genotype group ($\Delta = 4.2 \pm 4.1, t(9) = -3.212$, p = 0.011). Nevertheless, HGS in *ID* ($\Delta = 0.8 \pm 2.8, t(9) = -0.851, p = 0.417$) and *DD* ($\Delta = 2.7 \pm 5.6, t(9) = -1.542, p = 0.158$) genotype groups did not significantly change with IHG training.



Figure 6.7 Changes in handgrip strength value to IHG training in *ACE I/D* genotype groups

Note.

Data shown as mean \pm SD *Significant change from pre-training (p = 0.011)

6.6 Discussion

This study examined if the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism could influence cardiovascular and muscular responses to 8-weeks of IHG training among normotensive men in Malaysia. The main finding of this study was that the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism influences cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week IHG training in a normotensive population with the possession of *ACE D* and *ACE I* allele had an effect in reducing resting blood pressure and improved muscular strength, respectively, following the training.

Findings obtained from the current study showed that cardiovascular and muscular responses to IHG training varied between normotensive individuals with different *ACE I/D* genotypes. Consistent with the results retrieved from Kim (2009), this study revealed that normotensive men with *DD* and *ID* genotypes tended to have decreased resting SBP and HR with IHG training more than those with *II* genotype. Nevertheless, this finding was not comparable to the findings obtained from some previous studies (Hagberg et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 2002) that demonstrated individuals with *II* genotype had lower resting blood pressure than other genotypes after exercise. This inconsistency may be due to the differences in the mode of exercise performed. For example, a study by Kim (2009) involved mixed aerobic and resistance exercise training compared with only aerobic training (endurance training) in study by Hagberg et al. (1999). Several studies have demonstrated that the physiological adaptation for aerobic training was greater among

individuals with *II* genotype, and those with *DD* genotype responded better to resistance training (Cam et al., 2005, Defoor et al., 2006, Cam et al., 2007).

With regard to ACE activity, individuals with *DD* genotype had higher ACE activity compared to those with *II* genotype (Rigat et al., 1990). A higher level of ACE in circulating and skeletal muscle renin-angiotensin system (RAS) would increase the production of angiotensin II (ANG II) (Jones and Woods, 2003, Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). Nevertheless, ANG II has different effects on circulating and skeletal muscle RAS (Jones and Woods, 2003). In circulating RAS, ANG II binds to several receptors that construct the blood vessels to increase blood pressure (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006). However, ANG II in skeletal muscle RAS stimulates the production of angiotensin (ANG) (1-7) peptide; a potent vasodilator that causes a decrease in blood pressure (Jones and Woods, 2003). As this study employed an IHG training that particularly involved the contraction of skeletal muscle, the reduction in SBP and HR in individuals with *DD* genotype might be interpreted due to high production of ANG (1-7) during exercise. Nonetheless, the present study did not measure the components of skeletal muscle RAS, which warrants for future studies to confirm this possible mechanism.

The greater reduction in SBP and HR among *DD* genotype carrier could also be due to their higher baseline blood pressure values. This present result was consistent with the finding obtained by Millar et al. (2007), who demonstrated that normotensive individuals with higher baseline values of resting SBP and HR had a more pronounced reduction in these parameters after IHG training than those with lower baseline values. This finding was also consistent with Wiley's et al. (1992), who observed a larger reduction in resting blood pressure in hypertensive patients following isometric exercise training compared with normotensive individuals. Collectively, these findings support the idea generated by Badrov et al. (2013), who had previously suggested that individuals with higher baseline blood pressure values might have greater capacity for reduction in blood pressure following IHG training compared to those with lower baseline blood pressure value. This speculation is supported by the fact that those with higher resting blood pressure, such as hypertensive patients, present greater sympathetic activity at rest (Schlaich et al., 2004) that could lead to greater hemodynamic responsiveness to sympathetic activation (Kaushik et al., 2004).

In the present study, the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism was observed to influence muscular response to IHG training. The *II* genotype carriers exhibited a significantly greater increase in muscle strength after IHG training than *ID* and *DD* genotype carriers. This finding appears to contradict previous studies, which demonstrated that individuals with *DD* genotype obtained higher gains in muscle strength after exercise training than other genotype groups (Folland et al., 2000, Giaccaglia et al., 2008). The possible interpretation of the present data is that the lower ACE activity in participants with *ACE II* genotype may raise the production of bradykinin in skeletal muscle that increases local concentrations of nitric oxide, which in turn, raises mitochondrial efficiency, and thus, contractile function in skeletal muscle (Zhao et al., 1999). Moreover, previous study has shown that a high level of bradykinin in *II* genotype carriers resulted in improved tissue

oxygenation and a lesser rise in lactate that could lead to greater muscle efficiency (Kanazawa et al., 2002).

The findings obtained from the current study reaffirm previous reports of a reduction in resting BP after an 8-week IHG training among normotensive individuals (McGowan et al., 2007, Millar et al., 2008, Badrov et al., 2013). Similar to previous studies, this study found that an 8-week IHG training significantly decreased resting SBP, MAP, and PP by 4.2 mmHg, 2.4 mmHg, and 2.8 mmHg, respectively, (McGowan et al., 2007, Millar et al., 2008, Badrov et al., 2013). However, insignificant difference was observed in resting DBP after the IHG training program, which was similar to those reported previously among normotensive women (Badrov et al., 2013). However, the explanation for the lack of change in DBP following an 8-week IHG training has remained unclear. It may likely be due to the fact that DBP has a smaller range of values than SBP that limits the maximal change in DBP value (Pikilidou et al., 2013).

Concomitant with the reduction in resting BP, resting HR was also observed to be significantly lower after an 8-week IHG training. The decrease in resting HR in the present study was similar to the earlier finding by Singh et al. (2014). In fact, previous studies have suggested that the decrease in resting blood pressure and HR may be due to a reduction in sympathetic nerve activity during IHG exercise (Wiley et al., 1992, Mueller, 2007). When blood pressure is elevated during IHG exercise, the baroreceptors are stretched, resulting in a reflex-mediated increase in parasympathetic nerve activity, and a decrease in sympathetic nerve activity (Wiley et al., 1992). Consequently, it caused the
decline in the heart rate, while the diameter of blood vessels increased; leading to a drop in the blood pressure (Wiley et al., 1992).

Besides resting blood pressure and HR, the present study also showed that the 8week IHG training improved muscle strength. The increase in muscle strength observed in this study had been consistent with those found in previous studies that demonstrated IHG exercise at 30% of MVC improved muscle strength (Howden et al., 2002, Mortimer and McKune, 2011). Considering all the changes in resting BP and HR, as well as muscle strength following IHG training, this training mode may be prescribed as part of lifestyle modification in maintaining a desirable blood pressure level, improving health quality of life, and reducing the risk of several diseases.

Comparable with the findings on cardiovascular response to IHG training, there was a significant reduction in cardiovascular variables immediately following a session of IHG exercise. Resting SBP and MAP were observed to significantly reduce by 3.2 mmHG and 2.7 mmHG, respectively, in response to IHG exercise. These findings indicated that IHG exercise may provide substantial benefits for hypertensive patients to lower their resting BP and HR for certain periods.

Although the present study has yielded some preliminary findings, there are some limitations that should be considered. First, the sample size in each genotype group may have been too small, and further larger studies are required to confirm these results. Second, the present study did not include a non-exercising control group to reduce variability of the results as the present study was primarily designed to investigate the effects of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on IHG training adaptation where data were compared between genotype groups.

Despite these limitations, the current results remain valid and applicable as the participants in each were relatively homogeneous in terms gender, physical characteristics, and health status. The intervention was standardized participants with the same trained investigator conducted the training intervention. The participants underwent familiarization procedures to reduce the apprehension-induced variability of the baseline measurements. The present study was conducted as single-blind study where the genotype of the participants was withheld from the participants.

6.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, the present study demonstrated the influence of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week IHG training in a normotensive population. Hence, future studies on hypertensive patients are warranted to confirm the effects of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on cardiovascular and muscular responses to an 8-week IHG training.

CHAPTER 7

GENERAL CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

7.1 General Conclusion

The series of experiments presented in this thesis aimed to investigate the distribution of angiotensin I-converting enzyme (*ACE*) *I/D* and alpha-actinin-3 (*ACTN3*) *R/X* gene polymorphisms among an Asian population in Malaysia and its effect on human physical performance. The novelty of this entire research project was to demonstrate if *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms influence physical performance and health in an Asian population in Malaysia which has received little previous attention compared to Caucasian populations. Specifically, this project addressed whether the distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms is different in the Asian population in Malaysia as compared to the Caucasian population. Further investigation was carried out to determine if human physical performance is affected by the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms within the Asian population in Malaysia as has been widely reported among the Caucasian population.

Based on the findings retrieved from the three presented studies, this thesis concludes that the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms play an important role in human physical performance and health within the Malaysian population. The specific

conclusions derived from the series of experiments presented in this thesis are depicted in the following:-

- 1. The distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism within the Malaysian population was different to the Australian population. The distribution of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism also varied significantly between four ethnic groups in the Malaysian population. This finding highlighted that the current understanding on how *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism may influence human physical performance may be different in different ethnic population. Conversely, the distribution of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism did not differ between Malaysian and Australian populations as well as between four ethnic groups in the Malaysian population. This finding suggests that the *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphism may confer similar effects across different ethnic population.
- 2. Possession of the *D* allele of *ACE I/D* and *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms had a positive effect on strength/power performance in Malaysian population. This data confirmed the positive effects of possession of the *D* allele of *ACE I/D* and *R* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on strength/power performance within the Asian ethnicity, as previously suggested for the Caucasian population (Clarkson et al., 2005b, Williams et al., 2005, Moran et al., 2006b, Vincent et al., 2007, Charbonneau, 2007, Giaccaglia et al., 2008, Ahmetov et al., 2013, Erskine et al., 2014). This finding highlights the importance of genetic

screening for athletes to ensure that they are suited to play a particular sport based on their genetic profile and for coaches to use when planning training programs.

On the other hand, possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* and *X* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms did not influence endurance performance in the Malaysian population. This finding suggests that possession of the *I* allele of *ACE I/D* and *X* allele of *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms may not the absolute criteria for success as far as endurance performance is concerned.

The distribution of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms do not vary much between different ethnic groups of Malaysian athletes and did not have much influence on the physical performance between these ethnic groups. This finding indicated that *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms may confer similar effects on human physical performance across different ethnic group in Malaysia.

3. The *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism influences cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to an 8-week isometric handgrip (IHG) training in a normotensive population. This study demonstrated that the normotensive men with *DD* and *ID* genotypes tended to have a decreased resting SBP and HR with IHG training more than those men with *II* genotype. On the contrary, the *II* genotype carriers exhibited a significantly greater increase in muscle strength after IHG training than those with *ID* and *DD* genotype carriers. This data may serve as a basis in

identifying individuals who would be more likely to benefit from the 8-week IHG training program.

7.2 Strengths and Limitations

Although this entire research project has reached its aims, there were some unavoidable limitations. Unforeseen difficulty in obtaining a large enough number of participants in each study may limit the generalizability of the current findings. As the second study are based on relatively mixed samples comprised of both genders, it is not clear whether the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance within the Malaysian population is related to specific gender.

Another shortcoming of the research is that the analyses of physical performance in the second study were restricted to the Malaysian athletes with no data available for the Malaysian controls in order to improve power by reducing variability. In addition, due to time constraint, there is no data available on the physical performance of Australian athletes. However, this is not considered to have any important impact on the main results of this study and further research could replicate the analyses of physical performance amongst the Australian athletes and Malaysian controls to further confirm the current finding. Another limitation of the research is the third study did not include a nonexercising control group to reduce variability of the results as the third study was primarily designed to investigate the effects of *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism on IHG training adaptation where data were compared between genotype groups. Nevertheless, future studies involving non-exercising control group are warranted to confirm the present findings.

Despite the unavoidable limitations in the present research, a number of design features of this research lend support for the validity of the present findings. This research project followed recent recommendations on genomic research and exercise, that studies should use all the experimental approaches (case-control, cross-sectional and intervention studies) to demonstrate the relevance of ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms to human physical performance and health within the Malaysian population (Guilherme et al., 2014). In the first and second study, the proportion of participants with different ethnic backgrounds in the Malaysian population had been set according to the current distribution ratio in Malaysia (Statistic, 2011), providing a more representative findings for the Malaysian population. In addition, participants within athlete and control groups in the Malaysian population were ethnically-matched to limit and control the potential effect of ethnicity. Malaysian and Australian populations were well-matched on age, gender, sample size and sporting discipline. Given that genotype distributions of studied polymorphisms were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in the control group, the genetic assessment was accurate and unbiased. In the third study, the participants were relatively homogeneous in terms of age, sex, physical characteristic and health status with the intervention was standardized across the participants.

7.3 Future Directions

The current understanding on the influence of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and health remained controversial with inclusive findings especially when examined across different ethnicity. The series of experiments presented in this thesis has provided new insight regarding ethnicity and the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms effect on human physical performance and health. While several conclusions were drawn in this thesis, further studies are warranted in order to further confirm the effect of genetic across different ethnicities. Based on the current findings, further studies which address the following research question should be considered;

- 1. Are there any genetic variant interaction between the *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms in influencing human physical performance?
- 2. Do the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance differ by gender?
- 3. What is the potential mechanism underlying the effects of ACE I/D and ACTN3R/X gene polymorphisms on human physical performance and health?

- 4. Do the effects of *ACE I/D* and *ACTN3 R/X* gene polymorphisms on human physical performance observed within the Malaysian population be of significance in other Asian populations?
- 5. Does the difference in the athlete development program between Malaysian and Australian population influence the distribution pattern of the ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X gene polymorphisms in athletic population of these two populations?
- 6. Does the *ACE I/D* gene polymorphism drive similar cardiovascular and muscular changes in hypertensive patients following an 8-week IHG training program as those observed in normotensive participants in the current thesis?

REFERENCES

- Abdi Rad I & Bagheri M (2011) Angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion gene polymorphism in general population of west Azarbaijan, Iran. *Iran J Kidney Dis*, 5, 86-92.
- Ahmetov, Ii, Gavrilov DN, Astratenkova IV, Druzhevskaya AM, Malinin AV, Romanova EE & Rogozkin VA (2013) The association of ACE, ACTN3 and PPARA gene variants with strength phenotypes in middle school-age children. *J Physiol Sci*, 63, 79-85.
- Ahmetov II, Druzhevskaya AM, Astratenkova IV, Popov DV, Vinogradova OL & Rogozkin VA (2008a) The ACTN3 R577X polymorphism in Russian endurance athletes. *Br J Sports Med*, 44, 649-652.
- Ahmetov II, Druzhevskaya AM, Lyubaeva EV, Popov DV, Vinogradova OL & Williams AG (2011) The dependence of preferred competitive racing distance on muscle fibre type composition and ACTN3 genotype in speed skaters. *Exp Physiol*, 96, 1302-1310.
- Ahmetov II, Popov DV, Astratenkova IV, Druzhevskaya AM, Missina SS, Vinogradova OL & Rogozkin VA (2008b) The use of molecular genetic methods for prognosis of aerobic and anaerobic performance in athletes. *Hum Physiol*, 34, 338-342.
- Aĭtkhozhina NA & Liudvikova EK (2003) Polymorphism of the promoter region of the angiotensinogen gene and the gene for angiotensin I-converting enzyme in arterial hypertension and cardiovascular disease of the Kazakh ethnic group. *Genetika*, 39, 293-299.
- Allen DG, Lamb GD & Westerblad H (2008) Skeletal muscle fatigue: cellular mechanisms. *Physiol Rev*, 88, 287-332.

- Alonso L, Souza E, Oliveira M, Do Nascimento L & Dantas P (2014) Heritability of aerobic power of individuals in northeast Brazil. *Biol Sport*, 31, 267-270.
- Alvarez R, Terrados N, Ortolano R, Iglesias-Cubero G, Reguero JR, Batalla A, Cortina A, Fernandez-Garcia B, Rodriguez C, Braga S, Alvarez V & Coto E (2000) Genetic variation in the renin-angiotensin system and athletic performance. *Euro* J Appl Physiol, 82, 117-120.
- Amir O, Amir R, Yamin C, Attias E, Eynon N, Sagiv M & Meckel Y (2007) Human, Environmental & Exercise: The ACE deletion allele is associated with Israeli elite endurance athletes. *Exp Physiol*, 92, 881-886.
- Anumula SK, Beku C & Murthy Y (2014) Measurement of Reliability in Grip Strength. *Indian J Physiother Occup Ther*, 8, 115.
- Araujo CG, Duarte CV, Goncalves Fde A, Medeiros HB, Lemos FA & Gouvea AL (2011) Hemodynamic responses to an isometric handgrip training protocol. *Arq Bras Cardiol*, 97, 413-419.
- Arora P & Newton-Cheh C (2010) Blood pressure and human genetic variation in the general population. *Curr Opin Cardiol*, 25, 229-237.
- Ash GI, Scott RA, Deason M, Dawson TA, Wolde B, Bekele Z, Teka S & Pitsiladis YP (2011) No association between ACE gene variation and endurance athlete status in Ethiopians. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 590-597.

Ashok C (2008) Test Your Physical Fitness. Kalpaz Publications.

Athilingam P, Munro C, D'aoust R, Karch A & Chen L (2012) Cognitive protection by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in heart failure. *Int J Nurs Stud*, 2, 14-22.

- Attia J, Ioannidis JP, Thakkinstian A, Mcevoy M, Scott RJ, Minelli C, Thompson J, Infante-Rivard C & Guyatt G (2009) How to use an article about genetic association: B: Are the results of the study valid? *JAMA*, 301, 191-197.
- Auerbach I, Tenenbaum A, Motro M, Stroh CI, Har-Zahav Y & Fisman EZ (2000) Blunted responses of doppler-derived aortic flow parameters during whole-body heavy isometric exercise in heart transplant recipients. *J Heart Lung Transplant*, 19, 1063-1070.
- Badrov MB, Bartol CL, Dibartolomeo MA, Millar PJ, Mcnevin NH & Mcgowan CL (2013) Effects of isometric handgrip training dose on resting blood pressure and resistance vessel endothelial function in normotensive women. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 113, 2091-2100.
- Baker J & Davids K (2006) Genetic and environmental constraints on variability in sport performance. *In:* DAVIDS, K., BENNETT, S. & NEWELL, K. M. (eds.) *Movement system variability*. illustrated ed.: Human Kinetics.
- Bangsbo J, Iaia FM & Krustrup P (2008) The Yo-Yo intermittent recovery test : a useful tool for evaluation of physical performance in intermittent sports. *Sports Med*, 38, 37-51.
- Barbalic M, Pericic M, Skaric-Juric T & Narancic NS (2004) Ace Alu insertion polymorphism in Croatia and its isolates. *Coll Antropol*, 28, 603-610.
- Barley J, Blackwood A, Carter ND, Crews DE, Cruickshank JK, Jeffery S, Ogunlesi AO & Sagnella GA (1994) Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism: association with ethnic origin. J Hypertens, 12, 955-957.
- Barley J, Blackwood A, Miller M, Markandu ND, Carter ND, Jeffery S, Cappuccio FP, Macgregor GA & Sagnella GA (1996) Angiotensin converting enzyme gene I/D

polymorphism, blood pressure and the renin-angiotensin system in Caucasian and Afro-Caribbean peoples. *J Hum Hypertens*, 10, 31-35.

- Baross AW, Wiles JD & Swaine IL (2012) Effects of the intensity of leg isometric training on the vasculature of trained and untrained limbs and resting blood pressure in middle-aged men. *Int J Vasc Med*, 2012, 1-8.
- Batzer MA, Arcot SS, Phinney JW, Alegria-Hartman M, Kass DH, Milligan SM, Kimpton C, Gill P, Hochmeister M, Ioannou PA, Herrera RJ, Boudreau DA, Scheer WD, Keats BJ, Deininger PL & Stoneking M (1996) Genetic variation of recent Alu insertions in human populations. *J Mol Evol*, 42, 22-29.
- Batzer MA, Stoneking M, Alegria-Hartman M, Bazan H, Kass DH, Shaikh TH, Novick GE, Ioannou PA, Scheer WD, Herrera RJ & Et Al. (1994) African origin of human-specific polymorphic Alu insertions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 12288-12292.
- Baynard T, Carhart RL, Jr., Ploutz-Snyder LL, Weinstock RS & Kanaley JA (2008) Shortterm training effects on diastolic function in obese persons with the metabolic syndrome. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 16, 1277-1283.
- Bayoumi RA, Simsek, M., Yahya T.M., Bendict, S., Al-Hinai, A., Al-Barwani, H. & Hassan, M. D. (2006) Insertion deletion polymorphism in the angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE) gene among Sudanese, Somalis, Emiratis, and Omanis. *Hum Biol*, 78, 103-108.
- Berdeli A & Cam FS (2009) Prevalence of the Angiotensin I Converting Enzyme Gene Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism in a Healthy Turkish Population. *Biochem Genet*, 47, 412-420.
- Bouchard C & Hoffman E (2011) *Genetic and Molecular Aspects of Sport Performance*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

- Bouchard C, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH & Gagnon J (1995) The HERITAGE family study. Aims, design, and measurement protocol. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 27, 721-729.
- Bouchard C, Malina RM & Pérusse L (1997) Genetics of Fitness and Physical Performance. Human Kinetics.
- Bray MS, Hagberg JM, Pérusse L, Rankinen T, Roth SM, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2009) The Human Gene Map for Performance and Health-Related Fitness Phenotypes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 41, 35-73.
- Brownley KA, West SG, Hinderliter AL & Light KC (1996) Acute aerobic exercise reduces ambulatory blood pressure in borderline hypertensive men and women. *Am J Hypertens*, 9, 200-206.
- Calvo M, Rodas G, Vallejo M, Estruch A, Arcas A, Javierre C, Viscor G & Ventura JL (2002) Heritability of explosive power and anaerobic capacity in humans. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 86, 218-225.
- Cam FS, Colakoglu M, Sekuri C, Colakoglu S, Sahan C & Berdeli A (2005) Association between the ACE I/D gene polymorphism and physical performance in a homogeneous non-elite cohort. *Can J Appl Physiol*, 30, 74-86.
- Cam S, Colakoglu M, Colakoglu S, Sekuri C & Berdeli A (2007) ACE I/D gene polymorphism and aerobic endurance development in response to training in a non-elite female cohort. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 47, 234-238.
- Cambien F, Alhenc-Gelas F, Herbeth B, Andre JL, Rakotovao R, Gonzales MF, Allegrini J & Bloch C (1988) Familial resemblance of plasma angiotensin-converting enzyme level: the Nancy Study. *Am J Hum Genet*, 43, 774-780.

- Cambien F, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Evans A, Cambou JP, Arveiler D, Luc G, Bard JM, Bara L, Ricard S, Tiret L, Amouyel P, Alhencs-Gelas F & Soubrier F (1992) Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is a potent risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Nature*, 359, 641-644.
- Camelo D, Arboleda G, Yunis JJ, Pardo R, Arango G, Solano E, Lopez L, Hedmont D & Arboleda H (2004) Angiotensin-converting enzyme and alpha-2-macroglobulin gene polymorphisms are not associated with Alzheimer's disease in Colombian patients. *J Neurol Sci*, 218, 47-51.
- Cerit M, Colakoglu M, Erdogan M, Berdeli A & Cam FS (2006) Relationship between ace genotype and short duration aerobic performance development. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 98, 461-465.
- Charbonneau D. (2007) Association Between ACE Genotype and Skeletal Muscle Strength and Volume, and Their Response to Strength Training in Older Adults. Masters of Arts, University of Maryland.
- Charbonneau DE, Hanson ED, Ludlow AT, Delmonico MJ, Hurley BF & Roth SM (2008) ACE genotype and the muscle hypertrophic and strength responses to strength training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 40, 677-683.
- Chatterjee S & Das N (1995) Physical and motor fitness in twins. *Jpn J Physiol*, 45, 519-534.
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL, Jr., Jones DW, Materson BJ, Oparil S, Wright JT, Jr. & Roccella EJ (2003) Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*, 42, 1206-1252.
- Chuang LM, Chiu KC, Chiang FT, Lee KC, Wu HP, Lin BJ & Tai TY (1997) Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism of the Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme Gene

in Patients With Hypertension, Non-Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus, and Coronary Heart Disease in Taiwan. *Metab Clin Exp*, 46, 1211-1214.

- Cieszczyk P, Eider J, Ostanek M, Arczewska A, Leonska-Duniec A, Sawczyn S, Ficek K & Krupecki K (2011) Association of the ACTN3 R577X Polymorphism in Polish Power-Orientated Athletes. *J Hum Kinet*, 28, 55-61.
- Cieszczyk P, Krupecki K, Maciejewska A & Sawczuk M (2009) The angiotensin converting enzyme gene I/D polymorphism in Polish rowers. *Int J Sport Med*, 30, 624-627.
- Cieszczyk P, Maciejewska A, Sawczuk M, Ficek K, Eider J & Jascaniene N (2010) The angiotensin converting enzyme gene I/D polymorphism in ellite Polish and Lithuanian judo players. *Biol Sport*, 27, 119-122.
- Clarkson PM, Devaney JM, Gordish-Dressman H, Thompson PD, Hubal MJ, Urso M, Price TB, Angelopoulos TJ, Gordon PM, Moyna NM, Pescatello LS, Visich PS, Zoeller RF, Seip RL & Hoffman EP (2005a) ACTN3 genotype is associated with increases in muscle strength in response to resistance training in women. *J Appl Physiol*, 99, 154-163.
- Clarkson PM, Hoffman EP, Zambraski E, Gordish-Dressman H, Kearns A, Hubal M, Harmon B & Devaney JM (2005b) ACTN3 and MLCK genotype associations with exertional muscle damage. *J Appl Physiol*, 99, 564-569.
- Coates D (2003) The angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 35, 769-773.
- Coldwells A, Atkinson G & Reilly T (1994) Sources of variation in back and leg dynamometry. *Ergonomics*, 37, 79-86.

- Collier SR, Kanaley JA, Carhart R, Jr., Frechette V, Tobin MM, Hall AK, Luckenbaugh AN & Fernhall B (2008) Effect of 4 weeks of aerobic or resistance exercise training on arterial stiffness, blood flow and blood pressure in pre- and stage-1 hypertensives. *J Hum Hypertens*, 22, 678-686.
- Collins M, Xenophontos SL, Cariolou MA, Mokone GG, Hudson DE, Anastasiades L & Noakes TD (2004) The ACE gene and endurance performance during the South African Ironman Triathlons. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 36, 1314-1320.
- Comas D, Calafell F, Mateu E, Perez-Lezaun A, Bosch E, Martinez-Arias R, Clarimon J, Facchini F, Fiori G, Luiselli D, Pettener D & Bertranpetit J (1998) Trading genes along the silk road: mtDNA sequences and the origin of central Asian populations. *Am J Hum Genet*, 63, 1824-1838.
- Cornelissen VA & Fagard RH (2005a) Effect of resistance training on resting blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Hypertens*, 23, 251-259.
- Cornelissen VA & Fagard RH (2005b) Effects of endurance training on blood pressure, blood pressure-regulating mechanisms, and cardiovascular risk factors. *Hypertension*, 46, 667-675.
- Cornelissen VA & Smart NA (2013) Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Heart Assoc*, 2, e004473.
- Costa AM, Silva AJ, Garrido ND, Louro H, De Oliveira RJ & Breitenfeld L (2009a) Association between ACE D allele and elite short distance swimming. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 106, 785-790.
- Costa AM, Silva AJ, Garrido ND, Louro H, Marinho DA, Marques MC & Breitenfeld L (2009b) Angiotensin-converting enzyme genotype affects skeletal muscle strength in elite athletes. *J Sports Sci Med*, 8, 410-418.

- De Palo EF, Gatti R, Lancerin F, Cappellin E & Spinella P (2001) Correlations of growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I): effects of exercise and abuse by athletes. *Clin Chim Acta*, 305, 1-17.
- Defoor J, Vanhees L, Martens K, Matthijs G, Van Vlerken A, Zielinska D, Schepers D, Vlietinck R & Fagard R (2006) The CAREGENE study: ACE gene I/D polymorphism and effect of physical training on aerobic power in coronary artery disease. *Heart*, 92, 527-528.
- Delmonico MJ, Kostek MC, Doldo NA, Hand BD, Walsh S, Conway JM, Carignan CR, Roth SM & Hurley BF (2007) Alpha-actinin-3 (ACTN3) R577X polymorphism influences knee extensor peak power response to strength training in older men and women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 62, 206-212.
- Dengel DR, Brown MD, Ferrell RE, Reynolds THT & Supiano MA (2002) Exerciseinduced changes in insulin action are associated with ACE gene polymorphisms in older adults. *Physiol Genomics*, 11, 73-80.
- Devereux G, Wiles J & Swaine I (2010) Reductions in resting blood pressure after 4 weeks of isometric exercise training. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 109, 601-606.
- Devereux GR. (2010) The Effects of Isometric Exercise Training on Resting Blood Pressure With Specific Reference to Selected Cardiovascular, Neuromuscular, and Metabolic Variables. Degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Canterbury Christ Church University.
- Dhanachandra Singh K, Jajodia A, Kaur H, Kukreti R & Karthikeyan M (2014) Gender Specific Association of RAS Gene Polymorphism with Essential Hypertension: A Case-Control Study. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 10.
- Di Pasquale P, Cannizzaro S & Paterna S (2004) Does angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism affect blood pressure? Findings after 6 years of follow-up in healthy subjects. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 6, 11-16.

Dicker K (2010) Exercise. Evans Brothers.

- Djarova T, Watson G, Basson A, Grace J, Cloete J & Ramakoaba A (2011) ACTN3 and TNF gene polymorphism association with C-reactive protein, uric acid, lactate and physical characteristics in young African cricket players. *Afr J Biochem Res*, 5, 22-27.
- Döring FE, Onur S, Geisen U, Boulay MR, Pérusse L, Rankinen T, Rauramaa R, Wolfahrt B & Bouchard C (2010) ACTN3R577X and other polymorphisms are not associated with elite endurance athlete status in the Genathlete study. *J Sports Sci*, 28, 1355-1359.
- Druzhevskaya AM, Ahmetov II, Astratenkova IV & Rogozkin VA (2008) Association of the ACTN3 R577X polymorphism with power athlete status in Russians. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 103, 631-634.
- Dupont WD & Plummer WD (1990) Power and sample size calculations: a review and computer program. *Control Clin Trials*, 11, 116-128.
- Eidera J, Cieszczykb P, Ficeka K, Leonska-Duniecb A, Sawczuka M, Maciejewska-Karlowskaa A & Zarebskaba A (2013) The association between D allele of the ACE gene and power performance in Polish elite athletes. *Sci & Sports*, 325-330.
- Eleni S, Dimitrios K, Vaya P, Areti M, Norma V & Magdalini G (2008) Angiotensin-I converting enzyme gene and I/D polymorphism distribution in the Greek population and a comparison with other European populations. *J Gen*, 87, 91-93.
- Erdoğan H, Mir S, Serdaroğlu E, Berdeli A & Aksu N (2004) Is ACE gene polymorphism a risk factor for renal scarring with low-grade reflux? *Pediatr Neurol*, 19, 734-737.

- Erskine RM, Williams AG, Jones DA, Stewart CE & Degens H (2014) The individual and combined influence of ACE and ACTN3 genotypes on muscle phenotypes before and after strength training. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 24, 642-648.
- Eynon N, Alves AJ, Yamin C, Sagiv M, Duarte JA, Oliveira J, Ayalon M, Goldhammer E & Meckel Y (2009a) Is there an ACE ID ACTN3 R577X polymorphisms interaction that influences sprint performance? *Int J Sport Med*, 30, 888-891.
- Eynon N, Durate JA, Oliveira J, Sagiv M, Yamin C, Meckel Y, Sagiv M & Goldhammer E (2009b) ACTN3 R577X Polymorphism and Israeli Top-level Athletes *Int J Sports Med*, 30, 695-698.
- Fagard RH (2006) Exercise is good for your blood pressure: effects of endurance training and resistance training. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 33, 853-856.
- Fattahi Z & Najmabadi H (2012) Prevalence of ACTN3 (the athlete gene) R577X polymorphism in Iranian population. *Iran Red Crescent Med J*, 14, 617-622.
- Ferrieres J, Ruidavets JB, Fauvel J, Perret B, Taraszkiewicz D, Fourcade J, Nieto M, Chap H & Puel J (1999) Angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene polymorphism in a lowrisk European population for coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis*, 142, 211-216.
- Folland J, Leach B, Little T, Hawker K, Myerson S, Montgomery H & Jones D (2000) Angiotensin-converting enzyme genotype affects the response of human skeletal muscle to functional overload. *Exp Physiol*, 85, 575-579.
- Foy CA, Mccormack LJ, Knowler WC, Barrett JH, Catto A & Grant PJ (1996) The angiotensin-I converting enzyme (ACE) gene I/D polymorphism and ACE levels in Pima Indians. *J Med Genet*, 33, 336-337.

- Fujisawa T, Ikegami H, Kawaguchi Y, Hamada Y, Ueda H, Shintani M, Fukuda M & Ogihara T (1998) Meta-analysis of association of insertion/deletion polymorphism of angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene with diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy. *Diabetologia*, 41, 47-53.
- Gan GG, Subramaniam R, Lian LH & Nadarajan V (2013) Ethnic variation in interleukin-6 -174 (g/c) polymorphism in the malaysian population. *Balkan J Med Genet*, 16, 53-58.
- Gayagay G, Yu B, Hambly B, Boston T, Hahn A, Celermajer DS & Trent RJ (1998) Elite endurance athletes and the ACE I allele - the role of genes in athletic performance. *Hum Genet*, 103, 48-50.
- Geisterfer AaT, Peach MJ & Owens GK (1998) Angiotensin II induces hypertrophy, not hyperplasia, of cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res*, 62, 749-756.
- Gentil P, Pereira RW, Leite TKM & Bottaro M (2011) ACTN3 577X Polymorphism and neuromuscular response to resistance training. *J Sports Sci Med*, 10, 393-399.
- Giaccaglia V, Nicklas B, Kritchevsky S, Mychalecky J, Messier S, Bleecker E & Pahor M (2008) Interaction between angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion genotype and exercise training on knee extensor strength in older individuals. *Int* J Sports Med, 29, 40-44.
- Gineviciene V, Pranculis A, Jakaitiene A, Milasius K & Kucinskas V (2011) Genetic variation of the human ACE and ACTN3 genes and their association with functional muscle properties in Lithuanian elite athletes. *Medicina (Kaunas)*, 47, 284-290.
- Godfrey RJ, Madgwick Z & Whyte GP (2003) The exercise-induced growth hormone response in athletes. *Sports Med*, 33, 599-613.

- Goel H & Mittal B (2007) ACTN3: Athlete gene prevalence in North India. *Curr Sci*, 92, 84-86.
- Goh KP, Chew K, Koh A, Guan M, Wong YS & Sum CF (2009) The relationship between ACE gene ID polymorphism and aerobic capacity in Asian rugby players. *Singapore Med J*, 50, 997-1003.
- Goldberg MJ, Boutcher SH & Boutcher YN (2012) The effect of 4 weeks of aerobic exercise on vascular and baroreflex function of young men with a family history of hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens*, 26, 644-649.
- Gomez-Gallego F, Santiago C, Gonzalez-Freire M, Muniesa CA, Fernandez Del Valle M, Perez M, Foster C & Lucia A (2009) Endurance performance: genes or gene combinations? *Int J Sports Med*, 30, 66-72.
- Graf C, Diet F, Palma-Hohmann I, Mahnke N, Böhm M, Rost R & Predel H-G (2001) Correlations of the Renin-Angiotensin-System (RAS) Gene Polymorphisms With Cardiac Growth Factors Endothelin-1 and Angiotensin II in High Performance Athlete. *Eur J Sport Sci*, 1, 1-7.
- Gregory M. (2012) The effects of isometric handgrip training on carotid arterial compliance and resting blood pressure in postmenopausal women. Degree of Master of Human Kinetics, University of Windsor.
- Guilherme JPLF, Tritto ACC, North KN, Lancha Junior AH & Artioli GG (2014) Genetics and sport performance: current challenges and directions to the future. *Rev Bras Educ Fís Esporte*, 28, 177-193.
- Hagberg JM, Ferrell RE, Dengel DR & Wilund KR (1999) Exercise training-induced blood pressure and plasma lipid improvements in hypertensives may be genotype dependent. *Hypertension*, 34, 18-23.

- Hagberg JM, Ferrell RE, Mccole SD, Wilund KR & Moore GE (1998) VO2 max is associated with ACE genotype in postmenopausal women. J Appl Physiol, 85, 1842-1846.
- Hagberg JM, Mccole SD, Brown MD, Ferrell RE, Wilund KR, Huberty A, Douglass LW & Moore GE (2002) ACE insertion/deletion polymorphism and submaximal exercise hemodynamics in postmenopausal women. J Appl Physiol, 92, 1083-1088.
- Hagberg JM, Park JJ & Brown MD (2000) The role of exercise training in the treatment of hypertension: an update. *Sports Med*, 30, 193-206.
- Hagberg JM, Rankinen T, Loos RJ, Perusse L, Roth SM, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2011) Advances in exercise, fitness, and performance genomics in 2010. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 743-752.
- He J & Whelton PK (1999) Elevated systolic blood pressure and risk of cardiovascular and renal disease: overview of evidence from observational epidemiologic studies and randomized controlled trials. *Am Heart J*, 138, 211-219.
- Hecksteden A, Grutters T & Meyer T (2013) Association between postexercise hypotension and long-term training-induced blood pressure reduction: a pilot study. *Clin J Sport Med*, 23, 58-63.
- Heled Y (2004) Human ACE I/D polymorphism is associated with individual differences in exercise heat tolerance. *J Appl Physiol*, 97, 72-76.
- Hernández D, De La Rosa A, Barragán A, Barrios Y, Salido E, Torres A, Martín B, Laynez I, Duque A, De Vera A, Lorenzo V & González A (2003) The ACE/DD Genotype Is Associated With the Extent of Exercise-Induced Left Ventricular Growth in Endurance Athletes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 42, 527-532.

- Hoffman J (2002) Physiological Aspects of Sport Training and Performance. Human Kinetics.
- Hohenfellner K, Wingen A-M, Nauroth O, Wuhl E, Mehls O & Schaefer F (2001) Impact of ACE I/D polymorphism on congenital renal malformations. *Pediatr Neurol*, 16, 356-361.
- Holdys J, Kryściak J, Stanisławski D & Gronek P (2011) ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism in Athletes of Various Sports Disciplines. *Hum Mov*, 12, 223-231.
- Hopkinson NS, Nickol AH, Payne J, Hawe E, Man WD, Moxham J, Montgomery H & Polkey MI (2004) Angiotensin converting enzyme genotype and strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 170, 395-399.
- Hottenga JJ, Boomsma DI, Kupper N, Posthuma D, Snieder H, Willemsen G & De Geus EJ (2005) Heritability and stability of resting blood pressure. *Twin Res Hum Genet*, 8, 499-508.
- Howden R, Lightfoot JT, Brown SJ & Swaine IL (2002) The effects of isometric exercise training on resting blood pressure and orthostatic tolerance in humans. *Exp Physiol*, 87, 507-515.
- Hruskovicova H, Dzurenkova D, Selingerova M, Bohus B, Timkanicova B & Kovacs L (2006) The angiotensin converting enzyme I/D polymorphism in long distance runners. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 46, 509-513.
- Huang W, Xie C, Zhou H, Yang T & Sun M (2004) Association of the angiotensinconverting enzyme gene polymorphism with chronic heart failure in Chinese Han patients. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 6, 23-27.

- Ichinoseki-Sekine N, Naito H, Harima H, Nakagawa K & Katamoto S (2010) Effects of home-based resistance training among elderly Japanese women with diŠerent ACTN3 (R577X) genotypes. *Juntendo Health Sports Sci*, 1, 486-493.
- Ishigami T, Iwamoto T, Tamura K, Yamaguchi S, Iwasawa K, Uchino K, Umemura S & Ishii M (1995) Angiotensin I converting enzyme (ACE) gene polymorphism and essential hypertension in Japan. Ethnic difference of ACE genotype. Am J Hypertens, 8, 95-97.
- Jalil JE, Piddo AM, Cordova S, Chamorro G, Braun S, Jalil R, Vega J, Jadue PL, Lavandero S & Lastra P (1999) Prevalence of the angiotensin I converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism, plasma angiotensin converting enzyme activity, and left ventricular mass in a normotensive Chilean population. *Am J Hypertens*, 12, 697-704.
- Jayapalan JJ, Muniandy S & Chan SP (2008) Angiotensin-1 converting enzyme I/D gene polymorphism: scenario in Malaysia. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, 39, 917-921.
- Jones A & Woods DR (2003) Skeletal muscle RAS and exercise performance. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 35, 855-866.
- Jorgensen JO, Krag M, Kanaley J, Moller J, Hansen TK, Moller N, Christiansen JS & Orskov H (2003) Exercise, hormones, and body temperature. regulation and action of GH during exercise. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 26, 838-842.
- Kai T, Shimada S, Sugimura K, Kurooka A, Takenaka T, Fukamizu A, Murakami K & Ishikawa K (1998) Tissue-localized angiotensin II enhances cardiac and renal disorders in Tsukuba hypertensive mice. J Hypertens, 16, 2045-2049.
- Kanazawa H, Otsuka T, Hirata K & Yoshikawa J (2002) Association between the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphisms and tissue oxygenation during exercise in patients with COPD. *Chest*, 121, 697-701.

- Kaplan JM, Kim SH, North KN, Rennke H, Correia LA, Tong HQ, Mathis BJ, Rodriguez-Perez JC, Allen PG, Beggs AH & Pollak MR (2000) Mutations in ACTN4, encoding alpha-actinin-4, cause familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Nat Genet*, 24, 251-256.
- Kasikcioglu E, Kayserilioglu A, Ciloglu F, Akhan H, Oflaz H, Yildiz S & Peker I (2004) Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism, left ventricular remodeling, and exercise capacity in strength-trained athletes. *Heart Vessels*, 19, 287-293.
- Kaushik RM, Mahajan SK, Rajesh V & Kaushik R (2004) Stress profile in essential hypertension. *Hypertens Res*, 27, 619-624.
- Kelley GA & Kelley KS (2000) Progressive resistance exercise and resting blood pressure : A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Hypertension*, 35, 838-843.
- Kikuchi N, Min SK, Ueda D, Igawa S & Nakazato K (2012) Higher frequency of the ACTN3 R allele + ACE DD genotype in Japanese elite wrestlers. *J Strength Cond Res*, 26, 3275-3280.
- Kim K (2009) Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism with obesity, cardiovascular risk factors and exercise-mediated changes in Korean women. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 105, 879-887.
- Koh WP, Yuan JM, Sun CL, Van Den Berg D, Seow A, Lee HP & Yu MC (2003) Angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) gene polymorphism and breast cancer risk among Chinese women in Singapore. *Cancer Res*, 63, 573-578.
- Kothari ST, Pratiksha Chheda, Chawla S, Chatterjee L, Chaudhry SK & Das BR (2011) ACTN3 R577X Polymorphism in Asian Indian Athletes. *Int J Hum Genet*, 11, 149-153.

- Kraemer WJ, Ratamess NA & French DN (2002) Resistance training for health and performance. *Curr Sports Med Rep*, 1, 165-171.
- Krustrup P, Mohr M, Amstrup T, Rysgaard T, Johansen J, Steensberg A, Pedersen PK & Bangsbo J (2003) The yo-yo intermittent recovery test: physiological response, reliability, and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 35, 697-705.
- Kunz R, Bork JP, Fritsche L, Ringel J & Sharma AM (1998) Association between the angiotensin-converting enzyme-insertion/deletion polymorphism and diabetic nephropathy: a methodologic appraisal and systematic review. J Am Soc Nephrol, 9, 1653-1663.
- Lau YK, Woo KT, Choong HL, Zhao Y, Tan HB, Cheung W & Yap HK (2002) ACE gene polymorphism and disease progression of IgA nephropathy in Asians in Singapore. *Nephron*, 91, 499-503.
- Lawrence MM, Cooley ID, Huet YM, Arthur ST & Howden R (2014) Factors influencing isometric exercise training-induced reductions in resting blood pressure. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 1-12.
- Lea RA, Ovcaric M, Sundholm J, Solyom L, Macmillan J & Griffiths LR (2005) Genetic variants of angiotensin converting enzyme and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase may act in combination to increase migraine susceptibility. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 136, 112-117.
- Lee EJD (1994) Population genetics of the angiotensin-converting enzyme in Chinese. Br J clin Pharmac, 37, 212-214.
- Lester S, Heatley S, Bardy P, Bahnisch J, Bannister K, Faull R & Clarkson A (1999) The DD genotype of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene occurs in very low frequency in Australian Aboriginal. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 14, 887-890.

- Li J, Zhao W, Zhou S, Lu X & Zhang Q (2000) Relationship between isometric exercise and myocardial ischemia in patients with coronary artery disease: an Echo-Doppler study. *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 13, 493-497.
- Loos RJ, Hagberg JM, Pérusse L, Roth SM, Sarzynski MA, Wolfarth B, Rankinen T & Bouchard C (2015) Advances in Exercise, Fitness, and Performance Genomics in 2014. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 1105-1112.
- Lopez RM, Castillo C & Castillo EF (2009) Isometric contraction increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity via a calmodulin antagonist-sensitive pathway in rat aorta. *Vasc Pharmacol*, 50, 14-19.
- Lucia A, Gómez-Gallego F, Santiago C, Bandrés F, Earnest C, Rabadán M, Alonso J, Hoyos J, Córdova A, Villa G & Foster C (2006) ACTN3 Genotype in Professional Endurance Cyclists. *Int J Sports Med*, 27, 880-884.
- Lucia A, Gomez-Gallego F, Santiago C, Perez M, Mate-Munoz JL, Chamorro-Vina C, Nogales-Gadea G, Foster C, Rubio JC, Andreu AL, Martin MA & Arenas J (2007) The 577X allele of the ACTN3 gene is associated with improved exercise capacity in women with McArdle's disease. *Neuromuscul Disord*, 17, 603-610.
- Ma F, Yang Y, Li X, Zhou F, Gao C, Li M & Gao L (2013) The association of sport performance with ACE and ACTN3 genetic polymorphisms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*, 8, e54685.
- Macarthur DG & North KN (2005) Genes and human elite athletic performance. *Hum Genet*, 116, 331-339.
- Macarthur DG, Seto JT, Chan S, Quinlan KG, Raftery JM, Turner N, Nicholson MD, Kee AJ, Hardeman EC, Gunning PW, Cooney GJ, Head SI, Yang N & North KN (2008) An Actn3 knockout mouse provides mechanistic insights into the association between alpha-actinin-3 deficiency and human athletic performance. *Hum Mol Genet*, 17, 1076-1086.

- Macarthur DG, Seto JT, Raftery JM, Quinlan KG, Huttley GA, Hook JW, Lemckert FA, Kee AJ, Edwards MR, Berman Y, Hardeman EC, Gunning PW, Easteal S, Yang N & North KN (2007) Loss of ACTN3 gene function alters mouse muscle metabolism and shows evidence of positive selection in humans. *Nat Genet*, 39, 1261-1265.
- Macdonald JR, Hogben CD, Tarnopolsky MA & Macdougall JD (2001) Post exercise hypotension is sustained during subsequent bouts of mild exercise and simulated activities of daily living. *J Hum Hypertens*, 15, 567-571.
- Macdougall JD, Tuxen D, Sale DG, Moroz JR & Sutton JR (1985) Arterial blood pressure response to heavy resistance exercise. *J Appl Physiol*, 58, 785-790.
- Maciejewska-Karlowska A, Sawczuk M, Cieszczyk P, Zarebska A & Sawczyn S (2013) Association between the Pro12Ala polymorphism of the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma gene and strength athlete status. *PloS one*, 8, e67172.
- Maridaki M (2006) Heritability of neuromuscular performance and anaerobic power in preadolescent and adolescent girls. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 46, 540-547.
- Marre M, Jeunemaitre X, Gallois Y, Rodier M, Chatellier G, Sert C, Dusselier L, Kahal Z, Chaillous L, Halimi S, Muller A, Sackmann H, Bauduceau B, Bled F, Passa P & Alhenc-Gelas F (1997) Contribution of genetic polymorphism in the reninangiotensin system to the development of renal complications in insulin-dependent diabetes: Genetique de la Nephropathie Diabetique (GENEDIAB) study group. J Clin Invest, 99, 1585-1595.
- Marteau JB, Zaiou M, Siest G & Visvikis-Siest S (2005) Genetic determinants of blood pressure regulation. *J Hypertens*, 23, 2127-2143.
- Massidda M, Corrias L, Scorcu M, Vona G & Calò MC (2012) ACTN-3 and ACE genotypes in elite male Italian athletes. *Anthropol Rev*, 75, 51-59.

- Massidda M, Vona G & Calò CM (2009) Association between the ACTN3 R577X polymorphism and artistic gymnastic performance in Italy. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*, 13, 377-380.
- Matsubara M, Suzuki M, Fujiwara T, Kikuya M, Metoki H, Michimata M, Araki T, Kazama I, Satoh T, Hashimoto J, Hozawa A, Ohkubo T, Tsuji I, Katsuya T, Higaki J, Ogihara T, Satoh H & Imai Y (2002) Angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D polymorphism and hypertension: the Ohasama study. *J Hypertens*, 20, 1121-1126.
- Mattace-Raso FU, Van Der Cammen TJ, Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Van Popele NM, Asmar R, Schalekamp MA, Hofman A, Van Duijn CM & Witteman JC (2004) Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism and common carotid stiffness. The Rotterdam study. *Atherosclerosis*, 174, 121-126.
- Mayne I. (2006) *Examination of the ACE and ACTN3 Genes in UTC Varsity Athletes and Sedentary Students.* The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga.
- Mccauley T, Mastana SS & Folland JP (2010) ACE I/D and ACTN3 R/X polymorphisms and muscle function and muscularity of older Caucasian men. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 109, 269-277.
- Mcgowan CL, Visocchi A, Faulkner M, Verduyn R, Rakobowchuk M, Levy AS, Mccartney N & Macdonald MJ (2007) Isometric handgrip training improves local flow-mediated dilation in medicated hypertensives. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 99, 227-234.
- Millar PJ, Bray SR, Macdonald MJ & Mccartney N (2008) The hypotensive effects of isometric handgrip training using an inexpensive spring handgrip training device. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev*, 28, 203-207.

- Millar PJ, Bray SR, Mcgowan CL, Macdonald MJ & Mccartney N (2007) Effects of isometric handgrip training among people medicated for hypertension: a multilevel analysis. *Blood Press Monit*, 12, 307-314.
- Millar PJ, Levy AS, Mcgowan CL, Mccartney N & Macdonald MJ (2013) Isometric handgrip training lowers blood pressure and increases heart rate complexity in medicated hypertensive patients. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 23, 620-626.
- Millar PJ, Mcgowan CL, Cornelissen VA, Araujo CG & Swaine IL (2014) Evidence for the role of isometric exercise training in reducing blood pressure: potential mechanisms and future directions. *Sports Med*, 44, 345-356.
- Mills M, Yang N, Weinberger R, Vander Woude DL, Beggs AH, Easteal S & North K (2001) Differential expression of the actin-binding proteins, alpha-actinin-2 and 3, in different species: implications for the evolution of functional redundancy. *Hum Mol Genet*, 10, 1335-1346.
- Min S-K, Takahashi K, Ishigami H, Hiranuma K, Mizuno M, Ishii T, Kim C-S & Nakazato K (2009) Is there a gender difference between ACE gene and race distance? *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 34, 926-932.
- Mondry A, Loh M, Liu P, Zhu AL & Nagel M (2005) Polymorphisms of the insertion / deletion ACE and M235T AGT genes and hypertension: surprising new findings and meta-analysis of data. *BMC nephrology*, 6, 1-11.
- Montgomery HE, Clarkson P, Dollery CM, Prasad K, Losi MA, Hemingway H, Statters D, Jubb M, Girvain M, Varnava A, World M, Deanfield J, Talmud P, Mcewan JR, Mckenna WJ & Humphries S (1997) Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme gene I/D polymorphism with change in left ventricular mass in response to physical training. *Circulation*, 96, 741-747.
- Montgomery HE, Marshall R, Hemingway H, Myerson S, Clarkson P, Dollery C, Hayward M, Holliman DE, Jubb M, World M, Thomas EL, Brynes AE, Saeed N,

Barnard M, Bell JD, Prasad K, Rayson M, Talmud PJ & Humphries SE (1998) Human gene for physical performance. *Nature*, 393, 221-222.

- Moran CN, Vassilopoulos C, Tsiokanos A, Jamurtas AZ, Bailey ME, Montgomery HE, Wilson RH & Pitsiladis YP (2006a) The associations of ACE polymorphisms with physical, physiological and skill parameters in adolescents. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 14, 332-339.
- Moran CN, Yang N, Bailey MES, Tsiokanos A, Jamurtas A, Macarthur DG, North K, Pitsiladis YP & Wilson RH (2006b) Association analysis of the ACTN3 R577X polymorphism and complex quantitative body composition and performance phenotypes in adolescent Greeks. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 15, 88-93.
- Mortimer J & Mckune AJ (2011) Effect of short-term isometric handgrip training on blood pressure in middle-aged females. *Cardiovasc J Afr*, 22, 257-260.
- Mota MR, Oliveira RJ, Terra DF, Pardono E, Dutra MT, De Almeida JA & Silva FM (2013) Acute and chronic effects of resistance exercise on blood pressure in elderly women and the possible influence of ACE I/D polymorphism. *Int J Gen Med*, 6, 581-587.
- Movva S, Alluri RV, Komandur S, Vattam K, Eppa K, Mukkavali KK, Mubigonda S, Saharia S, Shastry JC & Hasan Q (2007) Relationship of angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism with nephropathy associated with Type 2 diabetes mellitus in Asian Indians. *J Diabetes Complication*, 21, 237-241.
- Mueller PJ (2007) Exercise training and sympathetic nervous system activity: evidence for physical activity dependent neural plasticity. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 34, 377-384.
- Mulvihill JJ, Wierenga KJ & Kerksick CM (2011) The Human Genome and Epigenome. In: BOUCHARD, C. & HOFFMAN, E. (eds.) Genetic and Molecular Aspects of Sport Performance. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

- Myerson S, Hemingway H, Budget R, Martin J, Humphries S & Montgomery H (1999) Human angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene and endurance performance. *J Appl Physiol*, 87, 1313-1316.
- Myerson SG, Montgomery HE, Whittingham M, Jubb M, World MJ, Humphries SE & Pennell DJ (2001) Left ventricular hypertrophy with exercise and ACE gene insertion/deletion polymorphism A randomized controlled trial with losartan. *Circulation*, 103, 226-230.
- Nazarov IB, Woods DR, Montgomery HE, Shneider OV, Kazakov VI, Tomilin NV & Rogozkin VA (2001) The angiotensin converting enzyme I/D polymorphism in Russian athletes. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 9, 797-801.
- Ng DP, Tai BC, Koh D, Tan KW & Chia KS (2005) Angiotensin-I converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism and its association with diabetic nephropathy: a meta-analysis of studies reported between 1994 and 2004 and comprising 14,727 subjects. *Diabetologia*, 48, 1008-1016.
- Niemi A-K & Majamaa K (2005) Mitochondrial DNA and ACTN3 genotypes in Finnish elite endurance and sprint athletes. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 13, 965-969.
- Nitiyanant W, Sriussadaporn S, Ploybutr S, Watanakejorn P, Tunlakit M & Bejrachandra S (1997) Angiotensin converting enzyme gene polymorphism in healthy Thais and patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Med Assoc Thai*, 80, 747-752.
- Norman B, Esbjörnsson M, Rundqvist H, Osterlund T, Von Walden F & Tesch PA (2009) Strength, power, fiber types, and mRNA expression in trained men and women with different ACTN3 R577X genotypes. *J Appl Physiol*, 106, 959-965.
- North K (2008) Why is alpha-actinin-3 deficiency so common in the general population? The evolution of athletic performance. *Twin Res Hum Genet*, 11, 384-394.

- North KN, Yang N, Wattanasirichaigoon D, Mills M, Easteal S & Beggs AH (1999) A common nonsense mutation results in alpha-actinin-3 deficiency in the general population. *Nat Genet*, 21, 353-354.
- Oh SD (2007) The distribution of I/D polymorphism in the ACE gene among Korean male elite athletes. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 47, 250-254.
- Olher RR, Bocalini DS, Bacurau RF, Rodriguez D, Figueira AJ, Pontes FJ, Navarro F, Simões H, Araujo R & Moraes M (2013) Isometric handgrip does not elicit cardiovascular overload or post-exercise hypotension in hypertensive older women. *Clin Interv Aging*, 8, 649-655.
- Owen A, Wiles J & Swaine I (2010) Effect of isometric exercise on resting blood pressure: a meta analysis. *J Hum Hypertens*, 24, 796-800.
- Palatini P, Mos L, Munari L, Valle F, Del Torre M, Rossi A, Varotto L, Macor F, Martina S, Pessina AC & Et Al. (1989) Blood pressure changes during heavy-resistance exercise. J Hypertens Suppl, 7, S72-73.
- Pate RR, O'neill JR & Lobelo F (2008) The evolving definition of "sedentary". *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 36, 173-178.
- Paulauskas A, Danileviciutė A, Povilaitis T & Poderis J (2009) Genetic Variability Associated with Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) Gene Polymorphism in Sportsmen Pursuing Different Sports. Proc Latv Acad Sci B Nat Exact Appl Sci, 63, 9-13.
- Pereira AC, Mota GA, Bensenor I, Lotufo PA & Krieger JE (2001) Effect of race, genetic population structure, and genetic models in two-locus association studies: clustering of functional renin-angiotensin system gene variants in hypertension association studies. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res*, 34, 1421-1428.

- Perna NT, Batzer MA, Deininger PL & Stoneking M (1992) Alu insertion polymorphism: a new type of marker for human population studies. *Hum Biol*, 64, 641-648.
- Pérusse L, Rankinen T, Hagberg JM, Loos RJF, Roth SM, Sarzynski MA, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2013) Advances in Exercise, Fitness, and Performance Genomics in 2012. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 45, 824-831.
- Pescatello LS, Franklin BA, Fagard R, Farquhar WB, Kelley GA & Ray CA (2004) American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and hypertension. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 36, 533-553.
- Pescatello LS & Kulikowich JM (2001) The aftereffects of dynamic exercise on ambulatory blood pressure. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 1855-1861.
- Peters PG, Alessio HM, Hagerman AE, Ashton T, Nagy S & Wiley RL (2006) Short-term isometric exercise reduces systolic blood pressure in hypertensive adults: possible role of reactive oxygen species. *Int J Cardiol*, 110, 199-205.
- Pikilidou MI, Scuteri A, Morrell C & Lakatta EG (2013) The burden of obesity on blood pressure is reduced in older persons: the SardiNIA study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21, E10-13.
- Pimenta EM, Coelho DB, Cruz IR, Morandi RF, Veneroso CE, Azambuja Pussieldi G, Carvalho MRS, Silami-Garcia E & Paz Fernández JA (2011) The ACTN3 genotype in soccer players in response to acute eccentric training. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 112, 1495-1503.

Pitman J (1993) Probability. Springer.

Preedy VR (2012) Handbook of Anthropometry. Springer.

- Rankinen T, Bray MS, Hagberg JM, Pérusse L, Roth SM, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2006) The Human Gene Map for Performance and Health-Related Fitness Phenotypes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 38, 1863-1888.
- Rankinen T, Gagnon J, Perusse L, Chagnon YC, Rice T, Leon AS, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH, Rao DC & Bouchard C (2000a) AGT M235T and ACE ID polymorphisms and exercise blood pressure in the HERITAGE Family Study. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 279, H368-374.
- Rankinen T, Pérusse L, Gagnon J, Chagnon YC, Leon AS, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH, Rao DC & Bouchard C (2000b) Angiotensin-converting enzyme ID polymorphism and fitness phenotype in the HERITAGE Family Study. *J Appl Physiol*, 88, 1029-1035.
- Rankinen T, Pérusse L, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2001) The human gene map for performance and health-related fitness phenotypes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 855-867.
- Rankinen T, Pérusse L, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2002) The human gene map for performance and health-related fitness phenotypes: the 2001 update. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 34, 1219-1233.
- Rankinen T, Pérusse L, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2004) The Human Gene Map for Performance and Health-Related Fitness Phenotypes: The 2003 Update. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 36, 1451-1469.
- Rankinen T, Roth SM, Bray MS, Loos R, Pérusse L, Wolfarth B, Hagberg JM & Bouchard C (2010) Advances in exercise, fitness, and performance genomics. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 42, 835-846.
- Rankinen T, Wolfarth B, Simoneau JA, Maier-Lenz D, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA, Boulay MR, Chagnon YC, Pérusse L, Keul J & Bouchard C (2000c) No association
between the angiotensin-converting enzyme ID polymorphism and elite endurance athlete status. *J Appl Physiol*, 88, 1571-1575.

- Rattigan S, Dora KA, Tong AC & Clark MG (1996) Perfused skeletal muscle contraction and metabolism improved by angiotensin II-mediated vasoconstriction. *Am J Physiol*, 271, E96-103.
- Ray CA & Carrasco DI (2000) Isometric handgrip training reduces arterial pressure at rest without changes in sympathetic nerve activity. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 279, H245-249.
- Renner W, Pabst E, Paulweber B, Malaimare L, Iglseder B, Wascher TC & Pilger E (2002) The angiotensin-converting-enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is not a risk factor for peripheral arterial disease. *Atherosclerosis*, 165, 175-178.
- Rigat B, Hubert C, Alhenc-Gelas F, Cambien F, Corvol P & Soubrier F (1990) An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene accounting for half the variance of serum enzyme levels. *J Clin Invest*, 86, 1343-1346.
- Rigat B, Hubert C, Corvol P & Soubrier F (1992) PCR detection of the insertion/deletion polymorphism of the human angiotensin converting enzyme gene (DCP1) (dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase 1). *Nucleic Acids Res*, 20, 1433.
- Rigoli L, Chimenz R, Di Bella C, Cavallaro E, Caruso R, Briuglia S, Fede C & Salpietro CD (2004) Angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin type 2 receptor gene genotype distributions in Italian children with congenital uropathies. *Pediatr Res*, 56, 988-993.
- Rodríguez-Romo G, Ruiz JR, Santiago C, Fiuza-Luces C, González-Freire M, Gómez-Gallego F, Morán M & Lucia A (2010) Does the ACE I/D polymorphism, alone or in combination with the ACTN3 R577X polymorphism, influence muscle

power phenotypes in young, non-athletic adults? *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 110, 1099-1106.

- Roth SM, Rankinen T, Hagberg JM, Loos RJ, Perusse L, Sarzynski MA, Wolfarth B & Bouchard C (2012) Advances in exercise, fitness, and performance genomics in 2011. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 44, 809-817.
- Roth SM, Walsh S, Liu D, Metter EJ, Ferrucci L & Hurley BF (2008) The ACTN3 R577X nonsense allele is under-represented in elite-level strength athletes. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 16, 391-394.
- Rupert JL, Kidd KK, Norman LE, Monsalve MV, Hochachka PW & Devine DV (2003) Genetic Polymorphisms in the Renin-Angiotensin System in High-Altitude and Low-Altitude Native American Populations. *Ann Hum Genet*, 67, 17-25.
- Sagnella GA, Rothwell MJ, Onipinla AK, Wicks PD, Cook DG & Cappuccio FP (1999) A population study of ethnic variations in the angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D polymorphism: relationships with gender, hypertension and impaired glucose metabolism. J Hypertens, 17, 657-664.
- Saha N, Talmud PJ, Tay JSH, Humphries SE & Basair J (1996) Lack of association of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). Gene insertion/ deletion polymorphism with CAD in two Asian populations. *Clin Genet*, 50, 121-125.
- Salem AH (2008) Distribution of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Insertion/Deletion Gene Polymorphism among Two Arab Populations. *Suez Canal Univ Med J*, 11, 125-130.
- San Juan AF, Gomez-Gallego F, Canete S, Santiago C, Perez M & Lucia A (2006) Does complete deficiency of muscle a actinin 3 alter functional capacity in elderly women? A preliminary report. *Br J Sports Med*, 40, e1.

- Santiago C, Rodriguez-Romo G, Gomez-Gallego F, Gonzalez-Freire M, Yvert T, Verde Z, Naclerio F, Altmae S, Esteve-Lanao J, Ruiz JR & Lucia A (2010) Is there an association between ACTN3 R577X polymorphism and muscle power phenotypes in young, non-athletic adults? *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 20, 771-778.
- Sasongko TH, Sadewa AH, Kusuma PA, Damanik MP, Lee MJ, Ayaki H, Nozu K, Goto A, Matsuo M & Nishio H (2005) ACE gene polymorphism in children with nephrotic syndrome in the Indonesian population. *Kobe J Med Sci*, 51, 41-47.
- Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Oostra BA, Isaacs A, Van Duijn CM & Witteman JC (2006) ACE polymorphisms. *Circ Res*, 98, 1123-1133.
- Schlaich MP, Lambert E, Kaye DM, Krozowski Z, Campbell DJ, Lambert G, Hastings J, Aggarwal A & Esler MD (2004) Sympathetic augmentation in hypertension: role of nerve firing, norepinephrine reuptake, and Angiotensin neuromodulation. *Hypertension*, 43, 169-175.
- Scott RA, Irving R, Irwin L, Morrison E, Charlton V, Austin K, Tladi D, Deason M, Headley SA, Kolkhorst FW, Yang N, North K & Pitsiladis YP (2010) ACTN3 and ACE genotypes in elite Jamaican and US sprinters. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 42, 107-112.
- Scott RA, Moran C, Wilson RH, Onywera V, Boit MK, Goodwin WH, Gohlke P, Payne J, Montgomery H & Pitsiladis YP (2005) No association between Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) gene variation and endurance athlete status in Kenyans. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol, 141, 169-175.
- Shang X, Huang C, Chang Q, Zhang L & Huang T (2010) Association between the ACTN3 R577X polymorphism and female endurance athletes in China. *Int J Sports Med*, 31, 913-916.

- Shang X, Zhang F, Zhang L & Huang C (2012) ACTN3 R577X polymorphism and performance phenotypes in young Chinese male soldiers. *J Sports Sci*, 30, 255-260.
- Shenoy S, Tandon S, Sandhu J & Bhanwer AS (2010) Association of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme gene Polymorphism and Indian Army Triathletes Performance. *Asian J Sports Med*, 1, 143-150.
- Silventoinen K, Magnusson PK, Tynelius P, Kaprio J & Rasmussen F (2008) Heritability of body size and muscle strength in young adulthood: a study of one million Swedish men. *Genet Epidemiol*, 32, 341-349.
- Silverthorn DU (2007) *Human Physiology: An Integrated Approach* Benjamin-Cummings Publishing Company.
- Singh HG, Singh JS, Gupta V & Gurmanpreet (2014) Effect of Isometric Handgrip Training on Heart Rate and Arterial Pressure in Normotensive Individuals. *Sch J App Med Sci*, 2, 2010-2015.
- Sipahi T, Budak M, Şen S, Ay A & Şener S (2006) Association between ACE gene Insertion (I)/Deletion (D) polymorphism and primary hypertension in Turkish patients of Trakya region. *Biotechnol Biotec Eq*, 20, 104-108.
- Sober S, Org E, Kepp K, Juhanson P, Eyheramendy S, Gieger C, Lichtner P, Klopp N, Veldre G, Viigimaa M, Doring A, Putku M, Kelgo P, Shaw-Hawkins S, Howard P, Onipinla A, Dobson RJ, Newhouse SJ, Brown M, Dominiczak A, Connell J, Samani N, Farrall M, Caulfield MJ, Munroe PB, Illig T, Wichmann HE, Meitinger T & Laan M (2009) Targeting 160 candidate genes for blood pressure regulation with a genome-wide genotyping array. *PloS one*, 4, e6034.
- Sonna LA, Sharp MA, Knapik JJ, Cullivan M, Angel KC, Patton JF & Lilly CM (2001) Angiotensin-converting enzyme genotype and physical performance during US Army basic training. *J Appl Physiol*, 91, 1355-1363.

- Soodyall H, Vigilant L, Hill AV, Stoneking M & Jenkins T (1996) mtDNA control-region sequence variation suggests multiple independent origins of an "Asian-specific"
 9-bp deletion in sub-Saharan Africans. *Am J Hum Genet*, 58, 595-608.
- Sprovieri SR & Sens YA (2005) Polymorphisms of the renin-angiotensin system genes in Brazilian patients with lupus nephropathy. *Lupus*, 14, 356-362.
- Staessen JA, Wang JG, Ginocchio G, Petrov V, Saavedra AP, Soubrier F, Vlietinck R & Fagard R (1997) The deletion/insertion polymorphism of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene and cardiovascular-renal risk. J Hypertens, 15, 1579-1592.
- Starr C & Mcmillan B (2015) Human Biology. Cengage Learning.
- Statistic DO (2011) Population Distribution and Basic Demographic Characteristic. *In:* STATISTIC, D. O. (ed.). Malaysia.
- Stephens JW, Dhamrait SS, Cooper JA, Acharya J, Miller GJ, Hurel SJ & Humphries SE (2005) The D allele of the ACE I/D common gene variant is associated with Type 2 diabetes mellitus in Caucasian subjects. *Mol Genet Metab*, 84, 83-89.
- Stoneking M, Fontius JJ, Clifford SL, Soodyall H, Arcot SS, Saha N, Jenkins T, Tahir MA, Deininger PL & Batzer MA (1997) Alu insertion polymorphisms and human evolution: evidence for a larger population size in Africa. *Genome Res*, 7, 1061-1071.
- Strange S (1999) Cardiovascular control during concomitant dynamic leg exercise and static arm exercise in humans. *J Physiol*, 514, 283-291.
- Survey NHaM. (2011) National Health and Morbidity Survey (2011) [Online]. Ministry of Health Malaysia. Available: www.moh.gov.my/images/../nhms%2011%20fact%20sheet.pdf. [Accessed].

- Tamaki S, Nakamura Y, Tsujita Y, Nozaki A, Amamoto K, Kadowaki T, Kita Y, Okamura T, Iwai N, Kinoshita M & Ueshima H (2002) Polymorphism of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene and blood pressure in a Japanese general population (the Shigaraki Study). *Hypertens Res*, 25, 843-848.
- Tanriverdi H, Evrengul H, Kaftan A, Dursunoglu D, Turgut S, Akda B & Kiliç M (2005a) Effects of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Polymorphism on Aortic Elastic Parameters in Athletes. *Cardiology*, 104, 113-119.
- Tanriverdi H, Evrengul H, Tanriverdi S, Turgut S, Akdag B, Kaftan HA & Semiz E (2005b) Improved endothelium dependent vasodilation in endurance athletes and its relation with ACE I/D polymorphism. *Circ J*, 69, 1105-1110.
- Taylor AC, Mccartney N, Kamath MV & Wiley RL (2003) Isometric training lowers resting blood pressure and modulates autonomic control. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 35, 251-256.
- Taylor RR, Mamotte CD, Fallon K & Van Bockxmeer FM (1999) Elite athletes and the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme. *J Appl Physiol*, 87, 1035-1037.
- Thomis MA, Beunen GP, Van Leemputte M, Maes HH, Blimkie CJ, Claessens AL, Marchal G, Willems E & Vlietinck RF (1998) Inheritance of static and dynamic arm strength and some of its determinants. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 163, 59-71.
- Thomis MI, Huygens W, Heuninckx S, Chagnon M, Maes HM, Claessens A, Vlietinck R, Bouchard C & Beunen G (2004) Exploration of myostatin polymorphisms and the angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion genotype in responses of human muscle to strength training. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 92, 267-274.
- Thompson PD, Tsongalis GJ, Ordovas JM, Seip RL, Bilbie C, Miles M, Zoeller R, Visich P, Gordon P, Angelopoulos TJ, Pescatello L & Moyna N (2006) Angiotensinconverting enzyme genotype and adherence to aerobic exercise training. *Prev Cardiol*, 9, 21-24.

- Tiret L, Rigat B, Visvikis S, Breda C, Corvol P, Cambien F & Soubrier F (1992) Evidence, from combined segregation and linkage analysis, that a variant of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) gene controls plasma ACE levels. *Am J Hum Genet*, 51, 197-205.
- Tobina T, Michishita R, Yamasawa F, Zhang B, Sasaki H, Tanaka H, Saku K & Kiyonaga A (2010) Association between the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and endurance running speed in Japanese runners. J Physiol Sci, 60, 325-330.
- Tomchuk D (2011) *Companion Guide to Measurement and Evaluation for Kinesiology*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Tsai JC, Yang HY, Wang WH, Hsieh MH, Chen PT, Kao CC, Kao PF, Wang CH & Chan P (2004) The beneficial effect of regular endurance exercise training on blood pressure and quality of life in patients with hypertension. *Clin Exp Hypertens*, 26, 255-265.
- Tsianos G, Eleftheriou KI, Hawe E, Woolrich L, Watt M, Watt I, Peacock A, Montgomery H & Grant S (2004a) Performance at altitude and angiotensin I-converting enzyme genotype. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 93, 630-633.
- Tsianos G, Sanders J, Dhamrait S, Humphries S, Grant S & Montgomery H (2004b) The ACE gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and elite endurance swimming. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 92, 360-362.
- Ulu A, Elsobky E, Elsayed M, Yıldız Z, Tekin M & Akar N (2006) Frequency of five thrombophilic polymorphisms in the Egyptian population. *Turk J Hematol*, 23, 100-103.
- Van Bockxmeer FM, Mamotte CD, Burke V & Taylor RR (2000) Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism and premature coronary heart disease. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*), 99, 247-251.

- Van Den Bree MB, Schieken RM, Moskowitz WB & Eaves LJ (1996) Genetic regulation of hemodynamic variables during dynamic exercise. The MCV twin study. *Circulation*, 94, 1864-1869.
- Vargas-Alarcon G, Hernandez-Pacheco G, Rodriguez-Perez JM, Perez-Hernandez N, Pavon Z, Fragoso JM, Juarez-Cedillo T, Villarreal-Garza C & Granados J (2003) Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene (ACE) insertion/deletion polymorphism in Mexican populations. *Hum Biol*, 75, 889-896.
- Vassilikioti S, Doumas M, Douma S, Petidis K, Karagiannis A, Balaska K, Vyzantiadis A & Zamboulis C (1996) Angiotensin converting enzyme gene polymorphism is not related to essential hypertension in a Greek population. Am J Hypertens, 9, 700-702.
- Vincent B, De Bock K, Ramaekers M, Van Den Eede E, Van Leemputte M, Hespel P & Thomis MA (2007) ACTN3 (R577X) genotype is associated with fiber type distribution. *Physiol Genomics*, 32, 58-63.
- Vincent KR, Vincent HK, Braith RW, Bhatnagar V & Lowenthal DT (2003) Strength training and hemodynamic responses to exercise. *Am J Geriatr Cardiol*, 12, 97-106.
- Voroshin IN & Astratenkova IV (2008) Dependence of endurance performance on ACE gene polymorphism in athletes. *Hum Physiol*, 34, 117-119.

Walker D (2009) Inheritance and Evolution. Evans.

Wang G, Mikami E, Chiu LL, A DEP, Deason M, Fuku N, Miyachi M, Kaneoka K, Murakami H, Tanaka M, Hsieh LL, Hsieh SS, Caporossi D, Pigozzi F, Hilley A, Lee R, Galloway SD, Gulbin J, Rogozkin VA, Ahmetov, Ii, Yang N, North KN, Ploutarhos S, Montgomery HE, Bailey ME & Pitsiladis YP (2013) Association analysis of ACE and ACTN3 in elite Caucasian and East Asian swimmers. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 45, 892-900.

- Wang JG & Staessen JA (2000) Genetic polymorphisms in the renin-angiotensin system: relevance for susceptibility to cardiovascular disease. *Euro J Pharmacol*, 410, 289-302.
- Wiles JD, Coleman DA & Swaine IL (2010) The effects of performing isometric training at two exercise intensities in healthy young males. *Euro J Appl Physiol*, 108, 419-428.
- Wiley RL, Dunn CL, Cox RH, Hueppchen NA & Scott MS (1992) Isometric exercise training lowers resting blood pressure. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 24, 749-754.
- Williams AG, Day SH, Folland JP, Gohlke P, Dhamrait S & Montgomery HE (2005) Circulating angiotensin converting enzyme activity is correlated with muscle strength. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 37, 944-948.
- Williams AG, Rayson MP, Jubb M, World M, Woods DR, Hayward M, Martin J, Humphries SE & Montgomery HE (2000) The ACE gene and muscle performance. *Nature*, 403, 614.
- Williams MA, Haskell WL, Ades PA, Amsterdam EA, Bittner V, Franklin BA, Gulanick M, Laing ST & Stewart KJ (2007) Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. *Circulation*, 116, 572-584.
- Wilmore JH, Stanforth PR, Gagnon J, Rice T, Mandel S, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS & Bouchard C (2001) Heart rate and blood pressure changes with endurance training: the HERITAGE Family Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 107-116.
- Winter PC, Hickey GI & Fletcher HL (2002) *Instant Notes in Genetics*. BIOS Scientific Publishers Limited.

- Wittke-Thompson JK, Pluzhnikov A & Cox NJ (2005) Rational inferences about departures from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. *Am J Hum Genet*, 76, 967-986.
- Wolfarth B, Bray MS, Hagberg JM, Pérusse L, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA, Roth SM, Rankinen T & Bouchard C (2005) The human gene map for performance and health-related fitness phenotypes: the 2004 update. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 37, 881-903.
- Wong WP, Zhao Y & Koh WP (2012) Gene polymorphism in angiotensin-I-converting enzyme and physical activity among normotensive Chinese. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 22, 192-198.
- Wood RH, Reyes R, Welsch MA, Favaloro-Sabatier J, Sabatier M, Matthew Lee C, Johnson LG & Hooper PF (2001) Concurrent cardiovascular and resistance training in healthy older adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 1751-1758.
- Woods D, Hickman M, Jamshidi Y, Brull D, Vassiliou V, Jones A, Humphries S & Montgomery H (2001) Elite swimmers and the D allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism. *Hum Genet*, 108, 230-232.
- Xu J, Turner A, Little J, Bleecker ER & Meyers DA (2002) Positive results in association studies are associated with departure from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium: hint for genotyping error? *Hum Genet*, 111, 573-574.
- Yamin C, Amir O, Sagiv M, Attias E, Meckel Y, Eynon N & Amir RE (2007) ACE ID genotype affects blood creatine kinase response to eccentric exercise. J Appl Physiol, 103, 2057-2061.
- Yang N, Macarthur DG, Gulbin JP, Hahn AG, Beggs AH, Easteal S & North K (2003) ACTN3 Genotype Is Associated with Human Elite Athletic Performance. *Am J Hum Genet*, 73, 627-631.

- Yang N, Macarthur DG, Wolde B, Onywera VO, Boit MK, Lau SY, Wilson RH, Scott RA, Pitsiladis YP & North K (2007) The ACTN3 R577X polymorphism in East and West African athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 39, 1985-1988.
- Yoo JH (2005) Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is associated with essential hypertension in men born during the Pacific War. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 126, 899-905.
- Yoshida H, Mitarai T, Kawamura T, Kitajima T, Miyazaki Y, Nagasawa R, Kawaguchi Y, Kubo H, Ichikawa I & Sakai O (1995) Role of the deletion of polymorphism of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene in the progression and therapeutic responsiveness of IgA nephropathy. *J Clin Invest*, 96, 2162-2169.
- Young RP, Sanderson JE, Tomlinson B, Woo KS & Critchley JA (1995) Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion-deletion polymorphism in Chinese. *J Hypertens*, 13, 1479-1480.
- Yu B & Trent RJ (2010) Genetics of Athletic Performance. eLS. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Zak I, Niemiec P, Sarecka B, Balcerzyk A, Ciemniewski Z, Rudowska E & Dylag S (2003) Carrier-state of D allele in ACE gene insertion/deletion polymorphism is associated with coronary artery disease, in contrast to the C677-->T transition in the MTHFR gene. Acta Biochim Pol, 50, 527-534.
- Zhang B, Sakai T, Miura S, Kiyonaga A, Tanaka H, Shindo M & Saku K (2002) Association of angiotensin-converting-enzyme gene polymorphism with the depressor response to mild exercise therapy in patients with mild to moderate essential hypertension. *Clin Genet*, 62, 328-333.
- Zhang B, Tanaka H, Shono N, Miura S, Kiyonaga A, Shindo M & Saku K (2003) The I allele of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene is associated with an increased percentage of slow-twitch type I fibers in human skeletal muscle. *Clin Genet*, 63, 139-144.

- Zhao G, Bernstein RD & Hintze TH (1999) Nitric oxide and oxygen utilization: exercise, heart failure and diabetes. *Coron Artery Dis*, 10, 315-320.
- Zhaoa B, Moochhalaa SM, Thama S-Y, Lua J, Chiab M, Byrnea C, Hub Q & Leea LKH (2003) Relationship between angiotensin-converting enzyme ID polymorphism and VO2max of Chinese males. *Life Sci*, 73, 2625-2630.
- Zilberman-Schapira G, Chen J & Gerstein M (2012) On Sports And Genes. *Recent Pat DNA Gene Seq*, 6, 180-188.
- Zorc-Pleskovic R, Teran N, Pleskovic A, Terzic R & Milutinovic A (2005) Deletion/Deletion Genotype of Angiotensin-I Converting Enzyme Gene is not Associated with Coronary Artery Disease in Caucasians with Type 2 Diabetes. *Coll Antropol*, 29, 149-152.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

RESEARCH APPROVAL FROM THE HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (HREC) UNIVERSITI SAINS MALAYSIA



Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan Manusia USM (JEPeM) Human Research Ethics Committee USM (HREC)

 Our. Ref.:
 USMKK/PPP/JEPeM [248.3.(5)]

 Date
 26th April 2012

Dr. Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed Advanced Medical and Dental Institute

No. 1-8, Persiaran Seksyen 4/1 Bandar Putra Bertam 13200 Kepala batas Pulau Pinang. Universiti Sains Malaysia Kampus Kesihatan, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan. Malaysia. T: 609 - 767 3000 *samb*. 2350 / 2352 F: 609 - 767 2351 E: jepem@kk.usm.my www.crp.kk.usm.my

The Human Research Ethics Committee, Universiti Sains Malaysia (FWA Reg. No: 00007718; IRB Reg. No: 00004494) has approved in principle the study mentioned below:

Title	Genetics Influence on Sport Performance: An Analysis on Malaysia Varsity Athletes.				
Protocol No		Principle Investigator D			
Date of approval Protocol received Reviewed by Committee Received Amended Protocol	26 th April 2012 7 th December 2011 28 th March 2012 12 th April 2012	Co-Investigator(s)	Assoc. Prof. Zafarina Zainuddin Prof. Rabindarjeet Singh Mrs. Hazwani Ahmad Yusof @ Hanafi		
Research Center	Healthy Lifestyle Cluster, Advanced Medical and Dental Institute, Universiti Sains Malaysia.	Date of study start	May 2012 – April 2014		
Financial Support	Ministry of Higher Education Sport Grant.	Number of Samples	1, 444 subjects		

The following item (✓) have been received and reviewed:-

- (✓) Ethical Approval Application Form
- (✓) Study Protocol

Investigator(s) are required to:

- a) follow instructions, guidelines and requirements of the Human Research Ethics Committee, Universiti Sains Malaysia (JEPeM)
- b) report any protocol deviations/violations to Human Research Ethics Committee (JEPeM)
- c) comply with International Conference on Harmonization Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP)
- d) note that Human Research Ethics Committee (JEPeM) may audit the approved study.

PROFESSOR DR. MOHD SHUKRI OTHMAN Chairman Human Research Ethics Committee





Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan Manusia USM (JEPeM) Human Research Ethics Committee USM (HREC)

Our. Ref. : USM/JEPeM/2013(164)

Date : 30th October 2013

Dr. Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed Advanced Medical and Dental Institute (AMDI) Universiti Sains Malaysia Bertam 13200 Kepala Batas **PULAU PINANG.** Universiti Sains Malaysia Kampus Kesihatan, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan. Malaysia. T: 609 - 767 3000 *samb*. 2352 / 2362 F: 609 - 767 2351 E: jepem.usm@gmail.com www.research.usm.my

Dear Dr,

APPLICATION FOR ETHICAL APPROVAL

Protocol Title: Genetics Influence on Sport Performance: An Analysis on Malaysia Varsity Athletes.

In Ref: USMKK/PPP/JEPeM (248.3[5])

I refer to your application received on 22nd October 2013.

I am pleased to inform you that the Human Research Ethics Committee, Universiti Sains Malaysia has reviewed your application and has approved in principle your application to use the samples from Australian population (Caucasian) for the above research title.

Thank you.

"ENSURING A SUSTAINABLE TOMORROW"

Yours sincerely,

(PROF. DR. HANS AMIN VAN ROSTENBERGHE) Chairman Human Research Ethics Committee

c.c Secretary of Human Research Ethics Committee, USM.





27th January 2015

Miss Hazwani Ahmad Yusof @ Hanafi Ph D Student Advanced Medical and Dental Institute Universiti Sains Malaysia Bertam 13200 Kepala Batas, Pulau Pinang. Universiti Sains Malaysia

Kampus Kesihatan, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan. Malaysia. T: 609 - 767 3000 samb. 2354/2362 F: 609 - 767 2351 E: jepem@usm.my www.jepem.kk.usm.my

JEPeM Code : USM/JEPeM/1406226 Protocol Title : The Influence of ACE I/D Gene Polymorphism on Blood Pressure Response Following Isometric Exercise Training.

Dear Miss.,

We wish to inform you that your study protocol has been reviewed and is hereby granted approval for implementation by the Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan Manusia Universiti Sains Malaysia (JEPeM-USM). Your study has been assigned study protocol code **USM/JEPeM/1406226**, which should be used for all communication to the JEPeM-USM related to this study. This ethical clearance is valid from **January 2015** until **December 2015**.

The following documents have been approved for use in the study.

1. Research Proposal

In addition to the abovementioned documents, the following technical document was included in the review on which this approval was based:

- 1. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form (English version)
- 2. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form (Malay version)
- 3. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form for Whole-Genome/Genetic Related Studies (English version)
- 4. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form for Whole-Genome/Genetic Related Studies (Malay version)
- 5. Data Collection Form

Attached document is the list of members of JEPeM-USM present during the full board meeting reviewing your protocol.

While the study is in progress, we request you to submit to us the following documents:

- 1. Progress report using the JEPeM-USM FORM 3(B) 2014: Continuing Review Application Form every 1 year from date of approval (NOTE: In view of active ethical clearance, this report is mandatory even if the study has not started or is still awaiting release of funds.)
- Any changes in the protocol, especially those that may adversely affect the safety of the participants during the conduct of the trial including changes in personnel, must be submitted or reported using JEPeM-USM FORM 3(A) 2014: Study Protocol Amendment Submission Form.
- 3. Revisions in the informed consent form using the JEPeM-USM FORM 3(A) 2014: Study Protocol Amendment Submission Form.
- 4. Reports of adverse events (if any) including from other study sites (national, international) using the JEPeM-USM FORM 3(G) 2014: Adverse Events Report.

- 5. Notice of early termination of the study and reasons for such using JEPeM-USM FORM 3(E) 2014.
- 6. Any event which may have ethical significance.
- 7. Any information which is needed by the JEPeM-USM to do ongoing review.
- 8. Notice of time of completion of the study using JEPeM-USM FORM 3(C) 2014: Final Report Form.
- Application for renewal of ethical clearance 90 days before the expiration date of this approval through submission of JEPeM-USM FORM 3(B) 2014: Continuing Review Application Form.

Please note that forms may be downloaded from the JEPeM-USM website: www.jepem.kk.usm.my

Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia), JEPeM-USM is in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki, International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) Guidelines, Good Clinical Practice (GCP) Standards, Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) Guidelines, World Health Organization (WHO) Standards and Operational Guidance for Ethics Review of Health-Related Research and Surveying and Evaluating Ethical Review Practices, EC/IRB Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), and Local Regulations and Standards in Ethical Review.

Thank you.

"ENSURING A SUSTAINABLE TOMORROW"

Very truly yours,

NA

PROF. DR. HANS AMIN VAN ROSTENBERGHE Chairperson Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia) JEPeM Universiti Sains Malaysia



Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan Manusia USM (JEPeM) Human Research Ethics Committee USM (HREC)

Date of meeting: 19 October 2014

Time

: Meeting Room, Centre for Research Initiatives, Venue Clinical and Health Sciences, USM Kampus Kesihatan. : 9.00 a.m - 2.00 p.m Meeting No : 293

Universiti Sains Malaysia Kampus Kesihatan, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan. Malaysia. T: 609 - 767 3000 samb. 2354/2362 F: 609 - 767 2351 E: jepem@usm.my www.jepem.kk.usm.my

Members of Committee of the Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia), JEPeM Universiti Sains Malaysia who reviewed the protocol/documents are as follows:

Member (Title and Name)		Occupation (Designation)	Male/ Female (M/F)	Tick (✓) if present when above items, were reviewed
Chairperson : Professor Dr. Hans Amin Van Rostenberghe		Charperson of Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia), JEPeM USM	м	(Chairperson)
Secretary: Mr. Mohd Bazlan Hafidz Mukrim		Research Officer	М	1
1.	Dato' Hj Ellias Zakaria	Lecturer, School of Humanity	М	1
2.	Professor Wan Abdul Manan Wan Muda	Lecturer, School of Health Sciences	М	~
3.	Professor Dr. Nik Hazlina Nik Hussain	Lecturer, School of Medical Sciences	F	1
4.	Associate Professor Dr. Suzina Sheikh Abd Hamid	Lecturer, School of Medical Sciences	F	~
5.	Dr. Soon Lean Keng	Lecturer, School of Health Sciences	F	1
6.	Dr. Teguh Haryo Sasongko	Lecturer, Human Genome Centre, USM	М	1
7.	Dr. Haslina Taib	Lecturer, School of Dental Sciences	F	1
8.	Tn. Hj. Ismail Hassan	Community Representative	м	1

The Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia), JEPeM of Universiti Sains Malaysia is in compliance with International Conference on Harmonization-Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP) guidelines and Declaration of Helsinki.

2

PROFESSOR DR. HANS AMIN VAN ROSTENBERGHE Chairperson Jawatankuasa Etika Penyelidikan (Manusia), JFPeM Universiti Sains Malaysia



APPENDICES

APPENDIX B

RESEARCH APPROVAL FROM THE HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (HREC) UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY



Research Integrity Human Research Ethics Committee

Friday, 15 November 2013

Dr Kieron Rooney Exercise Health and Performance, Faculty of Health Sciences, Email: kieron.rooney@sydney.edu.au

Dear Dr Kieron Rooney

I am pleased to inform you that the University of Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) has approved your project entitled "Establishing an estimation of frequencies of genotypes related to sport performance in a non-elite reference population".

Details of the approval are as follows:

Project No.:	2013/894
Approval Date:	14 November 2013
First Annual Report Due:	14 November 2014
Authorised Personnel:	Rooney Kieron; Ahmad Yusof Hazwani; Gwinn Tom; Ruell Patricia; Che Muhammed Ahmad Munir; Zainuddin Zafarina;

Documents Approved:

Date Uploaded	Туре	Document Name
14/11/2013	Advertisements/Flyer	Amended advert
14/11/2013	Participant Info Statement	Amended PIS
06/09/2013	Participant Consent Form	Human ethics Consent form
06/09/2013	Other Type	Participant's information detail form

HREC approval is valid for four (4) years from the approval date stated in this letter and is granted pending the following conditions being met:

Condition/s of Approval

- Continuing compliance with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Research Involving Humans.
- Provision of an annual report on this research to the Human Research Ethics Committee from the approval date and at the completion of the study. Failure to submit reports will result in withdrawal of ethics approval for the project.
- All serious and unexpected adverse events should be reported to the HREC within 72 hours.
- All unforeseen events that might affect continued ethical acceptability of the project should be reported to the HREC as soon as possible.

T +61 2 8627 8111 F +61 2 8627 8177 E ro.humanethics@sydney.edu.au sydney.edu.au ABN 15 211 513 464 CRICOS 00026A



- Any changes to the project including changes to research personnel must be approved by the HREC before the research project can proceed.
- Note that for student research projects, a copy of this letter must be included in the candidate's thesis.

Chief Investigator / Supervisor's responsibilities:

- 1. You must retain copies of all signed Consent Forms (if applicable) and provide these to the HREC on request.
- 2. It is your responsibility to provide a copy of this letter to any internal/external granting agencies if requested.

Please do not hesitate to contact Research Integrity (Human Ethics) should you require further information or clarification.

Yours sincerely

Glen Davis E

Professor Glen Davis Chair Human Research Ethics Committee

This HREC is constituted and operates in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council's (NHMRC) National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007), NHMRC and Universities Australia Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research (2007) and the CPMP/ICH Note for Guidance on Good Clinical Practice. APPENDICES

APPENDIX C

PARTICIPANTS CONSENT AND INFORMATION DETAILS FORM

Subject Information and Consent Form (Signature Page)

Research Title:	Genetics Influence on Sport Performance: An analysis on
	Malaysian Varsity Athletes

Researcher's Name: Dr. Ahmad Munir Bin Che Muhamed

To become a part this study, you or your legal representative must sign this page. By signing this page, I am confirming the following:

- I have read all of the information in this Subject Information and Consent Form including any information regarding the risk in this study and I have had time to think about it.
- All of my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.
- I voluntarily agree to be part of this research study, to follow the study procedures, and to provide necessary information to the researcher, or other staff members, as requested.
- I may freely choose to stop being a part of this study at anytime.
- I have received a copy of this Subject Information and Consent Form to keep for myself.

Subject Name (Print or type)	Subject Initials and Number
Subject I.C No. (New)	Subject I.C No. (Old)
Signature of Subject or Legal Representative	Date (dd/MM/yy) (Add time if applicable)
Name of Individual Conducting Consent Discussion (Print or Type)	
Signature of Individual Conducting Consent Discussion	Date (dd/MM/yy)
Name & Signature of Witness	Date (dd/MM/yy)

<u>Note:</u> i) All subject who are involved in this study will not be covered by insurance.

ATTACHMENT G

Subject Information and Consent Form (Signature Page)

Research Title:	Genetics Influence on Sport Performance: An analysis on
	Malaysian Varsity Athletes

Researcher's Name: Dr. Ahmad Munir Bin Che Muhamed

To become a part this study, you or your legal representative must sign this page. By signing this page, I am confirming the following:

- I have read all of the information in this Subject Information and Consent Form including any information regarding the risk in this study and I have had time to think about it.
- All of my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.
- I voluntarily agree to be part of this research study, to follow the study procedures, and to provide necessary information to the researcher, or other staff members, as requested.
- I may freely choose to stop being a part of this study at anytime.
- I have received a copy of this Subject Information and Consent Form to keep for myself.

Subject Name (Print or type)	Subject Initials and Number
Subject I.C No. (New)	Subject I.C No. (Old)
Signature of Subject or Legal Representative	Date (dd/MM/yy) (Add time if applicable)
Name of Individual conducting Consent Discussion (Print or Type)	
Signature of Individual Conducting Consent Discussion	Date (dd/MM/yy)
Name & Signature of Witness	Date (dd/MM/yy)

<u>Note:</u> i) All subject who are involved in this study will not be covered by insurance.

ii) Excess samples from this research will not be used for other reasons and will be destroyed with the consent from the Research Ethics Committee (Human), USM.

ATTACHMENT P

Si	Subject's Material Publication Consent Form Signature Page		
Research Title:	Genetics Influence on Sport Performance: An analysis on		
	Malaysian Varsity Athletes		
Researcher's Name:	Dr. Ahmad Munir Bin Che Muhamed		

To become a part this study, you or your legal representative must sign this page. By signing this page, I am confirming the following:

- I understood that my name will not appear on the materials published and there have been efforts to make sure that the privacy of my name is kept confidential although the confidentiality is not completely guaranteed due to unexpected circumstances.
- I have read the materials or general description of what the material contains and reviewed all photographs and figures in which I am included that could be published.
- I have been offered the opportunity to read the manuscript and to see all materials in which I am included, but have waived my right to do so.
- All the published materials will be shared among the scientists and journalist worldwide.
- The materials will also be used in local publications, book publications and accessed by many local and international researchers worldwide.
- I hereby agree and allow the materials to be used in other publications required by other publishers with these conditions:
- The materials will not be used as advertisement purposes or as packaging materials.
- The materials will not be used out of contex i.e.: Sample pictures will not be used in an article which is unrelated subject to the picture.

Subject Name (Print or type)

Subject Initials or Number

Subject I.C No.

Subject's Signature

Date (dd/MM/yy)

Name and Signature of Individual Conducting Consent Discussion

Date (dd/MM/yy)

<u>Note:</u> i) All subject who are involved in this study will not be covered by insurance.



Discipline of Exercise and Sport Science Faculty of Health Sciences

ABN 15 211 513 464

Dr. Kieron Rooney Senior Lecturer

Room K120 C42 - K The University of Sydney NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA Telephone: +61 2 9351 9135 Facsimile: +61 2 9351 9204 Email: kieron.rooney@sydney.edu.au Web:

PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

TITLE: Genetic Influence on Athletes Performance: An analysis on Malaysian and Australian Athletes

In giving my consent I acknowledge that:

- 1. The procedures required for the project and the time involved have been explained to me, including any inconvenience, risk, discomfort or side effect and any questions I have about the project have been answered to my satisfaction.
- 2. I have read the Participant Information Statement and have been given the opportunity to discuss the information and my involvement in the project with the researcher/s.
- 3. I understand that being in this study is completely voluntary I am not under any obligation to consent.
- 4. I understand that my involvement is strictly confidential. I understand that any research data gathered from the results of the study may be published however no information about me will be used in any way that is identifiable.

- 5. I understand that I can withdraw from the study at any time, without affecting my relationship with the researcher(s) or the University of Sydney now or in the future.
- 6. I consent to:

•	Cheek Swabs for DNA sampling YES		NO		
---	----------------------------------	--	----	--	--

- Personal Detail Questionnaire YES
 NO
- My coach providing you a record of my playing history and performance

YES 🛛 NO 🗖

Signature

Please PRINT name

Date



Discipline of Exercise and Sport Science Faculty of Health Sciences

ABN 15 211 513 464

Dr. Kieron Rooney Senior Lecturer Room K120 C42 - K The University of Sydney NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA Telephone: +61 2 9351 9135 Facsimile: +61 2 9351 9204 Email: kieron.rooney@sydney.edu.au Web: http://www.sydney.edu.au/

PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

TITLE: Establishing an estimation of frequencies of genotypes related to sport performance in a non-elite reference population

In giving my consent I acknowledge that:

- 1. The procedures required for the project and the time involved have been explained to me, including any inconvenience, risk, discomfort or side effect and any questions I have about the project have been answered to my satisfaction.
- 2. I have read the Participant Information Statement and have been given the opportunity to discuss the information and my involvement in the project with the researcher/s.
- 3. I understand that being in this study is completely voluntary I am not under any obligation to consent.
- 4. I understand that my involvement is strictly confidential. I understand that any research data gathered from the results of the study may be published however no information about me will be used in any way that is identifiable.
- 5. I understand that I can withdraw from the study at any time, without affecting my relationship with the researcher(s) or the University of Sydney now or in the future.
- 6. I consent to:

 Cheek Swabs for DNA sampling 	YES	NO	
Personal Detail Questionnaire	YES	NO	
Signature			
Please PRINT name			

Date

ATTACHMENT E

_

Research Subject Information and Consent Form (Signature Page)						
The influence of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on blood pressure Research Title: response following isometric exercise training						
Researcher's Name:	Hazwani Binti	Ahmad Yusof @	P Hanafi			
I voluntarily consent to take part in this research study. I have fully discussed and understood the purpose, procedures and possible risks of this study. This study has been explained to me in a language that I understand. I have been given enough time to ask any questions that I have about the study, and all my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.						
Name of Subject (>12 years),	Signature	Da	ate			
Name of Parent or Legally Accepted Representative	Signature	 Da	ate			
<i>Translator Information</i> The study has been explained to the participant / legally acceptable representative in [specify the language used) language by [name of translator]. <i>Witness Statement</i> I, the undersigned, certify to the best of my knowledge that the participant signing this informed consent form had the study fully explained in a language understood by him / her and clearly understands the nature, risks and benefits of his / her participation in the study.						
Name of Witness Signature	Date					
Investigator Statement I, the undersigned, certify that I explained the study to the participant and to the best of my knowledge the participant signing this informed consent form clearly understands the nature, risks and benefits of her participation in the study.						
Name of Investigator / Signatu Person administering consent	re Date		Time Start	Time End		

ATTACHMENTF

Research Subject's Material Publication Consent Form Signature Page

Research Title:	The influence of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on blood pressure response following isometric exercise training
Researcher's Name:	Hazwani Binti Ahmad Yusof @ Hanafi

To become a part this study, you or your legal representative must sign this page.

By signing this page, I am confirming the following:

- I understood that my name will not appear on the materials published and there have been efforts to make sure that the privacy of my name is kept confidential although the confidentiality is not completely guaranteed due to unexpected circumstances.
- I have read the materials or general description of what the material contains and reviewed all photographs and figures in which I am included that could be published.
- I have been offered the opportunity to read the manuscript and to see all materials in which I am included, but have waived my right to do so.
- All the published materials will be shared among the medical practitioners, scientists and journalist world wide.
- The materials will also be used in local publications, book publications and accessed by many local and international doctors world wide.
- I hereby agree and allow the materials to be used in other publications required by other publishers with these conditions:
- The materials will not be used as advertisement purposes nor as packaging materials.
- The materials will not be used out of contex i.e.: Sample pictures will not be used in an article which is unrelated subject to the picture.

Research Subject Name (Print or type)		Research Subject Initials or Number
Research Subject I.C No.	Research Subject's Signature	Date (dd/MM/yy)
Name and Signature of Inc	dividual	Date (dd/MM/yy)

Conducting Consent Discussion

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION DETAILS

BUTIRAN MAKLUMAT PESERTA

Life Style Science Cluster, Advanced Medical & Dental Institute, Universiti Sains Malaysia

THE EFFECTS OF ANGIOTENSIN I-CONVERTING ENZYME (ACE) I/D AND ALPHA-ACTININ-3 (ACTN3) R/X GENE POLYMORPHISMS ON HUMAN PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE AND HEALTH WITHIN THE MALAYSIAN POPULATION

KESAN POLIMORFISME GEN ANGIOTENSIN I-CONVERTING ENZYME *(ACE) I/D* DAN ALPHA-ACTININ-3 *(ACTN3) R/X* KE ATAS PRESTASI FIZIKAL DAN KESIHATAN MANUSIA DI KALANGAN POPULASI MALAYSIA

Α.	Personal Details Maklumat Peribadi			
1.	Participant's I.D NO: No. ID peserta			
2.	Name of Participant: Nama peserta			
3.	I.D. NO: No. kad pengenalan			
4.	Gender: Jantina	5.	Race: Bangsa	
6.	Current Address: Alamat terkini			
7.	Permanent Address: Alamat tetap			
8.	Email Address: Alamat email	9.	Phone No: No. Telefon	
10.	Career : Kerjaya	11.	Marital Status: Status perkahwinan	
12.	Education Level: Tahap pengajian			

B. Medical and Health Information

Maklumat Perubatan dan Kesihatan

1.	Have you ever had any of the following disease:			No
	Ada	Adakah anda pernah menghidapi mana-mana penyakit seperti		Tidak
	ber	ikut:		
	Ι.	Heart Disease/ Penyakit Jantung		
	II.	Hypertension/ Tekanan Darah Tinggi		
	III.	Heart Attack/ Serangan Jantung		
	IV.	Stroke/ Angin Ahmar		
	٧.	Asthma/ Asma		
	VI.	Diabetes/ Kencing Manis		
	VII.	Kidney Diseases/ Penyakit Ginjal		
	VIII.	Liver Diseases/ Penyakit Hati		
	IX.	Anemia/ Anemia		
	Χ.	Spinal injury/ Kecederaan Tulang Belakang		
2.	Do you engage in a diet program?			
	Adakah anda mengikuti program diet?			
3.	Do you smoke?			
	Adakah anda merokok?			

*Thick (/) as appropriate

Sila tanda (/) mana-mana yang berkenaan

- 4. What types of exercise do you do (in the past 3 months)?_____ Apakah jenis senaman yang anda lakukan (dalam 3 bulan yang lalu)?
- 5. How frequent do you exercise do (in the past 3 months)?_____ Berapa kerap kamu bersenam (dalam 3 bulan yang lalu)?
- 6. Duration of exercise for each session (in minutes) do (in the past 3 months):_____ Tempoh masa senaman bagi setiap sesi (dalam minit) (dalam 3 bulan yang lalu)
- - 7.1 Sports involvement:___

Bidang sukan yang diceburi

7.2 Current Level of competition:

Tahap pertandingan sekarang

7.3 Years playing at current level:_____

Tahun bermain pada tahap sekarang

C. Analisis Filogeni dan Filogeografi di Semenanjung Malaysia.

A. Data Dem	nografik		
Nama:			1. Ketiga-tig
No. KP:			
Umur:		Agama:	2. Liada per campurar suku/bang
Jantina: 🗆 Lel	aki	Perempuan	ketiga-tiga 3 Mengetah
No. Tel: Alamat:			dengan je tiga gener
			4. Bertutur n suku anda
			harian
Etnik:			C. Sejar
🗆 Melayu	🗆 Cina	🗆 Indi	a 1. Malaria
			2.TB

B. Kriteria Inklusi

	Ya	Tidak	Susur-gal
-tiga generasi			Susui gai
unyai darah keturunan			
ang sama			
perkahwinan			
ıran dengan			2
angsa lain untuk			CANCINE NEW
tiga generasi			
tahui sejarah keluarga			
n jelas untuk ketiga-			
enerasi			
ur menggunakan dialek			
nda untuk urusan			Í F
			1
ejarah penyakit jangkita	an		
			1 1

	Ya	Tidak
1. Malaria		
2.TB		
3. Denggi		
4. Lain-lain. Nyatakan:		



□ Orang asli; Suku kaum. Nyatakan:_____

India	1. Malaria
	2. TB
	3. Denggi
	4. Lain-lain. Nyatakan:

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION DETAILS

Discipline of Exercise and Sport Science, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Sydney, 75 East Street, Lidcombe, NSW 2141, Australia.

Establishing an estimation of frequencies of genotypes related to sport performance in a non-elite reference population

1.	Participant I.D NO	
	(Filled in by researcher)	
2.	Name	
3.	Gender	
4.	Date of Birth	
5.	Ethnicity (Country of Birth)	
	Participant	
	Participant's Mother	
	Participant's Maternal grandmother	
	Participant's Maternal grandfather	
	Participant's Father	
	Participant's Paternal grandmother	
	Participant's Paternal grandfather	
6.	Current Address	
7.	Email Address	
8.	Contact No	

Have you ever had any kind of disease? e.g: Hypertension. If yes, please write down the name of the disease below.

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION DETAILS

Discipline of Exercise and Sport Science, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Sydney, 75 East Street, Lidcombe, NSW 2141, Australia.

Genetic Influence on Athletes Performance: An analysis on Malaysian and Australian Athletes

B. Personal Details

	Participant I.D NO	
	(Filled in by researcher)	
1.	Name	
2.	Gender	
3.	Date of Birth	
4.	Ethnicity (Country of Birth)	
5.	Participant	
6.	Participant's Mother	
7.	Participant's Maternal grandmother	
8.	Participant's Maternal grandfather	
9.	Participant's Father	
10.	Participant's Paternal grandmother	
11.	Participant's Paternal grandfather	
12.	Current Address	
13.	Email Address	
14.	Contact No	
15.	Sport	
16.	Current Level of competition	
17.	Years playing at current level	

Comments (please list here information specific to your event example – if you are in a team sport list your most common positions played, if you are in an individual sport what is the distance you run / swim / cycle etc.):

C. Injury History

1.	Are you currently i	njured?		YES		
	If yes, Are you able	e to compete or are on trainin	ng dutio	es only	?	
2.	In the past 12 mon If yes, what was th limited to training o	ths have you been injured? e injury and were you able to duties only?	YES o comp	ete or v	NO vere	
3.	Over the past 3 yea missing competitio	ars how often have you been on?	injure	d to the	e point	of
	• Not at all	Sometimes		Freque	ently	
4.	Over the past 3 yea able to compete?	ars how often have you been	injure	d but w	ere sti	II
	•			•		

Not at all

Sometimes

Frequently
SUBJECT'S INFORMATION DETAILS

Lifestyle Science Cluster, Advanced Medical & Dental Institute, USM

The influence of ACE I/D gene polymorphism on blood pressure response following isometric exercise training

Subject's I.D NO 1. (Filled in by researcher) 2. Gender 3. Age Ethnicity 4. 5. Subject Subject's Mother 6. Subject's Maternal 7. grandmother Subject's Maternal 8. grandfather 9. Subject's Father Subject's Paternal 10. grandmother 11. Subject's Paternal grandfather 12. Current Address 13. Email Address Contact No 14. 15. Career **B. Medical and Health Information**

D. Personal Details

1.	Ha	ve you ever had any of the following disease:	Yes	No
	Ι.	Heart Disease		
	II.	Hypertension		
	III.	Heart Attack		
	IV.	Stroke		
	٧.	Asthma		
	VI.	Diabetes		
	VII.	Kidney Diseases		
	VIII.	Liver Diseases		
	IX.	Anemia		
	Χ.	Spinal injury		
2.	Do	you smoke?		

*Thick (/) as appropriate

- 4. What types of exercise do you do (in the past 3 months)?_____
- 5. How frequent do you exercise?_
- 6. Duration of exercise for each session (in minutes):_____

APPENDICES

APPENDIX D

HARDY-WEINBERG EQUILIBRIUM TEST

				Malaysian gen	eral popula	ntion (n=180)			
				Observed		HW - Expected	l		
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	56	112	0	56	31.11	60.67	33.70	0.359	
ID	97	97	97	97	53.89	87.66	48.70	0.994	
DD	27	0	54	27	15.00	31.67	17.59	0.688	
Total	180	209	151	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	2.042	0.150
	360	0.58	0.42	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

Australian general population (n=180)

				Observed		HW - Expected			
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	45	90	0	45	25.00	42.05	23.36	0.207	
ID	84	84	84	84	46.67	89.90	49.94	0.387	
DD	51	0	102	51	28.33	48.05	26.69	0.181	
Total	180	174	186	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	0.775	0.380
	360	0.48	0.52	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

Molow gonorol	nonulation	(n - 00)
Malay general	population	(II-77)

Observed HW - Expected ACE I/D n allele I allele D Frequency % Frequency % cell Chi-sq II 40 80 0 40 40.40 42.68 43.11 0.168 ID 50 50 50 50 50.51 44.65 45.10 0.642	
ACE I/D n allele I allele D Frequency % Frequency % cell Chi-sq II 40 80 0 40 40.40 42.68 43.11 0.168 ID 50 50 50 50 50.51 44.65 45.10 0.642	
II 40 80 0 40 40.40 42.68 43.11 0.168 ID 50 50 50 50 50.51 44.65 45.10 0.642	. p-value
ID = 50 = 50 = 50 = 50 = 50 = 50 = 51 = 44.65 = 45.10 = 0.642	
DD 9 0 18 9 9.09 11.68 11.79 0.614	
Total 99 130 68 99 100.00 99.00 100.00 1.423	0.230
198 0.66 0.34 198 (p-value) Chisq	w 1 df

				Chinese gene	eral populat	tion (n=45)			
				Observed		HW - Expected			
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	13	26	0	13	28.89	12.80	28.44	0.003	
ID	22	22	22	22	48.89	22.40	49.78	0.007	
DD	10	0	20	10	22.22	9.80	21.78	0.004	
Total	45	48	42	45	100.00	45.00	100.00	0.014	0.900
	90	0.53	0.47	90				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	
				Indian gene	ral populati	ion (n=13)			
				Observed		HW - Expected			
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	1	2	0	1	7.69	2.77	21.30	1.130	
ID	10	10	10	10	76.92	6.46	49.70	1.938	
DD	2	0	4	2	15.38	3.77	28.99	0.830	
Total	13	12	14	13	100.00	13.00	100.00	3.899	0.050
	26	0.46	0.54	26				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

			Ot	her Bumiputra	i general po	pulation (n=23			
				Observed		HW - Expected	l		
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	2	4	0	2	8.70	3.92	17.06	0.943	
ID	15	15	15	15	65.22	11.15	48.49	1.328	
DD	6	0	12	6	26.09	7.92	34.45	0.467	
Total	23	19	27	23	100.00	23.00	100.00	2.738	0.100
	46	0.41	0.59	46				(p-value) Chisq w 1 d	f

			Ν	Malaysian gene	ral popula	tion (n=180)			
				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	40	80	0	40	22.22	46.01	25.56	0.784	
RX	102	102	102	102	56.67	89.99	49.99	1.603	
XX	38	0	76	38	21.11	44.01	24.45	0.820	
Total	180	182	178	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	3.207	0.070
	360	0.51	0.49	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 dt	f

Australian general population (n=180)

				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	44	88	0	44	24.44	50.14	27.85	0.752	
RX	102	102	102	102	56.67	89.72	49.85	1.680	
XX	34	0	68	34	18.89	40.14	22.30	0.939	
Total	180	190	170	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	3.371	0.070
	360	0.53	0.47	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

				Malay generation	al populati	on (n=99)			
				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	23	46	0	23	23.23	25.76	26.02	0.296	
RX	55	55	55	55	55.56	49.48	49.98	0.616	
XX	21	0	42	21	21.21	23.76	24.00	0.321	
Total	99	101	97	99	100.00	99.00	100.00	1.232	0.270
	198	0.51	0.49	198				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

				Chinese gener	al populat	ion (n=45)			
				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	13	26	0	13	28.89	12.80	28.44	0.003	
RX	22	22	22	22	48.89	22.40	49.78	0.007	
XX	10	0	20	10	22.22	9.80	21.78	0.004	
Total	45	48	42	45	100.00	45.00	100.00	0.014	0.900
	90	0.53	0.47	90				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

Indian general population (n=13)

				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	0	0	0	0	0.00	1.56	11.98	1.558	
RX	9	9	9	9	69.23	5.88	45.27	1.649	
XX	4	0	8	4	30.77	5.56	42.75	0.437	
Total	13	9	17	13	100.00	13.00	100.00	3.644	0.060
	26	0.35	0.65	26				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

Other Bumiputra general population (n=23)

				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	4	8	0	4	17.39	6.26	27.22	0.816	
RX	16	16	16	16	69.57	11.48	49.91	1.781	
XX	3	0	6	3	13.04	5.26	22.87	0.972	
Total	23	24	22	23	100.00	23.00	100.00	3.569	0.060
	46	0.52	0.48	46				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

			Contro	or group in the	wialaysian	population (n=	:100)		
				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACE I/D	n	allele I	allele D	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
II	56	112	0	56	31.11	60.67	33.70	0.359	
ID	97	97	97	97	53.89	87.66	48.70	0.994	
DD	27	0	54	27	15.00	31.67	17.59	0.688	
Total	180	209	151	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	2.042	0.150
	360	0.58	0.42	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

Control group in the Malaysian population (n=180)

Control group in the Malaysian population (n=180)

			contro	n group in the	managonan	population (ii	100)		
				Observed		HW - Expected	1		
ACTN3 R/X	n	allele R	allele X	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	cell Chi-sq.	p-value
RR	40	80	0	40	22.22	46.01	25.56	0.784	
RX	102	102	102	102	56.67	89.99	49.99	1.603	
XX	38	0	76	38	21.11	44.01	24.45	0.820	
Total	180	182	178	180	100.00	180.00	100.00	3.207	0.070
	360	0.51	0.49	360				(p-value) Chisq w 1 df	

APPENDICES

APPENDIX E

DETAIL INFORMATION OF ATHLETES

End	urance ath	letes (n=34)								
No	Gender	Sports	Age	Height (cm)	Body Weight (kg)	Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	Body Fat (%)	Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance (m)	Handgrip Strength (kg)	Leg Strength (kg)
1	Female	Long distance cycling	17	151.0	45.0	19.7	20.1	320.00	27.8	77.3
2	Female	Long distance cycling	18	154.6	45.8	19.2	16.1	480.00	28.6	77.5
3	Female	Long distance cycling	18	166.5	58.0	20.9	18.2	480.00	28.9	82.5
4	Female	Long distance cycling	18	154.0	47.7	20.1	15.7	560.00	26.4	98.5
5	Male	Long distance cycling	19	172.0	58.5	19.8	17.6	640.00	36.0	109.5
6	Male	Long distance cycling	17	172.0	59.1	20.0	14.5	480.00	34.7	114.3
7	Male	Long distance cycling	21	168.0	65.4	23.2	10.8	880.00	45.3	125.5
8	Male	Long distance cycling	18	171.5	65.7	22.3	16.6	400.00	44.6	137.0
9	Male	Long distance cycling	19	172.0	69.3	23.4	18.0	640.00	47.1	138.7
10	Male	Long distance cycling	20	161.0	60.4	23.3	8.0	880.00	45.8	158.0
11	Male	Long distance swimmer > 400 m	23	166.0	58.9	21.4	13.1	240.00	43.4	98.3
12	Male	Long distance swimmer > 400 m	21	168.6	74.7	26.3	22.6	240.00	36.8	116.0
13	Male	Long distance swimmer > 400 m	23	182.0	80.3	24.2	20.9	240.00	47.1	117.3
14	Male	Long distance swimmer > 400 m	23	168.7	55.8	19.6	11.8	400.00	34.2	122.7
15	Male	Long distance swimmer > 400 m	23	171.5	75.1	25.5	17.3	240.00	48.0	151.0
16	Female	Long distance track and field	20	151.5	44.4	19.3	21.8	200.00	22.1	41.2
17	Female	Long distance track and field	19	149.0	38.7	17.4	25.5	120.00	24.8	48.7
18	Female	Long distance track and field	20	154.0	49.2	20.7	24.0	200.00	21.9	51.3
19	Female	Long distance track and field	20	163.0	77.8	29.3	33.9	200.00	33.0	68.5
20	Male	Long distance track and field	19	165.0	62.7	23.0	20.5	440.00	40.8	87.8

21	Male	Long distance track and field	22	169.0	55.8	19.5	11.0	400.00	36.6	92.5
22	Male	Long distance track and field	23	182.1	72.5	21.9	16.5	400.00	46.5	93.5
23	Female	Long distance track and field	22	167.0	62.0	22.2	28.1	200.00	30.9	96.5
24	Male	Long distance track and field	20	168.0	58.3	20.7	24.0	440.00	40.2	98.6
25	Male	Long distance track and field	21	178.0	54.0	17.0	13.8	440.00	42.3	99.0
26	Male	Long distance track and field	20	173.0	61.1	20.4	24.3	440.00	37.7	100.8
27	Male	Long distance track and field	22	180.0	69.9	21.6	19.5	640.00	42.5	105.3
28	Male	Long distance track and field	24	176.5	70.8	22.7	16.4	440.00	48.1	111.8
29	Male	Long distance track and field	20	167.8	56.5	20.0	15.4	880.00	27.8	117.2
30	Male	Long distance track and field	17	173.7	61.1	20.3	12.8	480.00	37.8	122.8
31	Male	Long distance track and field	19	185.0	67.6	19.8	15.7	200.00	25.6	125.3
32	Male	Long distance track and field	19	176.5	96.9	31.1	27.4	480.00	40.2	129.5
33	Male	Long distance track and field	21	165.0	51.6	19.0	10.3	640.00	39.5	131.0
34	Male	Long distance track and field	18	186.7	133.0	38.1	30.9	240.00	70.2	143.3
		Mean \pm SD	19.8 ± 1.9	168.5 ± 9.8	63.6 ± 17.0	22.1 ± 4.1	18.6 ± 6.1	429.4 ± 203.8	37.7 ± 9.8	105.6 ± 28.2

Strei	ngth/power a	athletes (n=41)								
No	Gender	Sports	Age	Height (cm)	Body Weight (kg)	Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	Body Fat (%)	Yo-Yo intermittent recovery level 2 performance (m)	Handgrip Strength (kg)	Leg Strength (kg)
1	Male	Boxing	20	171.0	57.7	197	10.7	440.00	39.1	140.3
2	Male	Boxing	18	165 5	63.6	23.2	13.3	640.00	43.5	150.3
3	Male	Boxing	23	178.4	77 7	24.5	22.8	440.00	44 9	203.8
4	Female	Karate	19	166.0	56.5	20.5	21.9	160.00	30.1	109.8
5	Female	Taekwando	20	150.0	42.5	18.9	20.5	120.00	21.3	33.3
6	Female	Taekwando	20	160.0	57.6	22.5	27.1	160.00	29.1	44.5
7	Female	Taekwando	21	141.5	43.7	21.8	30.3	200.00	23.7	52.5
8	Female	Taekwando	21	165.5	51.2	18.7	24.3	120.00	20.0	54.7
9	Female	Taekwando	20	153.0	61.8	26.4	32.3	160.00	24.4	56.3
10	Female	Taekwando	21	156.5	56.8	23.2	28.0	160.00	25.4	61.7
11	Male	Taekwando	20	161.0	83.9	32.4	38.3	80.00	27.4	77.2
12	Female	Taekwando	19	136.0	68.9	28.3	33.5	200.00	25.5	79.3
13	Female	Taekwando	20	154.5	55.9	23.4	24.2	80.00	21.0	81.5
14	Female	Taekwando	23	156.0	53.1	21.8	22.7	320.00	22.7	83.3
15	Female	Taekwando	20	159.0	52.0	20.6	25.8	120.00	30.5	86.7
16	Male	Taekwando	21	165.5	64.7	23.6	17.8	120.00	31.8	87.3
17	Female	Taekwando	20	166.3	63.5	22.9	18.2	200.00	35.4	89.8
18	Male	Taekwando	20	171.6	58.1	19.8	11.1	320.00	38.6	91.5
19	Male	Taekwando	23	178.4	56.1	17.6	12.4	240.00	30.5	94.0
20	Male	Taekwando	23	169.5	71.5	24.9	18.7	120.00	40.5	96.8
21	Male	Taekwando	20	166.5	60.7	21.9	19.0	160.00	34.9	96.8
22	Male	Taekwando	20	173.5	73.3	24.3	15.9	280.00	47.2	104.2
23	Male	Taekwando	21	172.5	66.6	22.4	16.1	240.00	40.3	115.0
24	Male	Taekwando	20	170.0	62.1	21.5	12.1	360.00	36.6	124.0
25	Male	Taekwando	21	174.5	66.1	21.7	14.4	320.00	39.7	127.0
26	Male	Taekwando	18	168.5	75.2	26.5	19.4	280.00	48.0	131.7
27	Male	Taekwando	20	170.0	59.8	20.7	17.6	200.00	41.5	137.5
28	Male	Taekwando	20	168.5	64.4	22.7	15.8	320.00	35.4	143.5
29	Male	Taekwando	23	189.5	80.4	22.4	17.4	240.00	57.1	168.0
30	Female	Weight lifting	17	150.5	55.2	24.4	25.7	520.00	26.6	60.3

31	Female	Weight lifting	17	150.4	51.7	22.9	23.6	274.00	24.0	80.8
32	Female	Weight lifting	17	159.4	60.9	23.9	23.6	480.00	33.6	85.4
33	Female	Weight lifting	17	147.4	64.1	29.5	28.9	200.00	29.1	92.5
34	Male	Weight lifting	17	156.2	54.4	22.3	15.0	560.00	48.1	106.9
35	Male	Weight lifting	17	165.2	70.4	25.8	11.6	760.00	47.7	140.5
36	Male	Weight lifting	17	169.2	57.0	19.9	7.8	320.00	39.4	143.5
37	Male	Weight lifting	17	168.4	64.1	22.6	11.2	800.00	40.5	152.8
38	Male	Weight lifting	21	170.0	70.6	24.4	23.0	560.00	44.4	166.0
39	Male	Weight lifting	17	168.2	68.6	24.2	10.3	640.00	51.4	168.3
40	Male	Weight lifting	17	165.5	77.1	28.1	14.9	640.00	50.5	172.5
41	Male	Weight lifting	18	160.8	64.9	25.1	7.8	600.00	56.9	174.5
		Mean \pm SD	19.7 ± 1.8	163.7 ± 10.4	62.5 ± 9.2	23.2 ± 3.0	19.6 ±	320.8 ± 197.5	36.1 ± 10.2	108.9 ± 41.2
							7.3			

No	Conder	Snorts	λαο	Height (cm)	Rody Woight (kg)	Rody Mass	Rody Fat	Vo-Vo	Handarin	Ιοσ
INO	Genuer	Sports	Age	neight (chi)	body weight (kg)	Index (kg/m2)	(%)	intermittent recovery level 2 performance (m)	Strength (kg)	Leg Strength (kg)
1	Male	Badminton	24	167.5	55.8	19.9	23.8	120.00	32.1	77.7
2	Male	Badminton	23	166.0	61.3	22.2	18.2	280.00	48.6	82.5
3	Male	Badminton	24	157.2	55.6	22.5	11.0	200.00	41.3	83.0
4	Male	Badminton	23	176.0	67.8	21.9	17.6	280.00	35.5	97.0
5	Male	Badminton	20	182.5	72.3	21.7	13.6	280.00	50.5	118.3
6	Male	Badminton	20	167.5	65.5	23.3	14.3	280.00	48.3	136.7
7	Male	Basketball	22	169.5	63.9	22.2	14.1	480.00	39.4	63.2
8	Male	Basketball	22	169.0	74.4	26.0	17.1	320.00	23.9	65.2
9	Male	Basketball	22	165.2	67.5	24.8	19.9	320.00	32.4	80.3
10	Male	Basketball	23	176.6	63.5	20.4	18.4	160.00	47.2	123.5
11	Male	Basketball	23	179.1	69.6	21.7	22.5	120.00	33.7	129.2
12	Male	Cricket	21	170.5	82.1	28.2	23.7	160.00	47.9	107.0
13	Male	Cricket	21	162.6	56.5	21.4	16.8	440.00	44.7	116.7
14	Male	Cricket	20	152.2	59.9	25.9	19.7	640.00	41.3	122.7
15	Male	Cricket	19	178.1	72.0	22.7	16.3	440.00	47.5	130.5
16	Male	Cricket	21	167.5	80.3	28.6	23.3	240.00	52.2	135.0
17	Male	Cricket	22	177.6	71.4	22.7	18.0	160.00	46.4	138.8
18	Male	Cricket	20	165.5	66.5	24.3	14.1	440.00	55.7	151.0
19	Male	Cricket	19	172.1	71.9	24.3	17.0	440.00	53.4	154.5
20	Male	Football	19	166.0	68.3	24.8	13.6	482.00	23.6	43.5
21	Male	Football	20	149.0	44.3	20.0	11.8	480.00	26.1	68.5

22	Male	Football	21	165.0	55.4	20.3	15.8	600.00	32.6	80.7
23	Male	Football	25	169.3	56.3	19.7	16.7	240.00	31.2	84.0
24	Male	Football	19	167.0	59.4	21.3	8.9	640.00	36.5	85.4
25	Male	Football	19	168.0	64.8	23.0	13.1	400.00	39.8	86.2
26	Male	Football	20	180.0	69.8	21.5	17.9	440.00	37.0	88.3
27	Male	Football	19	171.5	64.5	21.9	13.7	560.00	31.9	91.8
28	Male	Football	21	171.5	69.8	23.7	19.6	440.00	39.2	92.3
29	Male	Football	20	183.5	70.9	21.1	9.8	480.00	46.6	94.0
30	Male	Football	22	172.5	98.1	33.0	30.4	240.00	40.8	96.0
31	Male	Football	21	179.0	70.4	22.0	15.7	240.00	30.3	104.7
32	Male	Football	20	167.5	70.7	25.2	19.7	280.00	39.2	111.8
33	Male	Football	24	170.0	57.3	19.8	13.1	440.00	37.0	115.3
34	Male	Football	24	177.5	70.3	22.3	14.0	640.00	36.3	115.7
35	Male	Football	21	172.0	70.6	23.9	16.4	240.00	41.3	117.0
36	Male	Football	20	172.5	60.3	20.3	9.4	200.00	41.7	120.3
37	Male	Football	21	169.5	64.4	22.4	14.8	280.00	38.7	121.8
38	Male	Football	25	164.0	66.5	24.7	17.7	440.00	43.8	122.5
39	Male	Football	21	170.5	71.2	24.5	18.9	440.00	47.1	124.5
40	Male	Football	21	182.0	71.4	21.6	14.4	320.00	38.5	125.3
41	Male	Football	19	168.0	72.2	25.6	18.6	440.00	46.7	127.8
42	Male	Football	22	172.5	71.4	24.0	18.9	640.00	36.7	130.2
43	Male	Football	20	172.5	63.7	21.4	16.7	440.00	46.0	130.8
44	Male	Football	22	170.0	67.9	23.5	21.7	280.00	36.1	135.7
45	Male	Football	24	161.0	56.0	22.7	15.9	640.00	47.7	145.7
46	Male	Football	19	168.5	65.4	23.0	13.5	640.00	46.5	153.0

47	Male	Football	19	174.0	80.1	26.5	22.2	640.00	50.1	160.0
48	Male	Football	21	172.5	72.9	24.5	19.4	400.00	41.8	163.7
49	Male	Futsal	22	177.0	66.5	21.2	13.2	400.00	30.1	58.0
50	Male	Futsal	23	159.5	85.7	33.7	27.9	160.00	22.9	67.5
51	Male	Futsal	20	164.5	51.4	19.0	5.8	400.00	26.1	78.5
52	Male	Futsal	20	177.5	70.6	22.4	16.2	301.00	31.2	84.8
53	Male	Futsal	21	160.5	76.7	29.8	26.8	280.00	22.4	89.0
54	Male	Futsal	23	174.0	62.4	20.6	16.7	240.00	34.1	90.8
55	Male	Futsal	20	172.5	68.1	22.9	14.6	360.00	36.4	99.7
56	Male	Futsal	21	172.5	61.1	20.5	11.9	400.00	26.0	100.7
57	Male	Futsal	24	179.5	64.3	20.0	17.0	560.00	25.8	104.5
58	Male	Futsal	23	167.5	65.0	23.2	18.2	560.00	33.5	105.7
59	Male	Futsal	23	170.0	63.4	21.9	12.9	520.00	37.3	106.2
60	Male	Futsal	20	176.5	68.5	22.0	13.3	440.00	46.4	130.8
61	Male	Futsal	23	175.0	77.2	25.2	23.0	320.00	42.6	133.5
62	Male	Futsal	26	185.5	87.9	25.5	22.6	120.00	45.6	151.5
63	Male	Hockey	21	174.0	64.9	21.4	15.2	360.00	36.5	46.5
64	Female	Hockey	19	161.0	63.9	24.7	29.2	80.00	31.5	71.7
65	Female	Hockey	19	156.5	55.9	22.8	29.4	80.00	48.1	72.0
66	Female	Hockey	19	162.0	108.6	41.4	42.1	80.00	36.7	81.2
67	Male	Hockey	18	168.5	62.4	22.0	17.9	320.00	28.6	91.0
68	Male	Hockey	22	163.0	52.6	19.8	9.9	400.00	44.5	107.5
69	Male	Hockey	20	180.0	78.7	24.3	20.4	320.00	53.7	110.3
70	Male	Hockey	20	184.0	72.5	21.4	19.3	240.00	32.9	113.0
71	Male	Hockey	20	174.0	49.1	16.2	11.5	320.00	52.7	157.2

72	Male	Rugby	22	164.5	85.7	31.7	25.6	200.00	43.7	94.7
73	Male	Rugby	20	145.5	62.9	29.7	17.5	280.00	42.4	104.8
74	Male	Rugby	21	169.5	60.5	21.1	13.2	400.00	42.7	114.7
75	Male	Rugby	21	178.5	78.3	24.6	17.4	240.00	58.5	121.5
76	Male	Rugby	25	171.0	91.0	31.1	30.0	200.00	47.5	137.7
77	Male	Rugby	21	177.0	102.8	32.8	33.2	120.00	46.4	142.7
78	Male	Rugby	20	165.0	66.5	24.4	13.8	640.00	48.6	143.3
79	Male	Rugby	22	169.5	103.6	36.1	28.6	200.00	46.1	143.7
80	Male	Rugby	20	173.0	75.9	25.4	18.5	240.00	59.6	146.8
81	Male	Rugby	22	172.5	124.8	41.9	36.2	120.00	47.8	171.5
82	Male	Rugby	22	166.0	83.7	30.4	26.4	240.00	47.0	222.2
83	Female	Sepak takraw	21	160.5	57.8	22.4	24.0	200.00	26.7	36.8
84	Female	Sepak takraw	19	154.0	46.9	19.8	20.9	200.00	25.4	45.7
85	Male	Sepak takraw	18	160.0	53.4	20.9	6.5	440.00	36.8	74.5
86	Male	Sepak takraw	18	178.0	95.7	30.2	22.6	280.00	54.2	79.8
87	Male	Sepak takraw	18	170.5	64.3	22.1	15.1	440.00	35.6	82.7
88	Male	Sepak takraw	19	166.0	57.7	20.9	14.3	240.00	24.9	92.7
89	Male	Sepak takraw	18	172.0	67.7	22.9	22.8	360.00	35.2	98.0
90	Male	Sepak takraw	22	170.0	67.5	23.4	12.4	640.00	52.6	102.7
91	Male	Sepak takraw	21	174.0	76.1	25.1	20.6	240.00	37.5	112.7
92	Male	Sepak takraw	20	170.0	57.5	19.9	11.6	480.00	44.9	113.0
93	Male	Sepak takraw	18	168.0	70.5	25.0	22.1	280.00	41.7	113.2
94	Male	Sepak takraw	23	170.5	55.1	19.0	18.5	240.00	35.0	117.5
95	Male	Sepak takraw	19	175.5	78.6	25.5	17.7	240.00	39.1	119.5
96	Female	Squash	22	161.5	47.5	18.2	25.3	482.00	22.7	64.5

97	Male	Volleyball	20	174.0	67.9	22.4	13.4	320.00	49.2	126.0
98	Male	Volleyball	22	180.0	83.6	25.8	23.1	240.00	49.2	126.7
99	Male	Volleyball	20	185.5	81.5	23.7	16.7	200.00	44.4	137.0
100	Male	Volleyball	21	189.0	93.0	26.0	18.8	320.00	44.1	145.3
101	Male	Volleyball	20	170.0	73.6	25.5	19.5	320.00	41.0	153.0
102	Male	Volleyball	22	180.0	95.7	29.5	23.8	200.00	54.9	162.7
103	Male	Volleyball	23	181.5	73.7	22.4	17.0	320.00	58.0	176.7
104	Male	Volleyball	25	178.0	78.3	24.7	18.3	240.00	57.2	177.7
105	Male	Volleyball	19	184.5	71.6	21.0	10.6	280.00	59.6	193.0
		Mean \pm SD	21.0 ± 1.8	170.8 ± 7.9	70.0 ± 13.4	24.0 ± 4.3	18.7 ± 6.4	340.8 ± 148.7	40.8 ± 9.2	112.3 ± 33.5

LIST OF THESIS RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS AND CONFERENCE

PRESENTATIONS

ARTICLE

Ahmad Yusof H, Singh R, Zainuddin Z, Rooney K. & Che Muhammed A. (2015) The angiotensin I-converting enzyme I/D gene polymorphism in well-trained Malaysian athletes. *Sport Sciences for Health*. 11, 187-193.

Dr. Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed, **Hazwani Yusof**, Prof. Rabindarjeet Singh dan Prof. Madya Dr. Zafarina Zainuddin. (2014) Pengaruh Genetik ke atas Prestasi Sukan. *Arena IPT (Edisi Jan-Mac 2014)*. 34-35.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATION (ORAL)

Hazwani Ahmad Yusof, Rabindarjeet Singh, Zafarina Zainuddin, Kieron ROONEY and Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed. (2014) Association of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) with physical performance among Malaysian Varsity Athletes. *International Conference of Physical Education and Sports*. Sultan Azlan Shah Campus, Sultan Idris Education University, Perak, Malaysia. October 28-29.

Hazwani Ahmad Yusof, Rabindarjeet Singh, Zafarina Zainuddin, Kieron Rooney and Ahmad Munir Che Muhamed. (2014) The presence of R allele of the Alpha-Actinin-3 (ACTN3) R/X polymorphism among strength and power athletes in Malaysia. *Movement, Health & Exercise (MoHE) Conference*. Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia. September 2-3.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATION (POSTER)

Hazwani AY, Singh R, Zafarina Z, & Ahmad Munir CM. (2012) Association of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) and Alpha-Actinin-3 (ACTN3) Polymorphisms with physical performance among Malaysian Varsity Athletes. *10th Asia Pacific Conference on Human Genetics*. Crown Plaza Hotel Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. December 5-8.